A DISSERTATION

FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Nutritional and Immunological Studies

on Fermented Soybean Products

in Diets for Marine Fishes

Minh Anh Pham

Department of Marine Life Science GRADUATE SCHOOL CHEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY

2008.08

Nutritional and Immunological Studies on Fermented Soybean Products in Diets for Marine Fishes

Minh Anh Pham

(Supervised by Professor Kyeong-Jun Lee)

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

August 2008 This dissertation has been examined and approved by

Dissertation director, Kwang-Sik Choi, Professor of Marine Life Science

Moon Soo Heo, Professor of Marine Biotechnology

Young-Don Lee, Professor of Marine Life Science

Kyeong-Jun Lee, Assistant Professor of Marine Life Science

Joon Bum Jeong, Assistant Professor of Marine Life Science

2008.08.

Date

Department of Marine Life Science GRADUATE SCHOOL CHEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY

CONTENTS

요 약 문	VI
SUMMARY	IX
LIST OF FIGURES	XII
LIST OF TABLES	XV
REFERENCE REVIEW	1

CHAPTER I: Dietary Cheongkukjang increased liver superoxide dismutase
activity in parrot fish, <i>Oplegnathus fasciatus</i> 6
ABSTRACT
1.1. INTRODUCTION
1.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS
1.2.1. Experimental diets
1.2.2. Fish and feeding trial14
1.2.3. Growth performance and feed utilization14
1.2.4. Morphological parameters14
1.2.5. Hematological parameters15
1.2.6. Ferric reducing activity of plasma15
1.2.7. Serum lysozyme activity16
1.2.8. Antioxidant activity16
1.2.9. Measurement of total polyphenol compounds17
1.2.10. Measurement of flavonoids17
1.2.11. Measurment of reducing activity18
1.2.12. Ferrous chelating assay18

1.2.13. Superoxide anion radical scavenging assay	19
1.2.14. Measurement of liver thiobarbituric acid reactive substa	ances19
1.2.15. Measurement of liver superoxide dismutase activity	19
1.2.16. Measurement of phosphorus	20
1.2.17. Measurement of vitamin C	20
1.2.18. Statistical analysis	21
1.3. RESULTS	22
1.4. DISCUSSION	43
1.5. CONCLUSION	47

CHAPTER II: Effects of dietary Meju on growth performance,	phosphorus
retention and immune response in olive flounder,	Paralichthys
olivaceus	48
ABSTRACT	49
2.1. INTRODUCTION	50
2.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	54
2.1.1. Experimental diets	54
2.2.2. Fish, facility and feeding trial	54
2.2.3. Growth performance and feed utilization	59
2.2.4. Hematological parameters	59
2.2.5. Respiratory burst assay	59
2.2.6. Phosphorus measurements	60
2.2.7. Liver superoxide dismutase assay	60
2.2.8. Measurement of total polyphenol compounds	60

2.2.9. Measurement of total flavonoids	61
2.2.10. DPPH radical scavenging activity	61
2.2.11. Superoxide anion radial scavenging activity	62
2.2.12. Statistical analysis	62
2.3. RESULTS	63
2.4. DISCUSSION	75
2.5. CONCLUSION	78

CHAPTER III: Effects of dietary fermented soybean meal on growth
performance and non-specific immune response of parrot fish,
Oplegnathus fasciatus
ABSTRACT
3.1. INTRODUCTION
3.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS
3.2.1. Fermentation of soybean meal
3.2.2. Experimental diets
3.2.3. Fish and feeding trial90
3.2.4. Growth performance and feed utilization90
3.2.5. Morphological parameters90
3.2.6. Hematological parameters
3.2.7. Respiratory burst assay
3.2.8. Lysozyme activity
3.2.9. Liver superoxide dismutase assay
3.2.10. Liver catalase assay

3.2.11. Measurement of total polyphenol compounds
3.2.12. Measurement of total flavonoids93
3.2.13. DPPH radical scavenging activity93
3.2.14. Dietary pH94
3.2.15. Protein solubility94
3.2.16. Dietary amino acids analysis94
3.2.17. Phosphorus measurements
3.2.18. Statistical analysis9
3.3. RESULTS
3.4. DISCUSSION
3.5. CONCLUSION

CHAPTER IV: Effects of dietary fermented cottonseed and soybean meal on
growth performance, innate immune response and hematological
values of parrot fish, <i>Oplegnathus fasciatus</i> 114
ABSTRACT115
4.1. INTRODUCTION 117
4.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS120
4.2.1. Fermentation of cottonseed and soybean meal
4.2.2. Experimental diets120
4.2.3. Fish and feeding trial127
4.2.4. Muscle proximate compositions127
4.2.5. Morphological parameters 127
4.2.6. Hematological parameters 128

4.2.7. Measurement of phosphorus128
4.2.8. Iron and heme iron analysis129
4.2.9. Methanol extracts yield129
4.2.10. Antioxidant capacity assay130
4.2.11. Total dietary polyphenol compounds130
4.2.12. Reducing activity130
4.2.13. Ferrous chelating activity
4.2.14. Measurement of liver TBARS131
4.2.15. Measurement of liver superoxide dismutase activity
4.2.16. Statistical analysis
4.3. RESULTS
4.4. DISCUSSION
4.5. CONCLUSION

REFERENCES	153
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	177
APPENDIX	179

요약문

최근 양식산업에 있어서 양식어류의 건강과 질병에 대한 면역력을 증진시키기 위한 많은 연구가 수행되고 있다. 따라서 이 연구는 발효시킨 콩, 대두박 그리고 면실박의 사료 내 첨가가 돌돔 (Oplegnathus fasciatus)과 넙치 (Paralichthys olivaceus)의 성장과 선척적 면역반응에 미치는 영향에 대해 알아보기 위해 수행되었다.

이 연구에서는 청국장 (Chapter I), 메주 (Chapter II), 발효 대두박 (Chapter III), 그리고 발효 대두박-면실박 혼합물 (Chapter IV)을 각각 이용하여 총 4 번의 사양실험이 수행되었다. 돌돔과 넙치 사료 내 각각 청국장과 메주를 첨가하여 어류의 성장과 인 이용률 그리고 면역에 미치는 영향을 알아보고자 수행한 연구결과 (Part ,)에서는 어류사료 내 25% 청국장 (돌돔)과 6% 메주 (넙치) 첨가가 간 내 SOD 활성(superoxide dismutase activity)과 인 이용률에서 대조구에 비해 유의적으로 높은 값을 나타내었으며, 성장과 생존율에 아무런 영향을 미치지 않는 것으로 조사되었다. 이러한 어체 내 항산화 활성과 인 이용률의 증가는 청국장과 메주에 존재하는 micro-flora 와 몇몇 효소들에 의한 것으로 사료된다.

사양실험 과 를 바탕으로 한 3 번째 사양실험(Chapter III)에서는 4 가지의 유용균주 Aspergillus oryzae (AO), Sacchromyces cerevisiae (SC), Pediococcus pentosaceus (PP) 및 Bacillus subtilis (BS)를 이용하여 발효시킨 각각의 대두박을 돌돔사료 내 첨가하여 어류의 면역력에 미치는 영향을 조사하였다. 사양실험 결과, AO-발효대두박을 섭취한 어류는 다른

- VI -

유용균주로 발효시킨 대두박을 섭취한 어류에 비해 간 내 높은 catalase (CAT)와 antioxidant (DPPH) 활성을 나타내었다. 이러한 연구결과는 *Aspergillus oryzae* 를 이용한 대두박의 발효는 돌돔에 있어 높은 면역능력을 야기시킬 수 있을 것으로 판단된다. 발효대두박을 섭취한 어류에 있어서의 낮은 성장률은 몇몇 필수 아미노산의 결핍과 발효 과정에서 생산되는 항영양소적 요소에 의한 것으로 사료된다.

4 번째 사양실험(Chapter IV)은 돌돔을 대상으로 하여 AO를 이용하여 발효시킨 대두박-면실박 혼합물(F-CS)을 사료 내 첨가하여 어류의 성장과 혈액학적 요소에 미치는 영향에 대해 알아보고자 수행되었다. 어류의 혈장 내 콜레스톨과 중성지방함량에 있어서 F-CS 사료를 섭취한 어류는 어분을 기초로 한 사료와 일반 대두박-면실박 혼합물(CS) 사료를 섭취한 어류에 비해 유의적으로 낮은 함량을 나타내었다. 그러나 F-CS 와 CS40 사료를 섭취한 어류에 있어서의 성장률은 어분을 기초로 한 사료를 섭취한 어류에 비해 낮은 것으로 나타났다. 이러한 성장결과는 과도한 식물성 단백질원의 사료 내 첨가(40%)와 몇몇 필수 아미노산의 결핍 및 발효 과정에서 생산되는 항영양소적 요소에 의한 것으로 사료된다.

결론적으로, 사료 내 25% 청국장 또는 6% 메주의 첨가는 돌돔과 넙치에 있어 비특이적 면역반응과 인 이용률을 증가시킬 수 있을 것으로 판단된다. Aspergillus oryzae 로 발효시킨 대두박은 다른 유용균주를 이용하여 발효시킨 대두박에 비해 돌돔에 있어서 비특이적 면역반응을 효과적으로 증가시킬 수 있을 것으로 여겨진다. 현재의 연구 결과를

- VII -

바탕으로 하였을 때, 양식산업에 있어서 발효시킨 대두박은 어류의 면역 증강제로서 양어사료에 효과적으로 사용될 수 있을 것이며, 향후 연구에서는 발효 부산물의 양어사료 내 이용을 위한 최적의 발효 공정과 발효 과정 중 발생하는 아미노산의 손실과 낮은 단백질 용해로 인한 낮은 성장에 대한 연구가 수행되어야 할 것이라고 판단된다.



SUMMARY

Many studies recently have been being conducted to minimize the feed costs and to enhance immune responses and diseases resistances of farmed fish. In line of the current direction, this study was conducted to investigate the effects of fermented soybean and cottonseed meal with different bacteria and fungi on growth performance and non-specific immune response of marine fish species, including parrot fish, *Oplegnathus fasciatus* and olive flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*.

To pursue the purposes of the study, four feeding experiments were conducted with different Korean traditional fermented soybean products including Cheongkukjang (CKJ-Chapter I), Meju (MEJU-Chapter II) and fermented soybean and cottonseed meal with MEJU microorganisms (Chapter III and IV).

In the first two feeding experiments, effects of dietary CKJ and MEJU on growth performance, phosphorus utilization and immune response in juveniles of parrot fish and olive flounder were examined. Higher liver superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity and phosphorus retention were observed in both parrot fish and olive flounder fed the diets contained either 25% CKJ or 6% MEJU, compared to those of fish fed the fish meal based diets. The diets supplemented with 25% CKJ or 6% MEJU did not affect the growth performance and survival of the fishes. The findings from Chapter I and II suggested that increase of liver SOD activity and phosphorus retention might be contributed by presence of some enzymes and higher antioxidant activities produced by micro-flora in both CKJ and MEJU.

Based on the findings in the previous two feeding experiments, a six week feeding experiment was conducted to investigate the effects of fermented soybean meal by four probiotics including *Aspergillus oryzae* (SBM-AO), *Sacchromyces cerevisiae* (SBM-SC), *Pediococcus pentosaceus* (SBM-PP), and *Bacillus subtilis* (SBM-BS) on immune response of juvenile parrot fish. At the end of the feeding trial, fish fed the diet contained SBM-AO produced higher liver catalase (CAT) and antioxidant activities than did the fish fed the SBM diet. The findings suggest that *Aspergillus oryzae* was superior to the other examined probiotics. Fermented SBM with *A. oryzae* might enhance immune response of parrot fish. *A. oryzae* could be a suitable fermentation microorganism for other plant protein sources such as cottonseed meal. The lower growth performance in the fish fed the fish and the fish fed the fish fed the fish fed the fish fed the fish as a suitable fermentation microorganism for other plant protein sources such as a fight be associate with deficiency of some essential amino acids and antinuitional factors produced in fermentation process.

Finally, a six week feeding experiment was conducted to investigate the effects of fermented cottonseed and soybean meal (CS) with *A. oryzae* on growth performance, hematological parameters of parrot fish. Fermentation process produced higher antioxidant activities in CS. Lower plasma cholesterol and trygliceride levels were found in fish fed the diets containing fermented cottonseed and soybean meal (F-CS), compared to fish fed the fish meal and CS containing diets. However, fish fed F-CS and CS40 diets grew slower compared to fish fed the control and the other diets. The findings indicate that CS could replace up to 30% dietary fish meal for parrot fish without adverse effects on growth performance. Deficiency of some essential amino acids and antinutitional factors produced in fermentation process might have affected growth and utilization of nutrients in the fish.

In conclusion, dietary inclusion level of 25% CKJ or 6% MEJU could enhance innate immune response and increase phosphorus utilization of parrot fish and olive flounder. Fermented soybean meal with *Aspergillus oryzae* could increase immune response in juvenile parrot fish. For effective use of fermented cottonseed and soybean meal as immune-stimulants in aquaculture, further studies are necessary to optimize the fermentation condition and to address the growth impairment due to the loss of amino acids and lower protein solubility during fermentation process.



LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 1.1. Superoxide dismutase activity in liver of parrot fish fed the experimental
diets for 4 weeks29
Fig. 1.2. Concentration of thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) in liver
of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks
Fig. 1.3. Relationship between serum phosphorus and dietary inorganic phosphorus
concentrations in parrot fish fed the experimental for 4 weeks
Fig. 1.4. Relationship between total liver AA concentration and concentration of
liver polyphenol compounds in parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4
weeks
Fig. 1.5. Relationship between liver total AA concentration and liver flavonoids
concentration of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks37
Fig. 1.6. Relationship between total dietary AA concentration and liver AA
concentration of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks
Fig. 1.7. Relationship between concentration of muscle polyphenol compounds and
muscle DPPH radical scavenging activity in parrot fish fed the experimental
diets for four weeks41
Fig. 1.8. Relationship between concentration of muscle flavonoids and muscle DPPH
radical scavenging activity in parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4
weeks
Fig. 2.1. Flow chart of preparation of Meju
Fig. 2.2. Meju was purchased from Meju Munhwa Co. Ltd., Korea53
Fig. 2.3. Concentration of inorganic phosphorus in the experimental diets containing
Meju68

Fig. 2.4. Phosphorus retention in juvenile olive flounder fed the experimental diets
for 8 weeks
Fig. 2.5. Liver superoxide dismutase activity in juvenile olive flounder fed the
experimental diets for 8 weeks70
Fig. 2.6. Concentration of polyphenol compounds in the experimental diets
containing Meju71
Fig. 2.7. Concentration of flavonoids in the experimental diets containing Meju72
Fig. 2.8. DPPH radical scavenging activity in the experimental diets containing Meju.
Fig. 2.9. Superoxide anion radical scavenging activity in the experimental diets
containing Meju74
Fig. 3.1. Flow chart of making fermented SBM by different microorganisms86
Fig. 3.2. Fermented soybean meal with different microorganisms
Fig. 3.3. Relationship between concentration of dietary flavonoids and plasma
cholesterol concentration in juvenile parrot fish fed the experimental diets
containing fermented soybean meal with microorganisms for 6 weeks106
Fig. 3.4. Relationship between concentration of dietary flavonoids and plasma
triglyceride concentration in juvenile parrot fish fed the experimental diets
containing fermented soybean meal with microorganisms for 6 weeks107
Fig. 3.5. Relationship between dietary phosphorus retention and final body weight
gain in juvenile parrot fish fed the experimental diets containing fermented
soybean meal with microorganisms for 6 weeks108
Fig. 4.1. Steaming system
Fig. 4.2. Fermented cottonseed and soybean meal with Aspergillus oryzae123

Fig. 4.3	Liver superoxide dismutase activity in parrot fish fed the experimental diet
	for 6 weeks143
Fig. 4.4	Liver lipidperoxidation in liver of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for
	6 weeks144
Fig. 4.5	DPPH radical scavenging activity in liver of parrot fish fed the experimenta
	diets for 6 weeks145



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Formulation of the experimental diets
Table 1.2. Proximate compositions of the experimental diets
Table 1.3. Proximate compositions of ingredients in the experimental diets
Table 1.4. Growth performance, feed utilization and survival of parrot fish fed the
experimental diets for 4 weeks24
Table 1.5. Muscle proximate compositions of the parrot fish fed the experimental
diets for 4 weeks25
Table 1.6. Condition factor and viscera, gonad and hepato somatic index of parrot
fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks
Table 1.7. Hematological parameters and liver DPPH radical scavenging activity in
parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks
Table 1.8. Concentration of polyphenol compounds, reducing, Fe ²⁺ chelating and
superoxide radical scavenging activities in the experimental diets28
Table 1.9. Concentration of different phosphorus fractions in the experimental
diets
Table 1.10. Phosphorus concentrations in serum, muscle and bone of parrot fish fed
the experimental diets for 4 weeks
Table 1.11. Dietary concentrations of ascorbic acid, dehydro-ascorbic acid and
ascorbic phosphate in the experimental diets
Table 1.12. Concentrations of ascorbic acid, dehydro ascorbic acid and ascorbic
phosphate in muscle and liver of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4
weeks
Table 1.13. Concentration of ascorbic acid, dehydro-ascorbic acid, ascorbic

phosphate and ferric reducing activity of plasma of parrot fish fed the
experimental diets for 4 weeks
Table 1.14. Concentration of polyphenol compounds and flavonoids and DPPH
radical scavenging activity in muscle and liver of parrot fish fed the
experimental diets for 4 weeks40
Table 2.1. Formulation of the experimental diets
Table 2.2. Proximate compositions and energy of the experimental diets
Table 2.3. Proximate compositions of the ingredients used in the diets
Table 2.4. Growth performance and feed utilization of juvenile olive flounder fed the
experimental diets for 8 weeks65
Table 2.5. Whole body compositions of juvenile olive flounder fed the experimental
diets for 8 weeks66
Table 2.6. Blood parameters of olive flounder fed the experimental diets for 8
weeks
Table 3.1. Formulation of the experimental diets
Table 3.2. Compositions, pH and protein solubility of the experimental diets
Table 3.3. Concentrations of amino acids in the experimental diets
Table 3.4. Growth performance and feed utilization of parrot fish fed the
experimental diets for 6 weeks99
Table 3.5. Whole body proximate compositions of parrot fish fed the experimental
diets for 6 weeks100
Table 3.6. Morphological parameters of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6
weeks101
Table 3.7. Blood parameters of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6

- Table 4.4. Growth performance and feed utilization of juvenile parrot fish fed the

 experimental diets for 6 weeks



REFERENCE REVIEW

Aquaculture is one of the most rapidly extended food animal producing industries. The extension of aquaculture industry has attempted to fill the gap between supply and demand of fish. Delgado et al. (2003) estimated that the global consumption of fish has doubled from 1973 and continued to increase due to the world population growth. Currently, aquaculture production accounted for 30 percent of total food fish production. And incoming decades, aquaculture will likely become the greatest of source of increased fish production due to the extension of water areas for cultivation and the increase of productivity. However, aquaculture has been reported to be constrained by some major challenges including disease infections and the shortage of fish meal and fish oil. It was estimated that nearly one-third of the fisheries productions are produced for fish meal and fish oil which are used in feeds for livestock and aquaculture feed industries. The stagnated fisheries and the faster extension of aquaculture could lead to a significant soar of price of fish meal and fish oil. On the other hand, outbreak of some diseases has been reported to lead to mass mortality in some intensive aquaculture systems, resulted in loss of millions of dollars and cut-down thousands of jobs. For instance, the infection of a virus in Chile salmon farms currently has cut down thousand of jobs in salmon aquaculture and one-quarter of the operation was closed (New York Times, March 27th, 2008). Use of antibiotics, and drugs for preventions and treatments of diseases in aquaculture currently can lead to pollution of surround environments. Moreover, the residues of antibiotics and chemicals in aquaculture products can cause serious health problems of consumers. Recently, many interests have been being paid on some natural

compounds which are potential to replace for antibiotics and chemicals in aquaculture. Use of natural bioactive compounds or probiotics to enhance nonspecific immune responses and disease resistances of farmed fish has been promoted environment friendly alternative solutions.

To reduce production costs, many studies have been conducted to replace expensive fish meal by plant-original protein sources, such as soybean, cotton seed and rapeseed meal. Hardy (1995) reported that dietary replacement of fish meal protein by plant origin by-products, such as soybean meal, cottonseed meal and rapeseed meal, has been increasing in aquaculture industry, due to their low price, highly market availabilities and sufficient protein contents. Among plant protein sources, soybean meal has been used predominantly in diets for many fish species because of its high protein content and well balanced amino acid profiles (Degani et al., 1997; Refstie et al., 2000; Catacutan and Pagador, 2004; Chou et al., 2004; Zhou et al., 2005; Tomas et al., 2005; Pham et al., 2007). Studies have demonstrated that soybean meal alone or in combination with other protein sources can replace from 20% up to 90% fish meal protein in diets for some fish species such as yellowtail (Shimeno et al., 1993), red drum (McMoogan and Gatlin III, 1997), Asian seabass (Boonyaratpalin et al., 1998; Tantikitti et al., 2005), European seabass (Kaushik et al., 2004; Tibaldi et al., 2006), rainbow trout (Gomes et al., 1995), Australian snapper (Quantararo et al., 1998), cobia (Chou et al., 2004; Zhou et al., 2005; Romarheim et al., 2008), Korean rockfish (Lim et al., 2004) and olive flounder (Kikuchi et al., 1994; Kikuchi, 1999; Saitoh et al., 2003; Pham et al., 2005, 2007). Shimeno et al. (1993) reported up to 20% of fish meal was able to be substituted by commercial defatted

soybean meal in the diets for fingerling yellowtail. For Asian seabass, Boonyaratpalin et al. (1998) conducted a ten-week feeding trial with different soybean products, including solvent extracted, extruded full-fat, steamed full-fat and soaked raw full-fat soybean meal. At the end of feeding trial, the authors found that fish fed the diets contained 37.5% solvent extracted soybean meal as fish meal alternative had similar growth and feed efficiency compared to the fish fed the fish meal-based diet. Latter on, Tantikitti at al. (2005) reported that defatted soybean meal can replace only 10% of fish meal protein in the diets for Asian seabass with good growth and feed utilization relative to the control diet. It is apparent that different fish species and fish at developmental stages response differently with diets containing soybean meal and soybean meal in combination with other protein sources. For juvenile olive flounder, Kikuchi (1999) reported that 45% fish meal protein can be replaced by soybean meal in combination with other animal protein sources. He suggested that the inclusion of soybean meal in diets for fish could be increased by the supplementation of some deficient components such as methionine, lysine, and phosphate. Meanwhile, dietary inclusion level of soybean meal for red drum was much higher compared to the other fish species. McMoogan and Gatlin III (1997) reported that soybean meal could be incorporated up to 95% with supplementation of 2% glycine in the diets for red drum. The inclusion of soybean meal remarkably reduced feeding costs in shrapsnout sea bream (Hernandez et al., 2007). However, use of soybean meal in fish feeds, particularly for marine carnivorous fish species is still limited because of the presence of some antinutritional factors (ANFs) such as protease inhibitors, phytates, lectins, saponins, non-starch polysaccharide, high fiber content (NRC, 1993; Storebakken et al., 2000;

Francis et al., 2001; Hendricks, 2002; Deng et al., 2006), and deficiency of essential amino acids, such as methionine in soybean meal (NRC, 1993). The ANFs also can induce severe enteritis in digestive tracts, reduce its absorbability of nutrients; consequently impair the growth of fish. Recently, many techniques have been being applied to eliminate the ANFs and increase the inclusion of soybean meal in aquafeeds, including enzyme and heat treatment, and fermentation. Fermentation has been reported to be able to degrade ANFs and improve the nutritive quality of plant protein sources for animals including fish (Compbell-Platt, 1994; Matsui et al., 1996; Hirabayashi et al., 1998; Hong et al., 2004; Mukhopadhyay and Ray, 2005; Feng et al., 2007a, b; Zhang et al., 2007). Matsui et al. (1996) reported that Aspergillus usami fermentation could improve phosphorus availability of soybean meal in chicks and the supplementation of exogenous inorganic phosphorus was not necessary in the diets contained the fermented soybean meal. In the followed experiment, Hirabayashi et al. (1998) revealed the lower phosphorus excretion in chicks fed fermented soybean with A. usami, compared to the control diet. Mukhopadhyay and Ray (2005) recommended that fermentation of oilseed meals which result in the reduction of ANFs may be applied as an efficient tool in formulation of feeds for rohu fingerlings. On the other hand, fermentation could also increase the antioxidant capacity of plant derived protein sources (Yang et al., 2000; Feng et al., 2007a; Zhang et al., 2007; Choi et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2008; Radha et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2008), and enhance non-specific immune responses and diseases resistances of farmed animals including fish (Ashida et al., 2002; Ashida and Okimasu, 2005; Ashida et al., 2006; Feng et al., 2007a; Yamonto et al., 2007). Yang et al. (2000) concluded that fermented soybean was superior to soybean and might be able to be

applied in functional feed ingredients.

Therefore, the present study with four different feeding experiments was conducted to investigate the effects of Korean traditional fermented soybean products and its application in the diets containing soybean and cottonseed meal on growth performance, feed utilization, phosphorus retention, and non-specific immune response in two common marine cultured fish species in Korea, including olive flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus* and parrot fish, *Oplegnathus fasciatus*.



CHAPTER I

DIETARY CHEONGKUKJANG INCREASED LIVER

SUPEROXIDE DISMUTASE ACTIVITY IN PARROT FISH,

Oplegnathus fasciatus

ABSTRACT

A four-week feeding trial was conducted to investigate the effects of dietary Cheongkukjang (CKJ) on non-specific immune response of parrot fish, Oplegnathus fasciatus. Three isonitrogenous (42 % crude protein) and isocaloric (17.1 MJ/kg) diets were formulated to replace fish meal by 0, 25% SBM or 25% CKJ (designated as FM, 25SBM and 25CKJ, respectively). Ninety fish (initial body weight of 122 g/fish) were randomly allotted into nine 150 L tanks. One of the three experimental diets was fed to triplicate groups of fish for 4 weeks. After the feeding trial, no differences were observed in growth performance and feed utilization among the fish groups. Liver superoxide dismutase activity of the fish fed CKJ containing diet was significantly higher than that of the control groups. DPPH radical scavenging and Fe²⁺-chelating activities of the experimental diets containing SBM or CKJ were significantly higher than that of the control diet. The results of the present feeding trial suggest that dietary inclusion of 25% CKJ significantly increased liver superoxide dismutase activity and antioxidant activities in muscle and liver of parrot fish and did not affect the growth performance, feed utilization, morphological parameters, as well as hematological values in the fish. Fermentation process in CKJ might increase the availability of phosphorus in diets containing plant protein sources.

1.1. INTRODUCTION

Cheongkukjang (CKJ), a traditional Korean fermented soybean with rice straw, has been reported to have unique flavor, antimicrobial, anticarcinogenic, and antioxidant activities, and high nutritional compositions (Kim et al., 1998; Kim et al., 1999; Kim et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2005; Mine et al., 2005; Youn et al., 2001). CKJ is the most popular seasoning food in Korea. Kim et al. (1998) reported that CKJ is an important source of essential amino acids and fatty acids, supplementing with rice and barley protein. Conventionally, CKJ is made of fermented soybeans and salt with red pepper powder and garlic as additives. Lee et al. (2005) has discovered that CKJ produced using *Bacillus licheniformis* increases the antimutagenic properties and improves the sweet and savory taste by increasing glycine, glutamic acid, aspartic acid and arginine concentration.

Use of dietary fermented vegetable products, recently was reported to be able to enhance non-specific immune responses and disease resistances in fish (Ashida et al., 2002; Ashida and Okimasu, 2005; Ashida et al., 2006). And the use of natural fermented products has become more attractive since consumers are seriously paying concerns on quality and safety of aquaculture products. However, no information is available on the use of CKJ in diets for fish.

Parrot fish, *Oplegnathus fasciatus* is one of the most important aquaculture fish species in Korea. However, outbreak of diseases has been reported as a cause mass mortality in captive parrot fish and decelerated the aquaculture development of this species. Jung and Oh (2000) reported that high mortality of net-caged parrot fish were observed in southern coastal areas of Korea peninsula due to the outbreak of a

disease in all developmental stages of fish including 3-year-old marketable fish.

Therefore, the aim of the present feeding trial was to evaluate the effect of dietary CKJ on growth performance and immune response of parrot fish, *Oplegnathus fasciatus*.



1.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1.2.1. Experimental diets

Three experimental diets were formulated to be isonitrogenous and isocaloric in terms of crude protein (42 %) and gross energy (17.1 MJ/kg). The energy value of the experimental diets was estimated on the basis of mammalian physiological fuel value, i.e., 16.7 KJ/g protein or carbohydrate and 37.7 KJ/g lipid (Lee and Putman, 1973). The dietary formulation and proximate compositions are presented Table 1.1. For the control diet (FM), white fish meal was used as major dietary protein source. For diet 25SBM and 25CKJ, fish meal in the control diet was replaced by 25% soybean meal (SBM) and 25% Cheongkukjang (CKJ), respectively. In diets containing SBM and CKJ, methionine and lysine were supplemented to meet their requirement of fish. CKJ, made of traditional fermented soybean, was purchased from a local market. The proximate compositions of the experimental diets and major protein sources used in this study are given in Table 1.2, 1.3. All dry ingredients were thoroughly mixed with 30% distilled water. Pellets were extruded through a meat chopper machine (SMC-12, Korea) in 3.0 mm diameter size and dried with a freeze drier (Operon FDT-8605, Korea) for 24 h. The pellets were crushed into desirable particle sizes (0.4 - 2.0 mm) and stored at -20° C until use.

	Diets		
Ingredients	FM	25SBM	25CKJ
White fish meal	52.0	39.0	39.0
Soybean meal	0.0	20.0	0.0
Cheongkukjang ¹	0.0	0.0	21.8
Corn gluten meal	8.2	7.4	8.6
Starch	24.8	17.4	19.4
Yeast	2.0	2.0	2.0
Mineral premix ²	1.0	1.0	1.0
Vitamin premix ³	1.0	1.0	1.0
Squid liver oil	8.0	8.7	4.2
Lysine	0.0	0.4	0.4
Methionine	0.0	0.2	0.2
Monocalcium phosphate	0.0	0.6	0.6
Cellulose	3.0	2.3	1.8

Table 1.1. Formulation of the experimental diets (% DM)

¹ Cheongkukjang was purchased from a local market.

- ² Mineral premix (g/kg): MgSO₄.7H₂O, 80.0; NaH₂PO₄.2H₂O, 370.0; KCl, 130.0; Ferric citrate, 40.0; ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 20.0; Ca-lactate, 356.5; CuCl₂, 0.2; AlCl₃.
 6H₂O, 0.15; Na₂Se₂O₃, 0.01; MnSO₄.H₂O, 2.0; CoCl₂.6H₂O, 1.0.
- ³ Vitamin premix (g/kg): L-ascorbic acid, 121.2; DL-α tocopheryl acetate, 18.8; thiamin hydrochloride, 2.7; riboflavin, 9.1; pyridoxine hydrochloride, 1.8; niacin, 36.4; Ca-_D-pantothenate, 12.7; myo-inositol, 181.8; _D-biotin, 0.27; folic acid, 0.68; p-aminobezoic acid, 18.2; menadione, 1.8; retinyl acetate, 0.73; cholecalficerol, 0.003; cyanocobalamin, 0.003.

Diets	FM 25SBM		25CKJ		
Proximate composition					
Dry matter, %	96.3	96.9	96.2		
Protein, % DM	42.1	43.6	42.9		
Lipid, % DM	10.5	11.3	11.1		
Ash, % DM	8.7	8.7	8.3		
Gross energy, MJ/kg DM	17.1	17.1	17.1		

 Table 1.2. Proximate compositions of the experimental diets

DM: dry matter.

Ingredients	Moisture	Protein	Lipid	NFE ¹	Ash
White fish meal	8.72	68.33	8.56	9.04	14.07
Soybean meal	11.68	46.91	2.52	32.35	6.54
Corn gluten meal	9.50	61.70	1.03	26.59	1.18
Cheongkukjang	6.51	41.26	23.13	24.31	4.79

Table 1.3. Proximate compositions of ingredients in the experimental diets (% DM)

¹Nitrogen Free Extracts = 100 - (%Moisture + %Protein + %Lipid + %Ash).

DM: dry matter.

1.2.2. Fish and feeding trial

Parrot fish were transported from a private hatchery in Jeju Island to Marine and Environmental Research Institute, Cheju National University. Fish were fed with a commercial diet for 4 weeks in a 1000 L tank. Ninety fish (initial body weight 122 g/fish) were randomly distributed into nine 150 L tanks (10 fish per tank) in a flow through system supplied with sand filtered seawater at a flow rate of 3 L/min. One of the three experimental diets was fed to three groups of fish at a feeding rate of 3.5% body weight per day, twice a day, 7 days a week, for 4 weeks. Growth of fish was measured at the end of feeding trial. Feeding was stopped 24 h prior to weighing.

1.2.3. Growth performance and feed utilization

At the beginning and the end of feeding trial, all fish were weighed and counted for weight gain, feed conversion ratio, protein efficiency ratio, specific growth rate and survival calculation. Three fish from each tank (9 fish per diet) were randomly sampled and stored at -20 °C for muscle proximate compositions analysis. Analysis of crude protein, moisture, and ash were performed using the standard procedures (AOAC 1995). Lipid was determined using Soxhlet System (SH6, Korea).

1.2.4. Morphological parameters

The total length, body weight, liver weight and gonad weight of 9 fish per diet (3 fish per tank) were individually measured. Condition factors (CF), hepato-somatic index (HSI) and gonad somatic index (GSI) were calculated.

1.2.5. Hematological parameters

At the end of feeding trial, 3 fish per tank (9 fish per diet) were anesthetized in tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222) solution (100 ppm). Blood was taken from caudal veins using non-heparinsed syringes. Hematocrit was measured using microhematocrit technique (Micro-hematocrit VS-12000, Vision Scientific Co. Ltd., Korea). The remained blood samples were used for nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT) assay, serum cholesterol and triglyceride. Serum cholesterol and triglyceride were measured using a Photometer CH100 Plus (Calenzano, Firenze, Italy).

Superoxide anion radical production by neutrophils during respiratory burst was measured by the nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT) assay as a method described by Anderson and Siwicki (1995) with some modification (Kumari and Sahoo, 2005). Briefly, blood and 0.2% NBT solution were mixed in equal proportion (1:1), incubated for 30 min at room temperature, then 50 μ L was taken out and dispensed in glass tubes. Then, 1 mL of dimethyl formamide (Sigma) was added and centrifuged at 2000 x g for 5 min. Finally, the optical density (OD) of supernatant was measured at 540 nm. Dimethyl formamide was used as the blank.

1.2.6. Ferric reducing activity of plasma (FRAP)

Antioxidant activity in plasma measured by FRAP assay with tripyridyltriazine (Benzie and Strain 1996), with a confirmation of Benzie et al. (1999). The blue colored Fe²- tripyridyltriazine compound formed in reaction solution was monitored by a spectrophotometer at 593 nm (Genesys 10 UV, Rochester, NY, USA). Ferrous solution was used to make the standard curve.

1.2.7. Serum lysozyme activity

A turbidometric method described by Swain et al. (2007) was used to measure serum lysozyme activity in fish fed the experimental diets. *Micrococcus lysodeikticus* concentration of 0.2 mg/mL (in 0.02 M sodium citrate buffer, pH 5.5) was added to serum sample at 10:1 ratio. Absorbance was measured at 450 nm immediately after adding *M. lysodeikticus* suspension. Final absorbance was measured after incubating for 1 h at 25 °C. Lyophilized hen egg white lysozyme (HEWL) was used as standard. Serum lysozyme values are expressed as µg/mL equivalent of HEWL activity.

1.2.8. Antioxidant activity

Antioxidant activity of the experimental diets and fish liver was measured using 1, 1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging assay described by Brand-William et al. (1995) with some modifications. Two g of diets (3 replicates per diet) were homogenized in 20 mL aqueous methanol (80%) and kept at room temperature for 10 min. The homogenates were centrifuged at 5000 rpm, 4 °C for 10 min and filtered through 0.45 μ m syringe filters (Whatman Inc., Clifton, NJ) prior to the assay. Whole liver of 3 bled fish per tank (9 fish per treatment) were homogenized in the aqueous methanol (80%) at a ratio of 1:4 for 1 min using a homogenizer (X-120, Germany). The homogenate was centrifuged at 5000 rpm, 4 °C for 10 min. The supernatant was filtered through a 0.45 μ m syringe filter. One hundred μ L of filtered extract was pipetted into a 1.5 mL cuvette, then 900 μ L of DPPH methanolic solution (100 μ M) was added to obtain a final volume of 1 mL. The absorbance of the mixture was measured at 517 nm with 1 min intervals for 10
min using a spectrophotometer (Genesys 10 UV, Rochester, NY, USA). The antioxidant activity of the extracts against the DPPH radicals was calculated as follow: Percent inhibition = $[(A_0 - A_s)/A_0] \times 100$, where A_0 and A_s are the absorbance of sample at 0 and s min, respectively.

1.2.9. Measurement of total polyphenol compounds

Total polyphenol compounds in the experimental diets were measured using a colorimetric method described by Skerget et al. (2005). Briefly, 1 g of diets was extracted with 250 mL methanol for 2 h at 40 °C. The solution was cooled and filtered through a 0.45 µm syringe filter (Whatman Inc., Clifton, NJ). To 0.5 mL filtered extract, 2.5 mL of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent (0.2 N, Sigma) was added and kept for 5 min at room temperature, then 2 mL of Na₂CO₃ solution (75g/L) was added. The mixture was incubated for 5 min at 50 °C and cooled. The absorbance was measured at 760 nm using a spectrophotometer (Genesys 10 UV, Rochester, NY, USA). The results were expressed in gram of gallic acid per kilogram of dry diet.

1.2.10. Measurement of total flavonoids

Total flavonoids content in the experimental diets was measured using colorimetric method (Moreno et al., 2000). One gram of the experimental diet or 0.5 g of liver was extracted in 10 mL of aqueous ethanol (80%) using a shaker (Wise Cube, DAIHAN Scientific, Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea) for 24 h. The solution was centrifuged at 27000 rpm for 20 min. The supernatant was used for flavonoids assay. Total flavonoids content was expressed in mg of quercetin per g dry diet.

1.2.11. Measurement of reducing activity

Dietary sample (2 g) was finely ground and extracted in 20 mL aqueous methanol (80%) for 12 h with three replicates. The extract was filtered through a 0.45 μ m syringe filter (Whatman Inc., Clifton, NJ) prior to assay.

Reducing activity of the experimental diets was measured using a method described by Oyaizu (1986). Filtered extract (0.3 mL) was mixed with 0.3 mL of 1.0% potassium ferricyanide and 0.3 mL sodium phosphate buffer (0.2 M, pH 6.6). The mixture was incubated at 50 °C for 20 min. After cooling, 10% trichloroacetic acid (0.3 mL) was added and centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant (0.6 mL) was mixed with 0.1% ferric chloride solution (0.12 mL) and deionized water (0.6 mL) and incubated at room temperature for 10 min. The absorbance was measured at 700 nm using a spectrophotometer (Genesys 10 UV, Rochester, NY, USA).

1.2.12. Ferrous chelating assay

Fe²⁺-chelating activity of the experimental diets was measured according to Decker and Welch (1990). The reaction mixture containing dietary extract (1.0 mL), methanol (3.7 mL), 2 mM FeCl₂ (0.1 mL), and 5 mM ferrozine (0.2 mL) was incubated at room temperature for 10 min. The absorbance of mixture was measured at 562 nm. The chelating effect of dietary extract was calculated as follows: Chelating effect (%) = 100 x (1- absorbance sample/absorbance control).

1.2.13. Superoxide anion radical scavenging assay

Superoxide anion radical scavenging activity of the experimental diets was evaluated using a method described by Nagai et al. (2001). The system contained 1.2 mL of 0.05 M sodium carbonate buffer (pH 10.5), 0.1 mL of 3 mM xanthine, 0.1 mL of 3 mM ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid disodium salt (EDTA), 0.1 mL of 0.15% bovine serum albumin, 0.1 mL of 0.75 mM NBT, and 0.1 mL dietary extract. After incubation at 25 °C for 10 min, the reaction was initiated by adding 0.1 mL of xanthine oxidase (6 mU) and kept at 25 °C for 20 min. The reaction was stopped by adding 0.1 mL of 6 mM CuCl. The absorbance of the mixture was read at 560 nm.

1.2.14. Measurement of liver thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS)

Liver TBARS in fish fed the experimental diets was measured using a method of Burk et al. (1980) and modified by Tocher et al. (2002). Liver (30 mg) was homogenized in 1.5 mL of 20% (w/v) trichloroacetic acid containing 0.05 mL of 1% butylated hydrotoluene in ethanol. To the homogenate, 2.95 mL of freshly prepared 10 mM thiobarbituric acid was added. The mixture was vortexed in a glass tube and heated at 100 °C for 10 min. Protein was removed by centrifugation of 12000 x g. Absorbance of supernatant was measured at 532 nm. The concentration of TBARS, expressed as μ M TBARS/g liver, was calculated using the extinction coefficient of 0.156 μ M⁻¹cm⁻¹.

1.2.15. Measurement of liver superoxide dismutase activity

Fish liver was homogenized in 9 volumes of 20 mM phosphate buffer pH 7.4,

1mM EDTA and 0.1% Triton X-100. The homogenate was centrifuged at 10000 rpm (4 °C, 10 min) to remove debris. The supernatants were used for superoxide dismutase assay as method of Ukeda et al. (1999). Into 2.4 mL of a 50 mM sodium carbonate buffer (pH 10.2), 0.1 mL of 3 mM xanthine, 3mM EDTA, 0.75 mM NBT, 15% bovine serum albumin and 0.1 mL supernatant was added. The reaction was initiated by adding 0.1 mL of 100 mU/mL xanthine oxidase. The absorbance of mixture was measured at 560 nm after incubation at 25 °C for 25 min.

1.2.16. Measurement of phosphorus

The experimental diets and fish tissues were digested with 10 mL of a mixture of concentrated H_2SO_4 and HNO_3 (1:1; v: v) in Kjeldahl flasks. The digested mixture was volume up to 100 mL with distilled water and used for total phosphorus measurement. Inorganic phosphorus of the experimental diets was extracted with 12.3% trichloroacetic acid solution using a shaker (Wise Cube, DAIHAN Scientific, Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea) for 12 h at room temperature. After centrifugation at 2000 x g for 20 min, the supernatant was used for measurement of inorganic phosphorus. Phosphorus concentration was measured using spectrophotometrically method described by Nahapetian and Bassiri (1975).

1.2.17. Measurement of vitamin C

Concentrations of total ascorbic acid (AA) and dehydroascorbic acid (DAA) in diets, liver, muscle and plasma were measured using the 2, 4-dinitrophenylhydrazine colorimetric method (Dabrowski and Hinterleitner, 1989). Samples of the experimental diets, liver and muscle were homogenized in 5% trichloroacetic acid solution containing 250 mM HClO₄ and 0.08% ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid using homogenizer (X-120, Germany). The homogenates were centrifuged at 15000 x g for 30 min at 4 °C. Plasma extracts were prepared as the same manner with 10% of TCA solution at a ratio of 1:1 (plasma: extract solution).

1.2.18. Statistical analysis

Data were subjected to one-way ANOVA in SPSS version 11.0. The significant differences between group means were compared using Duncan's multiple test. Data presented are means \pm SD. The percentage data of weight gain and specific growth rate were arcsine transformed before the ANOVA analysis. Differences were considered significantly at P < 0.05.



1.3. RESULTS

Growth performance, feed utilization and survival of fish fed the experimental diets are presented in Table 1.4. After 4 weeks of feeding trial, no significant differences were observed in final body weight, weight gain, specific growth rate, protein efficiency ratio, feed conversion ratio and feed intake among fish groups fed all the experimental diets. No mortality occurred during feeding trial. The growth performance was not affected by the supplementation of SBM and CKJ in the present feeding trial, although the period of feeding was short. Muscle proximate compositions did not differ among fish groups fed the experimental diets, including the control diet (Table 1.5).

Condition factor, visceral somatic index, hepato somatic index and gonad somatic index were not different in all fish groups fed the experimental diets (Table 1.6). Hematocrit (%), blood respiratory burst (NBT assay) activity (OD, 540 nm), serum cholesterol, serum triglyceride, and liver DPPH radical scavenging activity were not influenced by the treatments (Table 1.7). Dietary Fe²⁺-chelating and superoxide radical scavenging activities were increased by the supplementation of SBM and CKJ (Table 1.8). The reducing activity of the diets was only increased by SBM supplementation. Interestingly, liver superoxide dismutase activity was significantly increased by dietary CKJ after four weeks of feeding trial (Fig. 1.1). The liver of fish fed the diets containing SBM or CKJ also showed a decreasing trend in lipid peroxidation, even though it was not significant (Fig. 1.2).

There were no significant differences in dietary total phosphorus concentration, but diet 25CKJ had higher concentration of inorganic phosphorus (Table 1.9). Higher serum phosphorus concentration was obtained in fish fed the diet 25CKJ and lightly related to the dietary inorganic concentration (Fig. 1.3). Serum protein did not differ among fish groups fed the all experimental diets. Bone and muscle phosphorus contents were not altered by the dietary phosphorus concentration (Table 1.10).

Dietary total ascorbic acid (AA), dehydroascorbic acid (DAA) and ascorbic phosphate (AAP) concentrations are showed in Table 1.11. The diets contained CKJ and SBM had higher concentration of total AA and DAA compared to the control diet. The 25CKJ diet had higher ascorbic phosphate concentration than the control and SBM diets. Concentrations of AA, DAA and AAP in muscle and liver of fish fed the experimental diets are given in Table 1.12. Liver AA concentration showed a positively relationship with the dietary concentrations of polyphenol compounds, flavonoids and AA (Fig. 1.4, 1.5, 1.6). No differences were found in AA, DAA and AAP concentration in the fish tissues of fish fed the experimental diets. Concentration in the fish tissues of fish fed the experimental diets.

Concentration of polyphenol compounds and flavonoids in muscle and liver of fish fed the experimental diets are given in Table 1.14. Polyphenol and flavonoids concentrations in both muscle and liver of fish fed the 25CKJ and 25SBM diets were significantly higher than those of fish fed the control diet. Higher DPPH radical scavenging activity in muscle and liver was also observed in fish fed the 25CKJ and 25SBM diets. Muscle DPPH radical scavenging activity positively associated to the muscle polyphenol concentration (Fig. 1.7, 1.8).

Diets	FM	25SBM	25CKJ
Initial body weight, g	122.4 ± 0.5	123.0 ± 0.6	122.5 ± 0.9
Final body weight, g	141.0 ± 0.2	143.8 ± 1.2	142.0 ± 1.3
Weight gain (WG) ¹	15.2 ± 0.6	17.0 ± 1.3	15.9 ± 0.6
Specific growth rate (SGR) ²	0.51 ± 0.0	0.56 ± 0.0	0.53 ± 0.0
Protein efficiency ratio (PER) ³	1.17 ± 0.04	1.26 ± 0.09	1.20 ± 0.04
Feed conversion ratio (FCR) ⁴	2.03 ± 0.07	1.89 ± 0.09	1.95 ± 0.07
Feed intake (g/g BW) ⁵	0.27 ± 0.0	0.26 ± 0.0	0.27 ± 0.0
Survival (%)	100	100	100

 Table 1.4. Growth performance, feed utilization and survival of parrot fish fed the

 experimental diets for 4 weeks*

*Values presented are means \pm SD. Value in the same row having different superscripts is significantly different (P < 0.05).

 1 WG (%) = 100 x (FBW - IBW)/IBW.

 2 SGR (%) = [(ln FBW - ln IBW)/days] x 100.

³ PER = wet weight gain/ total protein given.

⁴ FCR = dry feed fed/wet weight gain.

⁵ FI (g/g BW) = dry feed consumed/BW.

BW: body weight.

IBW: initial mean body weight.

FBW: final mean body weight.

Diets	FM	25SBM	25CKJ
Moisture content, %	73.8 ± 0.2	74.7 ± 0.0	73.8 ± 0.0
Protein	20.5 ± 0.7	19.6 ± 1.2	20.6 ± 0.4
Lipid, % DM	4.4 ± 0.2	4.5 ± 0.4	4.3 ± 0.1
Ash, % DM	1.3 ± 0.0	1.2 ± 0.1	1.3 ± 0.2

 Table 1.5. Muscle proximate compositions of parrot fish fed the experimental diets

 for 4 weeks*

* Values presented are means \pm SD of triplicates. Value in the same row having

different superscripts is significantly different (P < 0.05).

DM: dry matter.

fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks* Diets FM **25SBM** 25CKJ Condition factor (%) 2.6 ± 0.2 2.6 ± 0.0 2.6 ± 0.0 Viscera somatic index (%) 13.4 ± 0.8 13.2 ± 1.3 12.0 ± 0.8 Gonad somatic index (%) 0.08 ± 0.02 0.08 ± 0.01 0.09 ± 0.01

Table 1.6. Condition factor and viscera, gonad and hepato somatic index of parrot

Hepatic somatic index (%)

* Values presented are means \pm SD of triplicates. Value in the same row having

 3.4 ± 0.2

 3.3 ± 0.4

 3.2 ± 0.9

different superscripts is significantly different (P < 0.05).

Diets FM **25SBM** 25CKJ Hematocrit (%) 39.9 ± 2.4 38.9 ± 4.8 40.5 ± 1.9 Blood NBT (OD_{540 nm}) 1.01 ± 0.11 1.14 ± 0.11 1.02 ± 0.05 1.46 ± 1.14 Serum lysozyme (µg/mL) 1.87 ± 0.21 2.00 ± 0.14 Serum cholesterol (mg/dL) 185 ± 27 150 ± 13 179 ± 4 Serum triglyceride (mg/dL) 454 ± 120 508 ± 208 622 ± 250 Liver DPPHRS (%) 10.7 ± 1.7 11.5 ± 0.61 10.6 ± 1.9

Table 1.7. Hematological parameters and liver DPPH radical scavenging activity in parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks*

*Values presented are means \pm SD of triplicates. Value in the same row having

different superscripts is significantly different (P < 0.05).

OD: optical density.

DPPHRS: DPPH radical scavenging activity (% inhibition).

Table 1.8. Concentration of polyphenol compounds, reducing, Fe²⁺ chelating and superoxide radical scavenging (SRS) activities in the experimental diets*

Diets	FM	25SBM	25CKJ
Polyphenol (g/kg)	0.018 ± 0.006	0.018 ± 0.002	0.025 ± 0.014
Fe ²⁺ chelating activity (%)	6.77 ± 0.38^{b}	9.42 ± 0.32^{a}	8.47 ± 0.63^{b}
Reducing activity (OD _{700nm})	1.014 ± 0.02^{b}	1.071 ± 0.01^{a}	1.014 ± 0.01^{b}
SRS (OD _{560 nm})	0.042 ± 0.002^{a}	0.052 ± 0.002^{b}	0.055 ± 0.003^{b}

*Values presented are as means \pm SD of triplicates. Value in the same row having

different superscripts is significantly different (P < 0.05).

OD: optical density.



Figure 1.1. Superoxide dismutase activity in liver of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks. Bars having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).



Figure 1.2. Concentration of thiobarbituric acid reactive substances in liver of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks

Diets	Total phosphorus (mg/g)	Inorganic phosphorus (mg/g)	Acid extractable phosphorus (mg/g)
FM	4.85 ± 0.02	2.08 ± 0.01^{b}	$2.54\pm0.03^{\rm a}$
25SBM	3.83 ± 0.04	$2.05 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	$1.60 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$
25CKJ	3.77 ± 0.03	2.12 ± 0.01^{a}	$1.75\pm0.01^{\rm b}$

Table1.9. Concentrations of different phosphorus fractions in the experimental diets*

*Values presented are means \pm SD of triplicates. Value in the same column having

different superscripts is significantly different (P < 0.05).

Diets	Serum protein (g/dL)	Serum phosphorus (mg/dL)	Muscle phosphorus (mg/g)	Bone phosphorus (mg/g)
FM	4.51 ± 0.39	$9.29\pm0.97^{\rm b}$	0.49 ± 0.05	13.64 ± 2.51
25SBM	4.01 ± 0.48	10.27 ± 0.23^{b}	0.45 ± 0.04	13.81 ± 1.08
25CKJ	4.29 ± 0.35	12.64 ± 1.65^{a}	0.42 ± 0.03	13.62 ± 1.36

 Table 1.10. Phosphorus concentrations in serum, muscle and bone of parrot fish fed

 the experimental diets for 4 weeks*

*Values presented are means \pm SD of triplicates. Value in the same column having

different superscripts is significantly different (P < 0.05).



Figure 1.3. Relationship between serum phosphorus and dietary inorganic phosphorus concentrations in parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks

D' 4	AA	DAA	AAP
Diets	(ng/g diet)	(ng/g diet)	(ng/g diet)
FM	$87.8 \pm 4.4^{\circ}$	$94.3 \pm 5.7^{\circ}$	475.8 ± 13.7^{b}
25SBM	127.6 ± 6.1^{a}	126.6 ± 6.7^{a}	482.4 ± 30.4^{b}
25CKJ	107.5 ± 0.8^{b}	113.2 ± 4.8^{b}	541.2 ± 17.0^{a}

Table 1.11. Dietary concentrations of ascorbic acid (AA), dehydro-ascorbic acid(DAA) and ascorbic phosphate (AAP) in the experimental diets*

*Values presented are means \pm SD of triplicates. Value in the same column having

different letters is significantly different (P < 0.05).

Diets	AA (ng/g tissue)	DAA (ng/g tissue)	AAP (ng/g tissue)
Muscle			
FM	61.9 ± 2.02	36.9 ± 4.65	108.6 ± 7.3
25SBM	56.5 ± 2.42	33.8 ± 3.68	106.6 ± 16.8
25CKJ	59.9 ± 2.77	35.2 ± 5.21	115.9 ± 15.7
Liver			
FM	85.1 ± 6.7^{a}	54.2 ± 2.3	203.6 ± 20.7^{t}
25SBM	109.5 ± 14.6^{b}	66.9 ± 9.9	$251.7 \pm 26.9^{\circ}$
25CKJ	94.6 ± 8.3^{a}	59.7 ± 9.5	229.9 ± 10.9^{a}

Table 1.12. Concentrations of ascorbic acid (AA), dehydro-ascorbic acid (DAA) and ascorbic phosphate (AAP) in muscle and liver of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks*

*Values presented are means \pm SD of triplicates. Value in the same column having different letters is significantly different (P < 0.05).



Figure 1.4. Relationship between liver AA concentration and concentration of liver polyphenol compounds in parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks



Figure 1.5. Relationship between liver total AA concentration and liver flavonoids concentration of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks



Figure 1.6. Relationship between dietary total AA concentration and liver total AA concentration of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks

Table 1.13. Concentrations of ascorbic acid (AA), dehydro-ascorbic acid (DAA), ascorbic phosphate (AAP) and ferric reducing activity of plasma (FRAP) of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks*

Diets	AA (ng/mL)	DAA (ng/mL)	AAP (ng/mL)	FRAP (µM/L)
FM	172.8 ± 6.0	146.1 ± 5.0	653.3 ± 33.5	188.0 ± 37.0
25SBM	164.9 ± 4.2	136.6 ± 4.8	627.0 ± 23.5	207.0 ± 27.7
25CKJ	175.2 ± 5.2	142.2 ± 5.9	654.5 ± 7.8	228.5 ± 59.8

*Values presented are as means \pm SD of triplicates. Value in the same column having

different letters is significantly different (P < 0.05).

Diets	Polyphenol (ng/g tissue)	Flavonoids (ng/g tissue)	DPPHRS (%)
Muscle			
FM	164.5 ± 1.9^{b}	$2.09\pm0.00^{\rm b}$	$8.64 \pm 0.75^{\circ}$
25SBM	203.5 ± 27.3^{a}	2.63 ± 0.93^{b}	10.17 ± 0.78^{a}
25CKJ	191.8 ± 10.4^{ab}	5.31 ± 1.61^{a}	10.67 ± 0.46^{a}
Liver			
FM	513.4 ± 2.1^{b}	63.2 ± 4.9^{b}	$12.36 \pm 1.28^{\circ}$
25SBM	759.9 ± 12.6^{a}	$80.4\pm9.3^{\rm a}$	32.20 ± 4.55^{a}
25CKJ	680.4 ± 10.7^{ab}	69.9 ± 1.7^{ab}	21.08 ± 0.18^{b}

 Table 1.14. Concentration of polyphenol compounds and flavonoids and DPPH

 radical scavenging activity (DPPHRS) in muscle and liver of parrot fish fed the

 experimental diets for 4 weeks*

*Values presented are as means \pm SD of triplicates. Value in the same column having

different letters is significantly different (P < 0.05).



Figure 1.7. Relationship between concentration of muscle polyphenol compounds and muscle DPPH radical scavenging activity in parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks



Figure 1.8. Relationship between concentration of muscle flavonoids and muscle DPPH radical scavenging activity in parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 4 weeks

1.4. DISCUSSION

Growth performance of parrot fish fed the diets containing 25% CKJ or 25% SBM was comparable to that of the control diet (Table 1.4). Low growth rate was observed in this feeding trial because of low water temperature (~15 °C). No significant differences were found in growth performance, muscle compositions, morphological parameters, hematocrit and serum cholesterol and triglyceride (Table 1.4~1.7). It suggests that 25% dietary fish meal protein can be replaced with SBM or CKJ with supplementation of methionine and lysine in parrot fish.

Parrot fish has been considered as a potential candidate for marine intensive aquaculture in Korea. However, there have been few works on this species to date (An et al., 2006; Cho et al., 2006; Choi et al., 2006; Jung and Oh, 2000; Lee et al., 2004; Makino et al., 2006; Nam et al., 2005; Oh et al., 2006; Tachibana et al., 1997; Wang et al., 2003). Recently, the outbreak of diseases has been announced to result in severe economic loss. Therefore, finding a method to prevent the infection of diseases is prioritized for aquaculture development of parrot fish. Unlike terrestrial animals, innate immune response plays more crucial important role in preventing diseases in fish (Ellis 2001; Kollner et al., 2002; Magnadottir 2006). Recently many studies have been reported that the innate immune response can be enhanced by dietary supplementation of some immunostimulants, such as vitamin C (Ai et al., 2004; Lin and Shiau, 2005a; Xie et al., 2006), vitamin E (Lin and Shiau, 2005b; Puang et al., 2004), β -glucan (Kumari and Sahoo, 2006) and other components. Use of natural products, such as fermented materials as immunostimulants, has been promoted in aquaculture because it is cheap, easy to treat, and rich in bioactive

compounds (Ashida et al., 2002). CKJ has been reported to have many beneficial effects on antimicrobial, anticarcinogenic, and antioxidant activities (Kim et al., 1998; Kim et al., 1999; Kim et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2005; Mine et al., 2005; Shon et al., 2007; Youn et al., 2001). However, in the present feeding trial, there were no clear effects of dietary supplementation of CKJ on serum lysozyme, respiratory burst and liver DPPH radical scavenging activities in parrot fish after 4 weeks of feeding trial. Contrastingly, several studies demonstrated that fermented vegetable products reduced oxidative stress, suppressed the lipid peroxidation, enhanced the antioxidant, and increased the phagocytic and lysozyme activities in Japanese flounder, Paralichthys olivaceus (Ashida et al., 2002; Ashida and Okimasu, 2005; Ashida et al., 2006). It was notable that there were some differences between the present feeding trial and the others. Firstly, different method in administration of the fermented products was used in the present feeding trial. In the others, only extractants of fermented products were used instead of whole fermented products. The condensed bioactive compounds in the extractant could increase their absorption, and thereby it could be more effective in enhancing the immune response of the fish. Secondly, a highly fluctuation of water temperature (from 27 °C at the beginning to 15 °C at the end of the present feeding trial) during feeding period might have also affected the immune response of fish. Kumari et al. (2006) reported that the seasonal variation of temperature remarkably had fluctuated innate immune parameters including serum myeloperoxidase, lysozyme, haemagglutination and alternative complement activities in Asian catfish.

Interestingly, the present feeding trial demonstrated that 25% dietary CKJ

significantly increased superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity in liver of fish (Fig. 1.1). The effects of dietary CKJ on liver antioxidant defense enzymes, such as SOD, could result in increased oxidant scavenging activities. Higher superoxide anion radical scavenging (SRS) activities in the diet supplemented 25% CKJ (Table 1.8) might have increased the SOD activity in the liver of fish fed the CKJ containing diet. The elevation of liver SOD activity consequently inhibits the generation of thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS, Fig. 1.2). It is well demonstrated that liver SOD and lipid peroxidation are influenced by dietary antioxidants. Ashida et al. (2002) reported that administration of fermented vegetable products significantly inhibited the lipid peroxidation of erythrocytes induced by tert-butyl hydroperoxide *in vivo*.

Dietary inclusion level up to 25% fish meal by either SBM or CKJ with supplementation of monocalcium phosphate did not alter the dietary total phosphorus concentration. However, concentration of inorganic phosphorus in the diet containing 25% CKJ was significantly higher than that of the control and 25SBM diets (Table 1.9). It is apparent that some natural microorganisms in CKJ could synthesize phytase that can liberate orthophosphate from soybean phytate, and consequently result in higher concentration of phosphorus in serum of fish fed the 25CKJ diet. Matsui et al. (1996) and Hirabayashi et al. (1998) concluded that *Aspergillus usami* fermentation could improve phosphorus availability of soya bean meal in chicks and the supplemented fermented soybean meal with *Aspergillus oryzae* had higher concentration of plasma phosphorus and IgM, compared to those of animals fed the SBM-based diet (Feng et al., 2007a). In addition, the increment of some digestive

enzymes, such as total proteases and trypsin activity in the animals fed the diets supplemented with fermented soybean meal also could enhance the absorption of nutrients and result in their higher contents in plasma (Feng et al., 2007b).

Ascorbic acid (vitamin C) is an essential vitamin, response for normal physiological functions in animals and it also acts as an antioxidant vitamin which can enhance non-specific immune responses and diseases resistant in farmed fishes (Chew 1996; Mulero et al., 1998; Ortuno et al., 2001; Guesta et al., 2002; Ai et al., 2004). Ai et al. (2004) reported that the ascorbic acid concentrations in muscle and liver of Japanese seabass correlated positively with dietary AA contents. In the present feeding trial, the high concentration of other antioxidants compounds in the experimental diets and tissues, such as polyphenol compounds and flavonoids could have some sparing effects of AA concentrations. It suggests that the increase of some immune responses in parrot fish could be consequences of higher AA concentration.

Fermentations have been reported to improve the antioxidant capacity of plant protein sources (Doblado et al., 2005). In the present feeding trial, higher concentration of the antioxidant compounds, such as polyphenol compounds and flavonoids in the diet containing CKJ could result in the increase of radicals scavenging activity in the tissues of fish. Fang et al. (2002) elucidated that antioxidants and antioxidant enzymes exert synergistic action in scavenging radicals.

1.5. CONCLUSION

The present results suggest that dietary CKJ significantly increased liver superoxide dismutase and antioxidant activities in muscle and liver of growing parrot fish after four week feeding trial. Fermentation process in CKJ might increase the availability of phosphorus in parrot fish. To evaluate immunostimulatory effects of dietary CKJ in parrot fish, a long term feeding trial with dietary CKJ extract is recommended for further study.



CHAPTER II

EFFECTS OF DIETARY MEJU ON GROWTH PERFORMANCE,

PHOSPHORUS RETENTION AND IMMUNE RESPONSE IN

JUVENILE OLIVE FLOUNDER, Paralichthys olivaceus



ABSTRACT

An eight-week feeding trial was conducted to investigate the effects of dietary Meju (Korean traditional fermented soybean) on growth performance, feed utilization, phosphorus retention, and immune response in juvenile (mean body weight of 10 g/fish) olive flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*. Three isonitrogenous and isocaloric experimental diets supplemented with 0, 3 and 6% Meju (designated as Meju 0, Meju 3, and Meju 6) were formulated. After eight weeks of feeding trial, growth performance, feed utilization and survival were not different among all the fish groups fed all the experimental diets. Higher dietary inorganic phosphorus content was observed in the diet containing 6% Meju compared to the control diet. Phosphorus retention in juvenile olive flounder fed the Meju 6 diet was significantly higher than that of fish fed the control diet. Liver superoxide dismutase activity in the fish fed the experimental diets linearly increased with increment of dietary Meju supplementation level. In conclusion, dietary supplementation of Meju at 6% could increase phosphorus retention and enhance liver SOD activity in juvenile olive flounder.

2.1. INTRODUCTION

Olive flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*, is the most important marine cultured species in Korea, Japan and China. Its aquaculture production increased from 1,037mt in 1990 to 34,533mt in 2004 (Ministry of Maritime Affairs and Fisheries 2004) and contributed over 90% finfish aquaculture production in Korea. However, one of the current problems in olive flounder aquaculture is the fact that farmers use a large quantity of antibiotics to prevent the species from bacterial diseases. Moreover, residual of antibiotics in aquaculture products are being seriously concerned by consumers. Administration of natural bioactive compounds which can enhance immune responses and disease resistances of cultured fish might be a promising solution to avoid the use of antibiotics in olive flounder culture. Fermented products are very popular in oriental countries and have been reported to be rich in bioactive compounds. Recently, several studies reported that the use of fermented vegetable products could enhance non-specific immune response and disease resistances in fish (Ashida et al., 2002; Ashida and Okimasu, 2005; Ashida et al., 2006; Pham and Lee, 2007). The liver superoxide dismutase activity and DPPH radical scavenging activity in liver and muscle of parrot fish fed the diet containing 25% CKJ were significantly higher than those of fish fed the fish meal based diet (Chapter I). The diet 25CKJ had higher concentration of inorganic phosphorus, compared to the control and 25SBM diets (Pham and Lee, 2007).

Additionally, fermentations have been mentioned as the most effective techniques to improve palatability and flavor of soybean and reduce its antinutritional factors. The soy protein conversion ratio into amino acids in traditional

Korean soy-sauce fermentation is over 75%, approximately 15 times higher than feed protein conversion ratio in beef production and 6 times higher than that in pork production (Lee and Jul, 1982). Meju, a Korean traditional fermented soybean, is prepared by spontaneous fermentation (Fig. 2.1). The outer layer of Meju balls is covered with fungi such as Aspergillus sp., while on the inside bacteria, mainly Bacillus subtilis grow (Lee and Jul, 1982). It is recently commercialized and prepared using Aspergillus oryzae as a culture starter. Meju has been reported to have high antioxidant activity (Park and Jung, 2005). It possesses a beneficial mold Aspergillus oryzae that has been reported to be capable to produce extra-cellular enzymes, such as proteinases (Kundu et al., 1968; Kundu and Manna, 1975), alphaamylase (Kundu and Das, 1970; Yabuki et al., 1977) and carboxypeptidase (Blinkovshi et al., 1999), cellulose-degrading enzymes (Yamane et al., 2002), and phytases (Fujita et al., 2000; 2003a, b). Esaki et al. (1999) reported that A. oryzae can synthesize high antioxidant compounds such as 6-hydroxyldaidzein, 8hydroxydaidzein and 8-hydroxygenistein from soybean isoflavones. On the other hand, phytase, an enzyme synthesized during fermentation, can release orthophosphate from phytic acid that is composed of 70% phosphorus in plant protein sources. It was proposed that dietary inclusion of Meju could have beneficial effects on immune response and phosphorus utilization in animals, including fish. However, no information is available on the use of Meju in diets for olive flounder.

Therefore, the aim of the present experiment was to investigate the effects of Meju on growth performance, feed utilization, phosphorus retention and immune response in olive flounder fed the diets containing cottonseed and soybean meal.

Whole soybean
Ļ
Soak in water overnight
Cook for 2-3 hours
Mash and mold in 1 kg balls or blocks
Dry surface for one week
Hang on the ceiling with rice straw for 2 -3 months

Figure 2.1. Flow chart of preparation of Meju (Lee and Jul, 1982)


Figure 2.2. Meju was purchased from Meju Munhwa Co. Ltd., Korea

2.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.2.1. Experimental diets

Three experimental diets were formulated to be isonitrogenous and isocaloric in term of crude protein (54%) and gross energy (17.2 MJ/kg). The dietary formulation and proximate compositions are presented in Table 2.1, 2.2. Meju was supplemented in the experimental diets by 0, 3 and 6% (designated as Meju 0, Meju 3 and Meju 6, respectively) at the expense of soybean meal. Prior to its inclusion into diets, a dried Meju (purchased from Munwha-Meju Co., Daegu, Korea) was finely ground using grinding machine (MF 10 Basic, Germany). The proximate compositions of major protein sources used in the present feeding trial are given in Table 2.3. All dry ingredients were thoroughly mixed with 30% distilled water. Pellets were extruded through the meat chopper (SMC-12, Kuposlice, Busan, Korea) in 3.0 mm diameter and dried by an electric fan at room temperature for 24 h. The pellets were crushed into desirable particle sizes (0.4 - 2.0 mm) and stored at -20 °C until use.

2.2.2. Fish, facility and feeding trial

Olive flounder juveniles were transported from a hatchery in Jeju Island to Marine and Environmental Research Institute, Cheju National University. One hundred and eighty fish (initial body weight of 10 g/fish) were randomly distributed into nine 35 L plastic tanks (20 fish per tank) in a flow through system supplied with sand filtered seawater at a flow rate of 3 L/min. One of three experimental diets was fed to triplicate groups of fish at feeding rate of 3.5% BW per day, twice a day, 7 days a week, for 8 weeks. The growth of fish was measured every two weeks and feeding rate was adjusted accordingly. Feeding was stopped 24 h prior to weighing.



	Diets		
Ingredients	Meju 0	Meju 3	Meju 6
White fish meal	48.0	48.0	48.0
Soybean meal	9.0	6.0	3.0
Meju	0.0	3.0	6.0
Cottonseed meal ¹	8.0	8.0	8.0
Corn gluten meal	8.0	8.0	8.0
Wheat flour	13.4	13.8	14.2
Yeast	2.0	2.0	2.0
Mineral premix ²	0.5	0.5	0.5
Vitamin premix ³	0.5	0.5	0.5
Vitamin C and E	0.5	0.5	0.5
Choline chloride	0.1	0.1	0.1
Squid liver oil	9.0	8.6	8.2
СМС	1.0	1.0	1.0

Table 2.1. Formulation of the experimental diets (% DM)

¹Cottonseed meal was purchased from Southern Cotton Oil Co., Memphis,

Tennessee 38108, USA.

² Mineral premix was mentioned in Chapter I.

³ Vitamin premix was mentioned in Chapter I.

CMC: carboxymethyl cellulose.

	Diets		
Proximate composition	Meju 0	Meju 3	Meju 6
Dry matter, %	94.8	93.2	94.0
Protein, % DM	52.7	52.8	52.0
Lipid, % DM	14.1	13.4	14.7
Ash, % DM	7.9	8.3	8.3
Total phosphorus, mg/g DM	6.4	5.7	5.5
Gross energy, MJ/kg DM ¹	17.2	17.2	17.2

Table 2.2. Proximate compositions and energy of the experimental diets (% DM)

¹Energy in experimental diets was measured using a bomb calorimeter (Parr Instrument Company, Moline, IL, USA).

NFE¹ Ingredients Protein Lipid Moisture Ash White fish meal 8.56 0.32 14.07 8.72 68.33 Soybean meal 11.68 46.91 2.52 36.44 6.54 Cottonseed meal² 3.18 34.52 11.40 43.54 7.36 Corn gluten meal 9.50 61.70 1.03 26.59 1.18 Meju 10.85 41.42 17.93 24.54 5.62

 Table 2.3. Proximate compositions of the ingredients used in the diets (% DM)

¹Nitrogen Free Extracts = 100 - (%Moisture + %CP + %Lipid + %Ash).

²Cottonseed meal was purchased from Southern Cotton Oil Co., Memphis,

Tennessee 38108, USA.

2.2.3. Growth performance and feed utilization

At the beginning and the end of feeding trial, all fish were weighed and counted for weight gain, feed conversion ratio, protein efficiency ratio, specific growth rate, and survival calculation. Three fish per tank (nine fish per diet) were sampled and stored at -20 °C for whole body proximate compositions analysis. Analysis of crude protein, moisture, and ash were performed using the standard procedures (AOAC, 1995). Lipid was determined according to the method described by Folch et al. (1957).

2.2.4. Hematological parameters

At the end of feeding trial, three fish per tank (nine fish per diet) were randomly selected and anesthetized using tricaine methane sulfonate (MS-222) solution (100 mg/L). Blood was taken from caudal veins by heparinsed syringes. Hematocrit was determined using a VS-12000 (Vision Scientific Co. Ltd., Korea). Hemoglobin was determined by the method described in Pham et al. (2007).

2.2.5. Respiratory burst activity assay

Respiratory burst was measured by the nitro-blue-tetrazolium (NBT) assay described by Anderson and Siwicki (1995) with modificantion by Kumari and Sahoo (2005). Blood and 0.2% NBT were mixed in equal proportion (1:1), incubated for 30 min at room temperature, then 50 μ L was taken out and dispensed in glass tubes. Then, 1 mL dimethyl formamide (DMF) was added and centrifuged at 2000 x g for 5 min. The OD of supernatant was measured at 540 nm. DMF was used as the blank.

2.2.6. Phosphorus measurements

The experimental diets and fish tissues were digested with 10 mL of a mixture of concentrated H₂SO₄ and HNO₃ (1:1; v:v) in Kjeldahl flasks. The digested mixture was volumed up to 100 mL with distilled water and used for total phosphorus measurement. Inorganic phosphorus of the experimental diets was extracted with 12.3% trichloroacetic acid solution using a shaker (WiseCube, DAIHAN Scientific, Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea) for 12 h at room temperature. After centrifugation at 2000 x g for 20 min, the supernatant was used for measurement of inorganic phosphorus. Phosphorus concentration was measured using spectrophotometrically method described by Nahapetian and Bassiri (1975). Phosphorus retention (PtR, %) was calculated by the following equation described by Nordrum et al. (1997): PtR=100 x (final body phosphorus - initial body phosphorus)/dietary phosphorus consumed.

2.2.7. Liver superoxide dismutase assay

Fish liver was homogenized in 9 volumes of 20 mM phosphate buffer pH 7.4 containing 1 mM EDTA and 0.1% Triton X-100. The homogenate was centrifuged at 10000 rpm to remove debris. The supernatants were used for superoxide dismutase assay according to method of Ukeda et al. (1999). Protein content in the supernatants was measured using method of Bradford (1976).

2.2.8. Measurement of total polyphenol compounds

Concentration of total polyphenol compounds in the experimental diets was measured using a method described by Skerget et al. (2005). The final value was expressed in equivalent of gram of gallic acid per kilogram of dry diet.

2.2.9. Measurement of total flavonoids

Total flavonoids concentration in the experimental diets was measured using colorimetric method (Moreno et al., 2000). One gram of the experimental diet was extracted in 50 mL of 80% ethanol in a shaker (Wise Cube, DAIHAN Scientific, C o., Ltd., Seoul, Korea) for 24 h at room temperature. The solution was centrif uged at 27,000 rpm for 20 min. The supernatant was used for total flavonoids assay. Total flavonoids content was expressed in mg of quercetin/g DM.

2.2.10. DPPH radical scavenging activity

Antioxidant activity of the experimental diets was measured using 1,1diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging assay described by Brand-Williams et al. (1995) with some modifications. Two g of diets (3 replicates per diet) were homogenized in 20 mL aqueous methanol (80%) and kept at room temperature for 10 min. The homogenates were centrifuged at 5000 rpm and 4 °C for 10 min. The supernatant was filtered through a 0.45 μ m syringe filter (Whatman Inc., Clifton, NJ) and used for DPPH and superoxide anion radical scavenging activities. One hundred μ L of filtered extract was pipetted into a 1.5 mL cuvette, then 900 μ L of DPPH methanolic solution (100 μ M) was added to obtain a final volume of 1 mL. The absorbance of the mixture was measured at 517 nm with 1 min intervals for 10 min using a spectrophotometer (Genesys 10 UV, Rochester, NY, USA). The antioxidant activity of the extract against the DPPH radicals was calculated Percent inhibition: $[(A_0 - A_s)/A_0] \times 100$, where A_0 and A_s are the absorbance at 0 and S min, respectively.

2.2.11. Superoxide anion radical scavenging activity

Superoxide anion radical scavenging activity in the experimental diets was evaluated using a method described by Nagai et al. (2001). The reaction solution consisted of 1.2 mL of 0.05 M sodium carbonate buffer (pH 10.5), 0.1 mL of 3 mM xanthine, 0.1 mL of 3 mM ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid di-sodium salt (EDTA) 0.1 mL of 0.15% bovine serum albumin, 0.1 mL of 0.75 mM nitro-blue-tetrazolium and 0.1 mL dietary extract. After incubation at 25 °C for 10 min, the reaction was initiated by adding 0.1 mL 6 mU xanthine oxidase and kept at 25 °C for 20 min. The reaction was stopped by adding 0.1 mL of 6 mM CuCl. The absorbance of the mixture was measured at 560 nm.

2.12. Statistical analysis

Data were subjected to one-way ANOVA in SPSS version 11.0. The significant differences between group means were compared using Duncan's multiple test. Data presented are means \pm SD. The percentage data of weight gain and specific growth rate were arcsine transformed before the ANOVA analysis. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05.

2.3. RESULTS

At the end of feeding trial, up to 6% of dietary inclusion level of Meju did not affect the growth performance and feed utilization of juvenile olive flounder. Survival of the fish fed all the experimental diets was greater than 90 % (Table 2.4).

Whole body proximate compositions of juvenile olive flounder fed the experimental diets for 8 weeks are presented in Table 2.5. There were no significant differences in protein, lipid, and ash of fish fed the experimental diets supplemented with Meju for 8 weeks.

Blood parameters are given in Table 2.6. Hematocrit and hemoglobin showed an increasing trend related to the increment of dietary Meju. The nitro-bluetetrazolium activity did not differ among fish groups fed the experimental diets.

Dietary inorganic phosphorus content was significantly increased with the increment of dietary Meju inclusion (Fig. 2.3). Significantly higher phosphorus retention was obtained in juvenile olive flounder fed the diet containing 6% of Meju (Fig. 2.4).

Liver superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity in juvenile olive flounder fed the experimental diets are presented in Figure 2.5. Liver SOD activity in the fish fed the diet containing 6% Meju was significantly higher than that of the fish fed the control diet. Concentrations of polyphenol compounds and flavonoids in the diets contained 6% Meju were significantly higher than those of the control diet (Fig. 2.6, 2.7). The antioxidant capacity of the experimental diets determined by 1,1-diphenyl-2-picryhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging assay was significantly higher in the diet

containing 6% Meju (Fig. 2.8). Superoxide anion radical scavenging activity of the experimental diets is presented in Figure 2.9. It was gradually increased with the increment of dietary inclusion of Meju. Dietary superoxide anion radical scavenging activity showed a positive relationship with liver SOD activity ($R^2 = 0.79$).



 Table 2.4. Growth performance and feed utilization of juvenile olive flounder fed the

 experimental diets for 8 weeks*

Diets	Meju 0	Meju 3	Meju 6	
Initial body weight, g	9.90 ± 0.36	10.11 ± 0.36	9.78 ± 0.06	
Final body weight, g	65.54 ± 1.82	67.63 ± 5.59	63.24 ± 1.08	
Weight gain (WG) ¹	562.8 ± 36.6	569.4 ± 64.3	546.5 ± 14.6	
Specific growth rate (SGR) ²	1.17 ± 0.03	1.18 ± 0.06	1.16 ± 0.01	
Nitrogen retention (NR) ³	43.76 ± 2.02	41.07 ± 4.01	42.39 ± 1.39	
Protein efficiency ratio (PER) ⁴	2.26 ± 0.11	2.12 ± 0.22	2.22 ± 0.07	
Feed conversion ratio (FCR) ⁵	0.86 ± 0.04	0.94 ± 0.09	0.88 ± 0.03	
Feed intake (FI) ⁶	0.70 ± 0.04	0.75 ± 0.08	0.70 ± 0.02	
Survival, %	93.2 ± 5.9	90.4 ± 5.1	95.0 ± 0.0	

*Values presented are means ± SD. Value in the same row having different

superscripts is significantly different (P < 0.05).

 1 WG (%) = 100 x (FBW - IBW)/IBW.

 2 SGR (%) = [(ln FBW - ln IBW)/days] x 100.

 3 NR (%) = 100 x (FBW x final CP – IBW x initial CP)/CP intake.

⁴ PER = wet weight gain/ total protein given.

⁵ FCR = dry feed fed/wet weight gain.

 6 FI (g/g BW) = dry feed consumed/BW.

IBW and FBW: initial and final mean body weight, respectively.

BW: body weight.

 Table 2.5. Whole body compositions of juvenile olive flounder fed the experimental

 diets for 8 weeks*

Diets	Initial	Meju 0	Meju 3	Meju 6
Moisture content, %	78.7 ± 0.1	73.7 ± 0.5	73.4 ± 0.7	72.8 ± 0.6
Protein, % DM	74.3 ± 1.1	72.4 ± 0.4	70.7 ± 0.8	68.1 ± 2.3
Lipid, % DM	8.3 ± 0.1	14.5 ± 1.1	14.5 ± 1.8	13.7 ± 1.1
Ash, % DM	17.4 ± 0.2	13.3 ± 0.6	13.2 ± 0.6	13.5 ± 0.1

*Values presented are means \pm SD of triplicates. Value in the same row having

different superscripts is significantly different (P < 0.05).

 Table 2.6. Blood parameters of juvenile olive flounder fed the experimental diets for

 8 weeks*

Diets	Meju 0	Meju 3	Meju 6
Hematocrit, %	23.7 ± 3.2	26.0 ± 1.0	27.2 ± 2.9
Hemoglobin, g/dL	2.8 ± 0.5	2.9 ± 0.3	3.1 ± 0.4
Blood NBT, OD _{540 nm}	1.05 ± 0.03	1.25 ± 0.23	1.21 ± 0.05

*Values presented are means \pm SD. Value in the same row having different superscripts is significantly different (P < 0.05).

OD: optical density.



Figure 2.3. Concentration of inorganic phosphorus in the experimental diets containing Meju. Bar having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).



Figure 2.4. Phosphorus retention in juvenile olive flounder fed the experimental diets for 8 weeks. Bars having different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05).



Figure 2.5. Liver superoxide dismutase activity in juvenile olive flounder fed the experimental diets for 8 weeks. Bars having different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05).



Figure 2.6. Concentration of polyphenol compounds in the experimental diets containing Meju. Bars having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).



Figure 2.7. Concentration of flavonoids in the experimental diets containing Meju. Bars having different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05).



Figure 2.8. DPPH radical scavenging activity in the experimental diets containing Meju. Bars having different letters are significantly different (P < 0.05).



Figure 2.9. Superoxide anion radical scavenging activity in the experimental diets containing Meju. Bars having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).

2.4. DISCUSSION

No significant differences were observed in final body weight, weight gain, specific growth rate, nitrogen retention, protein efficiency ratio, feed conversion ratio and whole body compositions among fish groups fed all the experimental diets for 8 weeks. It suggests that supplementation up to 6% of Meju do not affect the palatability and acceptability of the diets containing cottonseed and soybean meal; thereby it does not impair the growth performance, feed utilization and whole body compositions of olive flounder. Survival of fish fed the experimental diets was comparable to that of fish fed the control diet. It indicates that dietary Meju inclusion up to 6% does not possess any mycotoxic compounds to juvenile olive flounder. Strong antimutagenicity of Meju against mycotoxic compounds including aflatoxin B1 was reported by Jung et al. (2000).

Hematocrit and hemoglobin showed an increasing trend related to the increment of dietary Meju inclusion levels. There were no significant differences in blood respiratory burst activity among fish groups fed the experimental diets. Up to date, there has been no information on the effects of dietary Meju on hematocrit and hemoglobin of animals. Further studies on the effects of Meju on hematological parameters in fish are recommended.

Dietary inorganic phosphorus content significantly increased with increment of Meju in the experimental diets. Higher phosphorus retention was obtained in juvenile olive flounder fed the diet Meju 6. Elevation of inorganic phosphorus in the experimental diets might be related to phytase enzymes produced by microorganisms in Meju. Park and Jung (2005) reported that the primary microorganisms involved in Meju fermentation are *Bacillus subtillis* and other filamentous fungi, such as Rizopus, Mucor, and Aspergillus sp. Particularly, Aspergillus oryzae has been reported to produce varieties of enzymes, such as phytases, cellulose-degrading enzymes, proteinases, alpha-amylase and carboxypaptidase (Kundu et al., 1968; Kundu and Das, 1970; Kundu and Manna, 1975; Yabuki et al., 1977; Blinkovshi et al., 1999; Yamane et al., 2002; Fujita et al., 2000, 2003a, b). In the present study, phytase produced by Meju microorganisms might have increased the dietary inorganic phosphorus and phosphorus retention in juvenile olive flounder fed the diet containing 6% Meju for 8 weeks. Masumoto et al. (2001) reported that a higher absorption of phosphorus was observed in juvenile olive flounder fed a diet containing soybean meal protein with phytase compared to fish fed the fish meal based diet. Moreover, Meju microorganisms, including A. oryzae and B. subtilis, could stimulate digestive enzymes and indirectly enhance absorbability of nutrients in fish. Yanbo and Zirong (2006) demonstrated that digestive enzymes of common carps significantly increased by feeding Bacillus sp. for 60 days and the effects of mix of probiotics were superior to a single one. There was a positive interaction between phytase, inorganic phosphorus on bone ash, bone phosphorus and whole body phosphorus concentration (Sajjadi and Carter, 2004). It is evident that the supplementation of soybean meal and its supplementation into diets containing cottonseed and soybean meal might improve phosphorus utilization in juvenile olive flounder.

Liver superoxide dismutase activity in juvenile olive flounder fed the experimental diets significantly increased with dietary Meju inclusion level as dose dependent-manner. Higher liver SOD activity in fish fed diet containing 6% Meju might be related to higher concentration of total polyphenol compounds and antioxidant activities in the experimental diet. Total polyphenol compounds concentration, DPPH and superoxide anion radical scavenging activities were gradually increased with increment of dietary Meju. Concentration of flavonoids in the diet containing 6% Meju was significantly higher than that of the control diet. There was a positive regression between dietary superoxide anion radical scavenging activity and liver SOD activity of fish fed the experimental diets. Aspergillus oryzae is main functional microorganisms and being used as fermentation starter in producing commercial Meju (Jung et al., 2006). Higher antioxidative and antimutagenic activities have been reported in fermented soybean meal with A. oryzae by Lin et al. (2006). The present findings are well agreement with our previous one. Pham and Lee (2007) reported that significantly increased liver SOD activity was observed in parrot fish Oplegnathus fasciatus fed the diet contained 25% Cheongkukjang, a another Korean fermented soybean, for 4 weeks. Microorganisms including A. oryzae and B. subtilis in Meju might also have stimulatory effects on production of liver SOD in juvenile olive flounder. The Meju microorganisms could also play a role as probiotics, particularly B. subtilis, a Gram-positive, aerobic, endospore forming bacterium which has been reported to be able to enhance the innate immune response and disease resistances of many fish species. Kumar et al. (2006) and Kumar et al. (2008) reported that Rohu, an Indian major carp, produced maximum per cent survival, weight gain, total blood leukocyte cell counts, hemoglobin contents, and total protein and globulin contents by oral administration of B. subtilis. The authors elucidated that the colonization of B. subtilis in fish gut

epithelium could reduce the risk of pathogenic bacteria infection and hence develop the ability to protect them from various diseases. Newaj-Fyzul et al. (2007) demonstrated that *Bacillus subtilis* AB1 was an effective probiotic at controlling the *Aeromonas* sp infection in rainbow trout. They proposed that the bacteria in live and inactivated cells and their subcellular components could have ability to stimulate innate immune systems in fish.

2.5. CONCLUSION

The supplementation of Meju up to 6% did not affect the palatability and acceptability of diets for juvenile olive flounder thereby did not impair growth performance, feed utilization and survival of the fish. Phosphorus retention and liver superoxide dismutase activity significantly increased in juvenile olive flounder fed the diet containing 6% Meju. The findings of the present feeding trial could be related to the functional microorganisms in Meju including *Aspergillus sp.* and *Bacillus sp.*

CHAPTER III

EFFECTS OF DIETARY FERMENTED SOYBEAN MEAL ON GROWTH PERFORMANCE AND NON-SPECIFIC IMMUNE RESPONSE OF PARROT FISH, Oplegnathus fasciatus

ABSTRACT

A six week feeding trial was conducted to investigate the effects of fermented soybean meal (F-SBM) with four microorganisms on growth performance, feed utilization and non-specific immune response of juvenile parrot fish, Oplegnathus fasciatus. Based on our previous findings (Pham and Lee, 2007; Chapter II), five isonitrogenous and isocaloric experimental diets (designated as SBM, SBM-AO, SBM-SC, SBM-PP, SBM-BS) were formulated to contain 20% SBM or F-SBM with one of the four microorganisms including Aspergillus oryzae, Sacchromyces cerevisiae, Pediococcus pentosaceus, or Bacillus subtilis, respectively. Diet containing SBM was considered as the control diet. After six weeks of feeding trial, superoxide anion concentration produced by blood leucocytes (NBT) was significantly higher in fish groups fed the diet SBM-AO and SBM-PP compared to the control diet. Liver catalase activity of fish fed the F-SBM diets was significantly higher than that of the control. Liver DPPH radical scavenging activity of fish fed the diet SBM-AO was significantly higher compared to the control diet, and strongly related to concentration of liver polyphenol compounds. Higher weight gain was observed in the control group, and positively contributed to the higher protein solubility and phosphorus retention ($R^2 = 0.98$ and 0.83, respectively). Survival did not differ among fish groups fed the experimental diets. Plasma cholesterol and triglycerides were altered by feeding of the diets containing F-SBM, and negatively related to the dietary flavonoids content ($R^2 = 0.56$ and 0.58, respectively). In conclusion, the diets containing F-SBM at inclusion level of 20% could enhance blood NBT and liver catalase activities of juvenile parrot fish after 6 week feeding

trial, regardless of microorganisms. Protein solubility is again proved as a useful indicator for quality control of heat treated soybean protein and affects the growth of juvenile parrot fish. An optimum temperature in treatment of soybean meal in aquafeed is necessary to be determined.



3.1. INTRODUCTION

Soybean meal (SBM) has long history use as protein sources for terrestrial and aquatic animals. It is well demonstrated that dietary inclusion of SBM at an optimum level could reduce feeds costs and did not affect growth performance of animals. However, fish species respond differently to the inclusion level of dietary SBM. Recently, many studies have been conducted to examine the use of SBM as alternative protein sources for fish meal in the diets for fish species including rainbow trout (Kaushik et al., 1995; Yamamoto et al., 1995; Refstie et al., 1997; Nordrum et al., 2000; Ogunkoya et al., 2006), Asia seabass (Boonyaratpalin et al., 1998; Tankikitti et al., 2005), European seabass (Kaushik et al., 2004), Atlantic salmon (Olli and Krogdahl, 1995; Refstie et al., 1998; Nordrum et al., 2000; Refstie et al., 2000), Atlantic cod (Olsen et al., 2007; Hansen et al., 2007), tin foil barb (Elangovan and Shim, 2000), cobia (Chou et al., 2004; Zhou et al., 2005), red snapper (Quartararo et al., 1998; Catacutan et al., 2004), gilthead sea bream (Robaina et al., 1995), sharpnout sea bream (Hernandez et al., 2007), Mediterranean yellowtail (Tomas et al., 2005), red sea bream (Biswas et al., 2007) and flounder (Kikuchi 1999; Saitoh et al., 2003). However, the presence of ANFs, such as trypsin inhibitors, phytic acid, saponins, non-digestible carbohydrates and lectins have been reported to restrict the use of SBM in aquaculture diets (NRC 1993; Francis et al., 2001). Therefore, a solution to increase SBM content in aqua-feeds is urgently needed.

On the other hand, SBM also contains large content of bioactive compounds which could enhance the immune responses of animals. Fermentation process has been reported to improve physical and nutritional quality of SBM, being considered as a prospective technique in utilization of plant original proteins for animals (Arndt et al., 1999; Feng et al., 2007; Frias et al., 2008; Refstie et al., 2005) and also increase its antioxidant capacity (Choi et al., 2008; Gyorgy et al., 1964; Fernandex-Orozco et al., 2007; Frias et al., 2008; Kim et al., 1998; Kim et al., 1999; Kim et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2008; Machado et al., 2008; Mine et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2000; Youn et al., 2001). Refstie et al. (2005) reported that the lactic acid fermentation improved the nutritional value of SBM by partly eliminating soybean allergens and soy factors that affect the absorption of lipid in Atlantic salmon. Machado et al. (2008) demonstrated that heating was sufficient in the urease, trypsin inhibitor and lectin inactivation and improvement of the nutritional quality of SBM. Yang et al. (2000) concluded that fermented soybean was superior to soybean and might be applied as potential antioxidants in functional food.

Therefore, purpose of the present feeding trial was to select a suitable microorganism for fermentation process and to investigate the effects of fermented soybean meal with different microorganisms on growth performance and immune response of juvenile parrot fish.

3.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.2.1 Fermentation of soybean meal

Aspergillus oryzae (AO) were purchased from Biotech Center, Korea. Three other bacteria strains including Sacchromyces cerevisiae-KCCM-53053 (SC), Pediococcus pentosaceus-KCCM-40820 (PP), and Baciilus subtillis-KCCM-40464 (BS) were obtained from Korean Culture Center of Microorganisms and grown on BHI broth at 25 °C (Difco Laboratories, Detroit, MI) and MRS broth (Difco Laboratories, Detroit, MI) for 24 h in Aquatic Pathological and Microbiological Laboratory, Department of Aquatic Medicine, Cheju National University. The harvested cells were washed three times with sterile saline solution and used as inocula. Dry SBM were soaked with distilled water at ratio of 1:3 (SBM: distilled water) for 1 h, and steamed for 1 h at approximately 100 °C. After cooling down at 40 °C in an incubator (Micro-253, Sanyo Electronic Co., Ltd., Japan), one of the four microorganisms including AO, SC, PP and BS were inoculated at 10^7 CFU/g of dry SBM and incubated at 30 °C for 8 h, and followed at 28 °C for 40 h (Fig. 3.1). Fermented SBM (F-SBM) was freeze dried at -40 °C for 24 h using a freeze drier (Operon FDT-8605, Korea) and finely ground prior to supplementing in the experimental diets.

3.2.2. Experimental diets

Five isonitrogenous (48% crude protein) and isocaloric (17.1 MJ/kg DM) the diets were formulated to containing 20% SBM or F-SBM with four different microorganisms including AO, SC, PP, and BS (designated as SBM, SBM-AO,

SBM-SC, SBM-PP and SBM-BS, respectively). Formulation and proximate compositions of the experimental diets are presented in Table 3.1 and 3.2. Methionine and lysine were supplemented in the experimental diets to meet their requirements of fish. All dry ingredients were thoroughly mixed with 30% distilled water. Pellets were extruded through the meat chopper machine (SMC-12, Korea) in 3.0 mm diameter size and dried using a freeze drier (Operon FDT-8605, Korea) for 24 h. The pellets were crushed into desirable particle sizes (0.4 - 2.0 mm) and stored at -20 °C until use.





Fig. 3.1. Flow chart of making fermented SBM with different microorganisms



Fig. 3.2. Fermented soybean meal with different microorganisms

	Diets				
Ingredients	SBM	SBM-AO ¹	SBM-SC ²	SBM-PP ³	SBM-BS ⁴
White fish meal	39.0	39.0	39.0	39.0	39.0
SBM	20.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Fermented SBM	0.0	20.0	20.0	20.0	20.0
Corn gluten meal	7.4	7.4	7.4	7.4	7.4
Starch	17.4	17.4	17.4	17.4	17.4
Yeast	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0
Mineral premix ⁵	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Vitamin premix ⁶	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Squid liver oil	8.7	8.7	8.7	8.7	8.7
Lysine	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4
Methionine	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4
МСР	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6
Cellulose	2.1	2.1	2.1	2.1	2.1

Table 3.1.	. Formulation	of the	experimental	diets	(% DM)
------------	---------------	--------	--------------	-------	--------

¹ SBM-AO: SBM fermented with Aspergillus oryzae, EasyBio Co. Ltd., Korea.

² SBM-SC: soybean meal fermented with *Sacchromyces cerevisiae* KCMM-35053.

³ SBM-PP: soybean meal fermented with *Pediococcus pentosaceus* KCMM-40820.

⁴ SBM-BS: soybean meal fermented with *Bacillus subtilis* - KCMM-40464.

⁵Mineral premix was mentioned in Chapter I.

⁶ Vitamin premix was mentioned in Chapter I.

MCP: mono calcium phosphate.
		Diets			
	SBM	SBM-AO ¹	SBM-SC ²	SBM-PP ³	SBM-BS ⁴
Dry matter, %	90.7	86.0	85.1	88.3	87.1
Protein, % DM	47.5	48.7	48.3	48.1	48.4
Lipid, % DM	12.1	12.4	12.8	12.7	12.5
Ash, % DM	9.3	9.5	9.2	9.2	9.3
рН	6.1	6.4	5.9	5.9	6.1
PS (%)	39.7 ^a	38.4 ^b	35.2 ^c	34.3 ^d	38.2 ^b
GE, MJ/kg DM	17.1	17.1	17.1	17.1	17.1

Table 3.2. Compositions, pH and protein solubility of the experimental diets*

*Values in the same row having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).

¹ SBM-AO: SBM fermented with Aspergillus oryzae, EasyBio Co. Ltd., Korea

² SBM-SC: SBM fermented with *Sacchromyces cerevisiae* KCMM-35053.

³ SBM-PP: SBM fermented with *Pediococcus pentosaceus* KCMM-40820.

⁴ SBM-BS: SBM fermented with *Bacillus subtilis* KCMM-40464.

PS: protein solubility.

GE: Gross energy

3.2.3. Fish and feeding trial

Parrot fish juveniles were transported from a private hatchery in Jeju Island to Marine and Environmental Research Institute, Cheju National University. Fish were fed a commercial diet for 2 weeks in a 1000 L tank. Four hundred and fifty fish (initial body weight of 13.0 ± 0.2 g) were randomly distributed into fifteen 150 L tanks (30 fish per tank) in a flow through system supplied with sand filtered seawater at a flow rate of 3 L/min. One of the five experimental diets was fed to triplicate groups of fish at feeding rate of 3.5% body weight, twice a day (8:00 and 18:00), 7 days a week, for 6 weeks. The growth of fish was measured every three weeks and feeding rate was adjusted accordingly. Feeding was stopped 24 h prior to weighing.

3.2.4. Growth performance and feed utilization

At the beginning and the end of feeding trial, all fish were weighed and counted for weight gain, feed conversion ratio, protein efficiency ratio, specific growth rate and survival calculation. Three fish from each tank (9 fish per diet) were randomly sampled and stored at -20 °C for proximate compositions analysis. Analysis of crude protein, moisture and ash were performed using the standard procedures (AOAC 1995). Lipid was determined using Soxhlet System (SH6, Korea).

3.2.5. Morphological parameters

The total length, body weight, liver weight and gonad weight of 9 fish per diet (3 fish per tank) were individually measured. Condition factors (CF), hepato somatic index (HSI) and gonad somatic index (GSI) were calculated.

3.2.6. Hematological parameters

At the end of feeding trial, 3 fish per tank (9 fish per diet) were anesthetized in tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222) solution (100 mg/L). Blood was taken from caudal veins using non-heparinsed syringes. Hematocrit was measured using a Microhematocrit VS-12000 (Vision Scientific Co., Ltd, Korea). The remained blood samples were centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C and collected plasma was used for cholesterol and triglyceride analysis. Plasma cholesterol and triglyceride were measured using a Photometer CH100 Plus (Calenzano, Firenze, Italy).

3.2.7. Respiratory burst assay

Superoxide anion content produced by blood leukocytes during respiratory burst was measured using nitro-blue-tetrazolium (NBT) assay described by Anderson and Siwicki (1995) with some modified by Kumari and Sahoo (2005).

3.2.8. Lysozyme activity

Plasma lysozyme activity in parrot fish fed the diets containing F-SBM was measured using a colorimetrical method. Plasma sample was added in *Micrococcus lysodeikticus* suspension (0.2 mg/ml *M. lysodeikticus* in 0.02 M sodium citrate buffer) at 1: 10 ratio. Initial optical density was measured immediately after adding plasma. After incubating for 5 min at room temperature, final optical density was measured at 450 nm using an UV/VIS spectrophotometer (DU 730, Beckman, USA). Hen egg white lysozyme (HEWL, Sigma) was used as standard. Lysozyme values were expressed as µg/ml equivalent of HEWL activity.

3.2.9. Liver superoxide dismutase assay

Fish liver was homogenized in 9 volumes of 20 mM phosphate buffer pH 7.4 containing 1 mM EDTA and 0.1% Triton X-100. The homogenate was centrifuged at 10000 rpm to remove debris. The supernatants were used for superoxide dismutase assay according to method of Ukeda et al. (1999). Protein content in the supernatants was measured using a method of Bradford (1976).

3.2.10. Liver catalase assay

Catalase activity was measured based on the bleaching ability of H_2O_2 to potassium permanganate as method of Cohen et al. (1970). The reaction mixture consisted of 100 µL sample supernatant and 1 mL 6 mM H_2O_2 was incubated for 3 min on ice. After incubation on ice, 200 µL 6 N H_2SO_4 was added to stop the reactions, and 1.4 mL 2mM KMnO₄ was added to each tube. The mixture was vortexed and the optical density was measured within 60 seconds using a spectrophotometer (Genesys 10 UV, Rochester, NY, USA) at 480 nm. The 0.25 M sucrose buffer and water were used as blank and standard, respectively. The optical densities were converted into units of catalase/mg protein based on following equation: 1 unit = k/0.00693.

3.2.11. Measurement of total polyphenol compounds

Total polyphenol compounds in the experimental diets and liver of fish were spectrophotometrically measured using a method described by Skerget et al. (2005). The results were expressed in equivalent of gram of gallic acid per kilogram of DM.

3.2.12. Measurement of total flavonoids

Total flavonoids concentration in the experimental diets was measured using colorimetric method (Moreno et al., 2000). One gram of the experimental diet or 0.5 g of liver was extracted in 10 mL of 80% ethanol using a shaker (Wise Cube, DAIHAN Scientific, Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea) for 24 h at room temperature. The solution was centrifuged at 27000 rpm for 20 min. The supernatant was used for total flavonoids assay. Flavonoids concentration was expressed in equivalent of mg of quercetin/g DM.

3.2.13. DPPH radical scavenging activity

Antioxidant activity of liver was measured using 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging assay described by Brand-Williams et al. (1995) with some modifications. One g of diets (3 replicates per diet) or 0.1 g of liver were homogenized in 1 mL aqueous methanol (80%) and kept at room temperature for 10 min. The homogenates were centrifuged at 5.000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was filtered through a 0.45 µm syringe filter (Whatman Inc., Clifton, NJ) and used for DPPH assay. One hundred µL of filtered extract was pipetted into a 1.5 mL cuvette, then 900 µL of DPPH methanolic solution (100 µM) was added to obtain a final volume of 1 mL. The absorbance of the mixture was measured at 517 nm with 1 min intervals for 10 min using a spectrophotometer (Genesys 10 UV, Rochester, NY, USA). The antioxidant activity of the extract against the DPPH radicals was calculated as percent inhibition. Percent inhibition = $[(A_0 - A_s)/A_0]$ x 100, where A_0 and A_s are the absorbance of sample at 0 and S min, respectively.

3.2.14. Dietary pH

One gram of the experimental diets was homogenized in 10 mL distilled water for 1 min. The mixture was kept for 15 min at room temperature. pH of mixture was measured by a pH meter (Seveneasy pH meter, Mettler Toledo GmbH, Switzerland).

3.2.15. Protein solubility

Protein solubility in the experimental diets containing F-SBM was determined using 0.2% KOH solution (Araba and Dale, 1990). After extraction, solid particles were removed by centrifugation at 1250 x g for 10 min (VS-550, Vision Scientific Co., Ltd. Korea) and soluble protein in the supernatants was measured using Kjeltec 2300 (Foss Korea Ltd., Korea).

3.2.16. Dietary amino acids analysis

Concentrations of amino acids of the experimental diets containing F-SBM with different microorganisms were measured by Woo Sung Feed Co. Ltd., Korea.

3.2.17. Phosphorus measurements

The experimental diets and fish tissues were digested with 10 mL of a mixture of concentrated H₂SO₄ and HNO₃ (1:1; v:v) in Kjeldahl flasks. The digested mixture was volumed up to 100 mL with distilled water and used for total phosphorus measurement. Inorganic phosphorus of the experimental diets was extracted with 12.3% trichloroacetic acid solution using a shaker (WiseCube, DAIHAN Scientific, Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea) for 12 h at room temperature. After centrifugation at 2000 x g for 20 min, the supernatant was used for measurement of inorganic phosphorus. Phosphorus concentration was measured using spectrophotometrically method described by Nahapetian and Bassiri (1975). Phosphorus retention was calculated as the equation described by Nordrum et al. (1997): Phosphorus retention (%) = 100 x (final body phosphorus - initial body phosphorus)/dietary phosphorus consumed.

3.2.18. Statistical analysis

Data were subjected to one-way ANOVA in SPSS version 11.0 for Windows. The significant differences between group means were compared using Duncan's multiple test. Data presented are means \pm SD. The percentage data of weight gain and specific growth rate were arcsine transformed before the ANOVA analysis. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05.



3.3. RESULTS

In the present feeding trial, dietary protein, lipid, ash contents and pH did not differ among the experimental diets. However, protein solubility of the control diet was significantly higher than that of the diets contained the F-SBM (Table 3.2). The contents of amino acids in the experimental diets are given in Table 3.3. The total essential amino acids significantly decreased in the F-SBM diets.

Growth performance and feed utilization of fish fed the experimental diets are presented in Table 3.4. Highest weight gain, protein efficiency ratio and nitrogen retention were observed in the fish group fed the diet SBM, followed by SBM-AO, SBM-BS, SBM-PP and SBM-SC, respectively. However, feed intake showed highest value in the fish group fed the SBM-SC diet, followed by SBM-PP, SBM-AO, SBM-BS, and lowest in fish group fed the control diet. Positively relationship was observed between growth performance of fish and dietary protein solubility ($R^2 =$ 0.83). There were no significant differences in survival of among all the fish groups fed all the experimental diets.

Whole body compositions of the fish fed the experimental diets are given in Table 3.5. Whole body moisture, protein and ash contents did not differ within the fish groups fed the experimental diets. However, whole body lipid content of fish fed the control diet was significantly higher than that of fish fed SBM-SC, SBM-PP and SBM-BS diets. There were no significant differences in whole body lipid content among the fish groups fed the diets containing F-SBM.

No significant differences were observed in morphological parameters of juvenile parrot fish fed all the experimental diets for 6 weeks (Table 3.6).

F-SBM did not influence dietary total phosphorus, inorganic phosphorus. No differences were observed in plasma and whole body phosphorus contents among fish groups fed the experimental diets. However, highest phosphorus retention was observed in the fish fed the SBM diet, followed by SBM-BS, SBM-AO, SBM-SC and SBM-PP, respectively (Table 3.7). Phosphorus retention also had positively relationship to growth performance of the fish fed the experimental diets.

Blood parameters of the fish fed the experimental diets are given in Table 3.8. No significant differences were observed in hematocrit (Ht), hemoglobin (Hb), plasma protein and glucose contents among fish groups fed all the experimental diets. Plasma triglyceride and cholesterol in the fish fed SBM-SC, SBM-PP and SBM-BS diets were significantly higher than those of the fish fed the control diet. There were no significant differences in plasma triglyceride and cholesterol among fish fed the F-SBM. Plasma lysozyme and superoxide dismutase did not influenced by F-SBM. Respiratory burst activity of blood leukocytes was measured by nitro blue tetrazolium assay. The fish fed the diets SBM-AO and SBM-PP showed higher NBT activity than that of fish fed the control diet.

F-SBM significantly enhanced liver catalase activity, regardless of different microorganisms. No significant differences in liver SOD and lipid peroxidation were observed among fish groups fed all the experimental diets (Table 3.9).

Liver DPPH activity in fish fed the SBM-AO diet was significantly higher than that of fish fed the control diet. Liver antioxidant activity seemed to be attributed by the dietary total polyphenol compounds and positively associated with liver concentration of polyphenol compounds (Table 3.10).

Diets	SBM	SBM-AO ¹	SBM-SC ²	SBM-PP ³	SBM-BS ⁴
Arginine	2.62	2.61	2.54	2.23	2.28
Histidine	1.19	1.21	1.21	1.20	1.17
Isoleucine	1.62	1.16	1.48	1.58	1.54
Leucine	2.97	2.31	2.65	2.92	2.66
Lysine	3.44	3.91	3.69	3.01	3.13
Methionine	1.00	1.20	0.93	0.94	0.89
Cysteine	0.37	0.49	0.34	0.35	0.33
Phenylalanine	1.77	0.90	1.56	1.66	1.74
Threonine	2.54	3.66	1.50	1.57	1.63
Valine	2.06	1.21	0.80	1.50	1.64
Alanine	4.68	3.61	6.82	2.11	1.87
Aspartic acid	4.77	6.83	2.91	3.49	3.49
Glutamic acid	6.10	6.49	6.05	5.67	5.39
Glycine	2.18	1.50	2.09	2.00	2.04
Serine	2.79	4.31	3.77	1.45	1.53
EAAs	19.21	18.17	16.36	16.61	16.68
N-EAAs	20.89	23.23	21.98	15.07	14.65
Total	40.10	41.40	38.34	31.68	31.33

 Table 3.3. Concentrations of amino acids in the experimental diets (%)

¹ SBM-AO: SBM fermented with *Aspergillus oryzae*, EasyBio Co. Ltd., Korea.

² SBM-SC: SBM fermented with *Sacchromyces cerevisiae* KCMM-35053.

³ SBM-PP: SBM fermented with *Pediococcus pentosaceus* KCMM-40820.

⁴ SBM-BS: SBM fermented with *Bacillus subtilis* - KCMM-40464.

EAAs: Essential amino acids. N-EAAs: Non essential amino acids.

Diets	SBM	SBM-AO ¹	SBM-SC ²	SBM-PP ³	SBM-BS ⁴
FBW (g)	$25.8\pm1.0^{\rm a}$	$23.5\pm0.2^{\rm b}$	20.4 ± 1.0^{d}	$21.8\pm0.4^{\rm c}$	$23.3\pm0.3^{\rm b}$
WG $(\%)^{5}$	$94.8\pm5.5^{\rm a}$	80.7 ± 2.5^{b}	56.0 ± 6.9^{d}	$65.5 \pm 2.3^{\circ}$	79.1 ± 3.7^{b}
SGR $(\%)^{6}$	$1.59\pm0.07^{\rm a}$	$1.41\pm0.03^{\rm b}$	$1.14 \pm 0.0^{\rm c}$	$1.20\pm0.03^{\rm c}$	1.39 ± 0.1^{b}
NR $(\%)^7$	$33.9 \pm 1.5^{\rm a}$	$29.8\pm0.8^{\rm b}$	22.2 ± 0.3^{e}	$25.5\pm0.7^{\rm d}$	$27.9\pm0.9^{\rm c}$
PER ⁸	1.97 ± 0.1^{a}	1.73 ± 0.1^{b}	1.37 ± 0.0^{d}	$1.48 \pm 0.0^{\circ}$	$1.70\pm0.1^{\mathrm{b}}$
FCR ⁹	1.07 ± 0.1^{d}	$1.19 \pm 0.0^{\rm c}$	$1.51 \pm 0.0^{\mathrm{a}}$	1.41 ± 0.0^{b}	$1.22 \pm 0.0^{\rm c}$
FI ¹⁰	$0.51 \pm 0.0^{\circ}$	$0.53 \pm 0.0^{\mathrm{bc}}$	$0.57 \pm 0.0^{\mathrm{a}}$	$0.56 \pm 0.0^{\mathrm{a}}$	$0.53\pm0.0^{\rm b}$
Survival	98.9 ± 1.1	100.0 ± 0.0	100.0 ± 0.0	100.0 ± 0.0	100.0 ± 0.0

Table 3.4. Growth performance, feed utilization and survival of parrot fish fed the

 experimental diets for 6 weeks^{*}

*Values are presented as mean ± SD. Values in the same row having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).

¹ SBM-AO: SBM fermented with Aspergillus oryzae, EasyBio Co. Ltd., Korea.

² SBM-SC: SBM fermented with *Sacchromyces cerevisiae* KCMM-35053.

³ SBM-PP: SBM fermented with *Pediococcus pentosaceus* KCMM-40820.

⁴ SBM-BS: SBM fermented with *Bacillus subtilis* KCMM-40464.

⁵ Weight gain (WG) = 100 x (FBW - IBW)/IBW.

⁶ Specific growth rate (SGR) = $100 \text{ x} [(\ln \text{FBW} - \ln \text{IBW})/\text{days}].$

⁷ Nitrogen retention (NR) = 100 x (FBW x final CP - IBW x initial CP)/CP intake.

⁸ Protein efficiency ratio (PER) = wet weight gain/total protein given.

⁹ Feed conversion ratio = dry feed fed/wet weight gain.

¹⁰ Feed intake $(g/g \text{ body weight}) = dry \text{ feed consumed } (g)/body weight } (g).$

Diets	SBM	SBM-AO ¹	SBM-SC ²	SBM-PP ³	SBM-BS ⁴
Moisture, %	71.5 ± 1.0	71.8 ± 0.8	72.5 ± 0.3	72.4 ± 0.3	72.7 ± 0.4
Protein, % DM	58.1 ± 0.3	58.5 ± 0.6	58.9 ± 1.0	59.3 ± 0.4	58.9 ± 0.7
Lipid, % DM	16.1 ± 1.9^{a}	13.3 ± 2.3^{ab}	12.4 ± 0.6^{b}	13.0 ± 1.2^{b}	12.5 ± 1.4^{b}
Ash, % DM	16.9 ± 1.2	17.1 ± 0.7	17.0 ± 0.5	17.5 ± 0.4	17.8 ± 0.7

Table 3.5. Whole body proximate compositions of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks^{*}

* Values are presented as mean ± SD of triplicates. Values in the same row having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).

¹ SBM-AO: SBM fermented with Aspergillus oryzae, EasyBio Co. Ltd., Korea.

² SBM-SC: SBM fermented with *Sacchromyces cerevisiae* KCMM-35053.

³ SBM-PP: SBM fermented with *Pediococcus pentosaceus* KCMM-40820.

⁴ SBM-BS: SBM fermented with *Bacillus subtilis* - KCMM-40464.

DM: dry matter.

Table 3.6. Morphological parameters of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks^{*}

Diets	SBM	SBM-AO ¹	SBM-SC ²	SBM-PP ³	SBM-BS ⁴
$CF(\%)^5$	2.27 ± 0.2	2.35 ± 0.2	2.35 ± 0.1	2.31 ± 0.1	2.32 ± 0.2
HSI $(\%)^6$	1.91 ± 0.2	1.92 ± 0.2	2.03 ± 0.3	1.96 ± 0.1	1.89 ± 0.2
$VSI(\%)^7$	8.32 ± 0.9	7.58 ± 0.8	7.98 ± 0.9	7.58 ± 0.3	7.44 ± 0.8

* Values are presented as mean ± SD of triplicates. Values in the same row having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).</p>

¹ SBM-AO: SBM fermented with Aspergillus oryzae, EasyBio Co. Ltd., Korea

² SBM-SC: SBM fermented with *Sacchromyces cerevisiae* KCMM-35053.

³ SBM-PP: SBM fermented with *Pediococcus pentosaceus* KCMM-40820.

⁴ SBM-BS: SBM fermented with *Bacillus subtilis* KCMM-40464.

⁵ Condition factor (CF) = fish weight (g) x 100/fish length (cm)³.

⁶ Hepato somatic index (HSI) = 100 x (liver weight/body weight).

⁷ Viscera somatic index (VSI) = 100 x (viscera weight/body weight).

Diets	SBM	SBM-AO ¹	SBM-SC ²	SBM-PP ³	SBM-BS ⁴
Ht	36.2 ± 1.4	35.4 ± 2.2	36.2 ± 2.7	38.0 ± 5.0	37.5 ± 5.7
Hb	6.7 ± 0.3	6.8 ± 0.6	6.2 ± 0.3	6.4 ± 0.8	6.7 ± 0.2
P-Trigly.	171 ± 17.9^{b}	176 ± 16.5^{b}	240 ± 7.6^{a}	$243\pm40.3^{\rm a}$	$240\pm47.5^{\rm a}$
P-Chol.	125 ± 7.6^{b}	125 ± 24.4^{b}	149 ± 6.9^{ab}	163 ± 19.4^{a}	150 ± 21.1^{ab}
P-protein	2.7 ± 0.1	2.9 ± 0.4	3.4 ± 1.0	3.1 ± 0.1	2.7 ± 0.1
P-glucose	93 ± 36.7	82 ± 27.9	105 ± 42.3	102 ± 17.6	83 ± 10.0
P-SOD	8.3 ± 1.0	9.0 ± 0.5	8.4 ± 1.1	7.8 ± 0.2	72 ± 0.21
P-Lyso.	1.47 ± 0.24	1.76 ± 0.44	1.26 ± 0.17	1.75 ± 0.29	1.80 ± 0.58
NBT	1.24 ± 0.10^{b}	1.46 ± 0.13^{a}	1.12 ± 0.12^{b}	$1.46 \pm 0.04^{\rm a}$	1.26 ± 0.10^{b}

Table 3.7. Blood parameters of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks^{*}

* Values are presented as mean ± SD. Values in the same row having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).

¹ SBM-AO: SBM fermented with A. oryzae, EasyBio Co. Ltd., Korea.

² SBM-SC: SBM fermented with *Sacchromyces cerevisiae* KCMM-35053.

³ SBM-PP: SBM fermented with *Pediococcus pentosaceus* KCMM-40820.

⁴ SBM-BS: SBM fermented with *Bacillus subtilis* KCMM-40464.

Ht: Hematocrit (%). Hb: Hemoglobin (g/dL).

P-Trigly.: Plasma triglyceride (mg/dL). P-Chol.: Plasma cholesterol (mg/dL).

P-protein: Plasma protein (g/dL). P-glucose: Plasma glucose (mg/dL).

P-SOD: Plasma superoxide dismutase (U/mg protein).

P-lyso.: Plasma lysozyme (µg Hen egg white lysozyme /ml).

NBT: nitro blue tetrazolium (OD_{540 nm}).

Table 3.8. Liver superoxide dismutase, catalase activities and thiobarbituric acid reactive substances of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks^{*}

Diets	SBM	SBM-AO ¹	SBM-SC ²	SBM-PP ³	SBM-BS ⁴
L-SOD	27.7 ± 7.4	27.0 ± 3.7	24.6 ± 3.7	25.9 ± 1.6	28.7 ± 4.5
L-CAT	46.1 ± 24.1^{b}	107.5 ± 31.9^{a}	96.2 ± 2.1^{a}	109.0 ± 19.4^{a}	108.2 ± 18.8^{a}
L-TBARS	7.94 ± 2.25	7.51 ± 1.83	5.78 ± 0.75	6.39 ± 1.56	6.57 ± 1.24

* Values are presented as mean ± SD. Values in the same row having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).

¹ SBM-AO: SBM fermented with Aspergillus oryzae, EasyBio Co. Ltd., Korea.

² SBM-SC: SBM fermented with *Sacchromyces cerevisiae* KCMM-35053.

³ SBM-PP: SBM fermented with *Pediococcus pentosaceus* KCMM-40820.

⁴ SBM-BS: SBM fermented with *Bacillus subtilis* KCMM-40464.

L-SOD: liver superoxide dismutase activity (U/mg protein).

L-CAT: liver catalase activity (U/mg protein).

L-TBARS: liver thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (μ M/g tissue).

Table 3.9. Concentrations of dietary inorganic, total and whole body phosphorus and phosphorus retention of parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks^{*}

Diets	SBM	SBM-AO ¹	SBM-SC ²	SBM-PP ³	SBM-BS ⁴
D-Pi	8.9 ± 0.17	9.4 ± 0.38	9.1 ± 0.21	9.1 ± 0.37	8.9 ± 0.34
D-Pt	10.4 ± 0.15	11.2 ± 0.68	10.8 ± 0.35	11.5 ± 0.96	10.9 ± 0.60
P-Pi	9.34 ± 2.17	8.99 ± 1.24	9.65 ± 1.80	9.93 ± 1.41	8.53 ± 0.80
WBP	21.2 ± 2.35	21.2 ± 1.02	22.4 ± 1.06	22.2 ± 1.53	20.9 ± 0.60
PR	61.4 ± 2.44^{a}	$51.1 \pm 1.16^{\circ}$	47.5 ± 1.91^{d}	$46.0 \pm 0.96^{\circ}$	54.7 ± 1.46^{b}

* Values are presented as mean ± SD. Values in the same row having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).

¹ SBM-AO: SBM fermented with Aspergillus oryzae, EasyBio Co. Ltd., Korea.

² SBM-SC: SBM fermented with Sacchromyces cerevisiae KCMM-35053.

³ SBM-PP: SBM fermented with *Pediococcus pentosaceus* KCMM-40820.

⁴ SBM-BS: SBM fermented with *Bacillus subtilis* KCMM-40464.

D-Pt: Dietary total phosphorus (mg/g DM).

D-Pi: Dietary inorganic phosphorus (mg/g DM).

P-P: Plasma phosphorus (mg/dL).

WBP: whole body phosphorus (mg/g DM).

PR: Total phosphorus retention (%).

Table 3.10. Concentrations of dietary polyphenol compounds, flavonoids and DPPH radical scavenging activity of the diets, and liver of juvenile parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks^{*}

Diets	SBM	SBM-AO ¹	SBM-SC ²	SBM-PP ³	SBM-BS ⁴
D-poly.	1602 ± 31^{b}	1770 ± 86^{a}	1673 ± 41^{ab}	1617 ± 38.5^{b}	1749 ± 96^{a}
D-flav.	303 ± 26.5	208 ± 28.5	196 ± 14.0	161 ± 13.5	205 ± 28.0
L-poly.	1969 ± 11 ^b	2619 ± 17^{a}	2298 ± 43^{ab}	2540 ± 14^{ab}	2206 ± 17^{ab}
L-flav.	980 ± 26.2	1367 ± 50.9	1000 ± 28.2	1130 ± 8.5	1139 ± 37.7
LDPPHRS	11.5 ± 1.2^{b}	22.4 ± 8.9^{a}	14.8 ± 1.1^{ab}	17.2 ± 2.8^{ab}	17.8 ± 4.2^{ab}

^{*} Values are presented as mean ± SD. Values in the same row having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).

¹ SBM-AO: SBM fermented with Aspergillus oryzae, EasyBio Co. Ltd., Korea.

² SBM-SC: SBM fermented with *Sacchromyces cerevisiae* KCMM-35053.

³ SBM-PP: SBM fermented with *Pediococcus pentosaceus* KCMM-40820.

⁴ SBM-BS: SBM fermented with *Bacillus subtilis* KCMM-40464.

D-poly.: Dietary polyphenol compounds ($\mu g/g$).

D-flav.: Dietary flavonoids ($\mu g/g$).

L-poly.: Liver polyphenol compounds (μ g/g).

L-flav.: Liver flavonoids ($\mu g/g$).

LDPPHRS: Liver DPPH radical scavenging activity.



Figure 3.3. Relationship between concentration of dietary flavonoids and plasma cholesterol concentration in juvenile parrot fish fed the diets containing fermented soybean meal with microorganisms for 6 weeks



Figure 3.4. Relationship between concentration of dietary flavonoids and plasma triglyceride concentration in juvenile parrot fish fed the diets containing fermented soybean meal with microorganisms for 6 weeks



Figure 3.5. Relationship between dietary phosphorus retention and final body weight gain in juvenile parrot fish fed the diets containing fermented soybean meal with microorganisms for 6 weeks

3.4. DISCUSSION

Protein solubility, nitrogen and phosphorus retention showed significant differences among the F-SBM diets. Frias et al. (2008) elucidated that reduction of protein solubility in fermented soybean could be attributed by microorganisms and enzymes by easily hydrolyzing of soluble protein. However, the lower protein solubility of the F-SBM in the present feeding trial could be more associated to the inconsistent in temperature rather than the effects of different microorganisms. Similar finding also was well demonstrated by Lee et al. (2007).

Fish species respond differently with different processed SBM and SBM products (Boonyaratpalin et al., 1998; Kasper et al., 2007; Kaushik et al., 1995; Refstie et al., 1999; Refstie et al., 2000). In the present feeding trial, growth performance of fish fed the experimental diets containing F-SBM was significantly lower than that of the control diet meanwhile feed intake was significantly higher in the F-SBM groups. It suggests that extremely high temperature (100 °C for 60 min) significantly decreased protein solubility of the F-SBM and resulted in lower growth performance of fish. Lower nitrogen retention in the fish fed the diets contained F-SBM could be a consequence of reduced protein solubility. Protein solubility was crucial index for evaluating heat-treated soybean protein quality *in vivo* and significantly decreased with increase of heat-treatment (Lee et al., 2007; Parsons et al., 1991; Parsons et al., 1992; Radha et al., 2008). Parson et al., (1991) concluded that protein solubility of autoclaved SBM quadratically decreased with increase of autoclaving period and significantly influenced feed efficiency ratio of pigs. Excessive heat treatment also can cause the decomposition of amino acids, activate

oxidation of cysteine and methionine and facilitate the Maillard reaction between the lysine and aldehyde groups of carbohydrates, resulting in growth retardation of animals and decreased feed efficiency (Parsons et al., 1992). Lee et al. (2007) reported that extremely heat-treated soyflakes significantly decreased digestibility in both nitrogen and energy and growth performance of pigs. Radha et al. (2008) interpreted that lower solubility in the heat-treated SBM was consequence of the formation of soy protein aggregates. The aggregates might have caused an allergic reaction and induce abnormality in digestive tract of the fish. Therefore, it was recommended that investigations the histology of digestive tract of fish fed diets containing F-SBM should be included (Baeverford and Krogdahl, 1996; Boonnyaratpalin et al., 1998; Evans et al., 2005; Storebakken et al., 2000). Growth performance of parrot fish fed the experimental diets, in the present feeding trial, also showed a highly positively relationship with retention of dietary phosphorus (R^2 = 0.82), however, there were no significant differences in dietary total and inorganic phosphorus. In our best knowledge, there have been no evidences on the effects of the tested microorganisms on growth performances of fish. The finding suggests that over heat-treatment might reduce availability of phosphorus and cause amino acid loss and consequently decrease growth performance of juvenile parrot fish.

Whole body moisture, protein and ash contents did not differ among fish groups fed all the experimental diets. However, whole body lipid content in fish fed the control was significantly higher than that of fish fed diet SBM-SC, SBM-PP and SBM-BS. However, dietary crude protein, lipid and ash contents are the same among the experimental diet. Hossain et al. (2001) reported that whole body lipid content of

common carp fed untreated Sesbania meal was significantly higher than that of fish groups fed autoclaved one. It is possible that the production of aggregates in extremely heated SBM might have reduced the nutrients digestibility including lipid and resulted in reduction of whole body lipid concentration.

In the present feeding trial, SBM or F-SBM with different microorganisms did not influence morphological parameters of juvenile parrot fish. Hossain et al. (2001) found that no significant differences in hepato somatic index of common carp fed the diets contained different inclusion levels of untreated, soaked and soaked and autoclaved Sesbania meal. Tibaldi et al. (2006) reported that different processed SBM did not affect morphological parameters in European sea bass.

Triglycerides and cholesterol lowering effects of SBM have been reported in many studies and it was suggested that triglycerides and cholesterol lowering effects of SBM consumption could be attributed by many dietary components including nutrients, non-nutrients and endocrines (Ali et al., 2004; Anderson and Wolf, 1995; Chisholm et al., 2005; Dias et al., 2005; Golgberg et al., 1982; Hossain et al., 2001; Kaushik et al., 1995). In the present feeding trial, no significant differences were observed in plasma triglycerides and cholesterol concentrations among fish groups fed the experimental diets. Plasma triglycerides and cholesterol concentration of fish fed diet SBM-SC, SBM-PP and SBM-BS were significantly higher than that of fish fed the control diet and negatively related to dietary flavonoids concentrations ($R^2 =$ 0.59, 0.56, respectively). The present results are well in agreement with findings of Ali et al. (2004) and Manzoni et al. (2005). The authors reported that plasma cholesterol concentration in rats was decreased by soy isoflavones consumption. Jenkins et al. (2008) demonstrated that plant sterols contributed over one third of LDL-cholesterol reduction. Meanwhile, Kaushik et al. (1995) demonstrated that cholesterol lowering effects of dietary SBM consumption in rainbow trout mainly associated to soy protein concentrate. Hossain et al. (2001) concluded that the hypocholesterolemic response of common carp in different dietary groups contained untreated and treated Sesbania meal might be related to the dietary content of non-starch polysaccharides which results in highly viscosity in the digestive tract of fish. Up to now, metabolism and regulation mechanism of cholesterol in fish is still ambiguous.

Dietary supplementation of fermented products has been extensively reported to be able to enhanced immune response and disease resistances in some fish species (Ashida et al., 2002; Ashida and Okimasu, 2005; Ashida et al., 2005; Pham and Lee, 2007). In the present feeding trial, fish fed the SBM-AO and SBM-PP diets had higher blood nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT) activity compared to that of the control and there were no significant differences in blood NBT activity among fish groups fed the F-SBM with different microorganisms. No significant differences were observed in liver superoxide dismutase and lipid peroxidation in fish fed all the experimental diets. However, significantly higher liver catalase activity was found in the fish fed the F-SBM compared to that in the control diet. Liver DPPH radical scavenging activity was significantly enhanced by the consumption of the diets containing F-SBM. Concentrations of polyphenol compounds in the diets containing the F-SBM were significantly higher than that in the control diet. It suggests that the increase of blood cells NBT and liver catalase activities in fish fed the F-SBM could associate to the dietary antioxidant capacity. Yang et al. (2000) reported that antioxidant properties of the F-SBM were superior to those of SBM and F-SBM could be potential antioxidant sources in functional foods. Ashida and Okimasu (2005) revealed that superoxide generation of intraperitoneal leukocytes in olive flounder was significantly increased by the administration of the fermented plant products and probably related to its antioxidant capacity. Although, the enhancement of immune response in the fish fed the F-SBM could be attributed by the micro-organisms. Toaka et al. (2006a) found that immune responses of tilapia fed the diet supplemented with the commercial probiotics contained *B. subtilis, L. acidophilus, Clostridium butyricum* and *S. cerevisiae* were significantly higher compared to the control. Toaka et al. (2006b) re-confirmed that the administration of the commercial probiotics also enhanced the stress tolerance and non-specific systems of Japanese flounder. The present results suggest that non-specific immune response of parrot fish could be affected by several dietary factors including microorganisms and antioxidants and their interactions.

3.5. CONCLUSION

The present results indicate that the diet containing the fermented soybean meal with microorganisms could enhance the nonspecific immune responses juvenile parrot fish after 6 week-feeding trial. *Aspergillus oryzae* showed superior to the other strains. However, proper steaming temperature for soybean meal without adverse effects on its nutrient value is necessary to investigate.

CHAPTER IV

EFFECTS OF FERMENTED COTTONSEED AND SOYBEAN

MEAL WITH Aspergillus oryzae ON HEMATOLOGICAL

VALUES OF JUVENILE PARROT FISH, Oplegnathus fasciatus

ABSTRACT

A six week feeding trial was conducted to investigate the effects of cottonseed and soybean meal (CS) and fermented cottonseed and soybean meal (F-CS) with Aspergillus oryzae on growth performance, feed utilization, hematological parameters and immune response of juvenile parrot fish, Oplegnathus fasciatus. Based on the findings in our previous experiments, seven isonitrogenous (45% crude protein) and isocaloric (17.7 MJ/kg) experimental diets (designated as CS0, CS20, CS30, CS40, F-CS20, F-CS30 and F-CS40, respectively) were formulated to replace 20%, 30%, 40% of dietary fish meal by CS and F-CS. The CS0 diet without replacement of fish meal protein was considered as the control diet. Triplicate groups (20 fish per group) of fish (initial body weight of 22.6 g/fish) were fed one of the experimental diets for 6 weeks. At the end of the feeding trial, there were no significant differences in growth performance and feed utilization between fish groups fed the diets CS0, CS20 and CS30. However, the fish groups fed the diets CS40, F-CS20, F-CS30 and F-CS40 showed significantly lower growth performance and feed utilization compared to the other fish groups and the control diets. F-CS did not affect the survival and muscle compositions of juvenile parrot fish. Hepato somatic index of fish was decreased along with the increase of dietary CS, regardless of the fermentation process. Serum protein concentration in fish groups fed the F-CS diets were significantly lower than that of the other fish groups. Blood nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT) activity showed increasing tendency along with the increase of dietary CS and F-CS. The fish groups fed the F-CS40 diet show highest NBT activity compared to the control. Plasma glucose concentration had a positively relation with

the dietary CS inclusion levels. Meanwhile, concentration of plasma cholesterol and triglyceride was negatively associated with dietary CS contents. Phosphorus retention in the fish groups fed the diets F-CS30 and F-CS40 was significantly lower than that of the other diets. No significant differences were observed in liver superoxide dismutase activity and lipid peroxidation. Liver antioxidant activity showed slightly increase in fish groups fed the diets containing CS and F-CS. Methanol extract yield, polyphenol compounds content and antioxidant activities of CS diets were dramatically increased during fermentation process. The present results suggest that (1) CS might replace up to 30% of fish meal in the diet for juvenile parrot fish; (2) fermentation process significantly enhances the antioxidant capacity of CS which could be used as immuno-stimulants for fish; (3) the decline in growth performance of fish fed the F-CS diets probably related to the anti-nutritional factors and the loss of some essential amino acids due to over-heat treatment. Therefore, a proper fermentation process including heating, incubation periods should be further investigated. VCF 1951

4.1. INTRODUCTION

Aquaculture is the most rapidly extending animal food producing sector and feed expenses contribute major production costs (Coyle et al., 2004), because of the use of the expensive fish meal protein with a large dietary proportion. The shortage of fish meal has resulted in the increase of fish meal price over 30% in 2006 compared to the last two year (personal communication). Many studies recently have been conducted to search for less expensive protein sources to replace fish meal protein (Kikuchi et al., 1994; Kikuchi 1999; Choi et al., 2004; Pham et al., 2007). Hardy (1995) reported that dietary replacement of fish meal protein by plant origin by-products, such as soybean meal, cottonseed meal and rapeseed meal, has been increasing in aquaculture industry, due to their low price, highly market availabilities and sufficient protein contents.

Among plant protein sources, soybean meal (SM) has been used predominantly in diets for number of fish species (Degani et al., 1997; Refstie et al., 2000; Catacutan and Pagador, 2004; Chou et al., 2004; Zhou et al., 2005; Tomas et al., 2005; Pham et al., 2007). Studies have demonstrated that soybean meal alone or in combination with other protein sources can replace from 20% to 90% fish meal protein in diets for many fish species, such as yellow tail (Shimeno et al., 1993), red drum (McMoogan and Gatlin, III, 1997), seabass (Boonyaratpalin et al., 1998), rainbow trout (Gomes et al., 1995), Australian snapper (Quantararo et al., 1998), cobia (Chou et al., 2004) and olive flounder (Kikuchi et al., 1994; Kikuchi 1999; Saitoh et al., 2003; Pham et al., 2005). Kikuchi (1999) reported that 45% fish meal protein can be replaced by soybean meal in combination with other animal protein sources in diets for juvenile olive flounder. However, the use of soybean meal in fish feeds, particularly in carnivorous marine fish species is still limited because of the presence of anti-nutritional factors, such as protease inhibitors, phytates, lectins, saponins, non-starch polysaccharide and high fiber content (NRC 1993; Storebakken et al., 2000; Francis et al., 2001; Hendricks 2002). In addition, limiting essential amino acids in soybean meal, such as methionine and lysine, reduce its inclusion level in fish feeds (NRC 1993).

Cottonseed meal (CM), a by-product of cottonseed processing, has been examined in diets for many fish species, such as olive flounder (Pham et al., 2005; 2007), channel catfish (Dorsa et al., 1982; Robinson and Brent, 1989; Robinson and Li, 1994; Robinson and Tiersch, 1995), rainbow trout (Hendricks et al., 1980; Lee and Dabrowski, 2002; Rinchard et al., 2003) and tilapia (El-Sayed 1990; Robinson et al., 1984; Mbahinzireki et al., 2001; Rinchard et al., 2002). Despite its high nutritional value, cottonseed meal contains gossypol which is toxic to fish (Herman 1970), leading to restriction of its use. On the other hand, gossypol was also reported to have high antioxidant activity (Rhee et al., 2001) as well as anticarcinogenic activities (Benz et al., 1990; Shelley et al., 1999). Many studies recently have been reported that the fermentation process could degrade anti-nutritional factors in plant protein sources and improve their antioxidant capacity, particularly they could be apply in functional foods.

The findings in the previous experiments demonstrated that *Apsergillus oryzae* was superior to the other tested microorganisms and it might increase phosphorus utilization and enhance immune response of juvenile parrot fish fed the diets

contained plant protein sources.

Therefore, the aim of this feeding trial was to investigate the effects of fermented cottonseed and soybean meal with *A. oryzae* as partial replacer for dietary fish meal protein on growth performance, feed utilization, hematological parameters and immune response in juvenile parrot fish, *Oplegnathus fasciatus*.



4.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.2.1. Fermentation of cottonseed and soybean meal

Process of making fermented cottonseed meal and soybean meal (CS) are described in Chapter III. CS were finely ground using a milling machine (M12, Seoul, Korea). One part of CS was soaking in three parts of distilled water for 1 h and steamed at 100 °C for another 1 h using a laboratory steaming system (Fig. 4.1). The steamed CS were cooled down in an incubator (MIR-253, Sanyo, Japan) at 40 °C for 2 h before *Aspergillus oryzae* was inoculated at 3.5% of CS in dry matter. The *A. oryzae* inoculated CS was made into a brick shape (3 cm x 15 cm x 10 cm) and incubated at 30 °C for 8 h and at 28 °C for 40 h since the yellow layer occurred. The fermented CS was dried at room temperature for 72 h and finely ground prior to supplementation into the experimental diets.

4.2.2. Experimental diets

Seven experimental diets were formulated to be isonitrogenous and isocaloric in terms of crude protein (45% crude protein) and gross energy (17.7 MJ/kg). The energy value of each diet was estimated on the basis of mammalian physiological fuel value, i.e., 16.7 KJ/g protein or carbohydrate and 37.7 KJ/g lipid (Lee and Putman, 1973). Proximate compositions of cottonseed meal (CM), soybean meal (SM), fermented cottonseed meal (F-CM) and fermented soybean meal (F-SM) are given in Table 4.1. Total gossypol concentration in CM was 1.65%. The dietary formulation and proximate compositions are provided in Table 4.2 and 4.3. The experimental diets were formulated to replace 0, 20, 30, and 40% of fish meal protein

by CS and fermented cottonseed mean (F-CS) and designated as CS0, CS20, CS30, CS40, F-CS20, F-CS30 and F-CS40, respectively. The CS and F-CS containing diets were supplemented with methionine and lysine to meet their requirements (NRC 1993). Experimental diets were pelleted through the meat chopper machine (SMC-12, Korea) in 3.0 mm diameter size, freeze dried to approximately 5% moisture, crushed into desirable particle sizes (0.4 - 2.0 mm) and stored at -20 °C until use.







Fig. 4.2. Fermented cottonseed and soybean meal with Apergillus oryzae

Diets SM CM **F-SM** F-CM Moisture (%) 12.37 16.39 13.01 20.55 58.33 50.54 48.44 Protein (% DM) 49.27 Lipid (% DM) 1.89 1.33 5.11 5.85 7.26 Ash (% DM) 7.02 8.87 9.06 6.55 pН 6.98 DM: dry matter.

Table 4.1. Proximate compositions and pH of soybean meal (SM), cottonseed meal(CM), fermented soybean (F-SM) and fermented cottonseed meal (F-CM)
	Diets						
Ingredients	CS0	CS20	CS30	CS40	F-CS20	F-CS30	F-CS40
White fish meal	52.0	41.6	36.4	31.2	41.6	36.4	31.2
Soybean meal	0.0	8.0	12.0	16.0	8.0	12.0	16.0
Cottonseed meal ¹	0.0	8.2	12.3	16.4	8.2	12.3	16.4
Corn gluten meal	8.0	7.5	7.0	6.5	7.5	7.0	6.5
Starch	22.0	18.0	14.8	11.0	18.0	14.8	11.0
Yeast	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.0
Mineral premix ²	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Vitamin premix ³	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Squid liver oil	11.0	11.0	11.6	12.2	11.0	11.6	12.2
Lysine	0.0	0.4	0.6	0.8	0.4	0.6	0.8
Methionine	0.0	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.4
Ferrous Sulfate-7H2O	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.3
Monocalciumphosphate	0.0	0.4	0.8	1.2	0.4	0.8	1.2
Cellulose	3.0	0.6	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.0	0.0

Table 4.2. Dietary formulation of the experimental diets (% in DM basis)

¹ Cottonseed meal was purchased from Southern Cotton Oil Co., Memphis,

Tennessee 38108, USA.

² Mineral premix was mentioned in Chapter I.

³ Vitamin premix was mentioned in Chapter I.

F-CS20, F-CS30, and F-CS40: CS fermented with A. oryzae.

	CCO	0520	0520	CC 40 1		E CC20	E CE 40
Diets	CS0	CS20	CS30	C540	F-C520	F-CS30	F-C540
Proximate compositio	n						
Dry matter (%)	93.7	93.5	93.3	93.5	93.3	93.4	93.6
Protein (%, DM)	46.5	47.4	46.2	45.9	46.9	47.2	47.0
Lipid (%, DM)	14.7	15.2	15.0	15.4	14.8	15.0	14.9
Ash (%, DM)	8.5	7.8	8.1	7.7	8.6	8.5	9.1
Gross energy (MJ/kg)	17.7	17.8	17.8	17.7	17.8	17.8	17.7
Protein solubility (%)	75.1 ^{bc}	73.2 ^c	82.7 ^a	84.0 ^a	68.1 ^d	76.9 ^b	72.9 ^c

Table 4.3. Proximate compositions of the experimental diets^{*}

^{*}Values in the same row having different letters are significantly different at P < 0.05. DM: dry matter.

F-CS20, F-CS30 and F-CS40: CS fermented with A. oryzae.

4.2.3. Fish and feeding trial

Parrot fish juveniles were transported from a private hatchery in Jeju Island to Marine and Environmental Research Institute, Cheju National University, Korea. The fish were fed with a commercial diet for 4 weeks to allow adaptation to experimental condition. Fish (mean body weight of 22.6 g/fish) were randomly distributed into twenty one 150 L polyvinyl tanks (20 fish per tank) in a flow through system supplied with sand filtered seawater at a flow rate of 3L/min. One of the experimental diets was fed triplicate groups of fish to apparent satiation (twice per day) for six weeks. Aeration was also provided to maintain dissolved oxygen levels near to the saturation. The growth of fish was measured every 3 weeks.

4.2.4. Muscle proximate compositions

At the end of feeding trial, all fish were weighed for the calculation of weight gain, feed conversion ratio, protein efficiency ratio and specific growth rate. Three fish per tank (9 fish per diet) were sampled and stored at -20 °C for muscle proximate analysis. Analysis of crude protein, moisture and ash were performed by the standard procedures (AOAC 1995). Lipid was measured using a Soxhlet System (SH6, Korea).

4.2.5. Morphological parameters

The total length, whole body weight, liver weight and gonad weight of 9 fish per diet were individually measured. Calculation of condition factor (CF), hepato somatic index (HSI), and gonad somatic index (GSI) was described in Chapter III.

4.2.6. Hematological parameters

At the end of feeding trial, 3 fish per tank (9 fish per diet) were randomly selected and anaesthetized in tricaine methane sulfonate (MS-222) solution (100 mg/L). Blood were taken from caudal veins with heparinised syringes. Hematocrit was determined using microhematocrit technique. Hemoglobin, plasma protein, cholesterol, triglyceride, and glucose concentrations were measured using a Photometer CH100 Plus (Calenzano, Firenze, Italy).

Plasma lysozyme activity in parrot fish fed the experimental diets was measured using a colorimetrical method. Plasma sample was added in *Micrococcus lysodeikticus* suspension (0.2 mg/ml *M. lysodeikticus* in 0.02 M sodium citrate buffer) at 1: 10 ratio. Initial optical density (OD) was measured immediately after adding plasma. After incubating for 5 min at room temperature, final OD was measured at 450 nm using a spectrophotometer (DU 730, Beckman, USA). Hen egg white lysozyme (HEWL, Sigma) was used as standard. Lysozyme values were expressed as μ g/ml equivalent of HEWL activity.

Another portion of the heparinized blood was used for nitro tetrazolium assay according to Anderson and Siwicki (1995) and Kumari and Sahoo (2005).

4.2.7. Measurement of phosphorus

Phosphorus concentration was measured using a method described by Nahapetian and Bassiri (1975). Phosphorus retention was calculated as the equation described by Nordrum et al. (1997): Dietary phosphorus retention (%) = 100 x (final body phosphorus - initial body phosphorus)/dietary phosphorus consumed.

4.2.8. Iron and heme iron analysis

Total dietary and whole body iron concentrations were measured according to a colorical method as described by Turhan et al. (2004). Sample was combusted at 450 °C in a muffle furnace (Ceber, Daihan Scientific Co., Ltd., Korea) for 12 h. After cooling down, concentrated HNO₃ (1 mL) was added, heated at 80 °C for 12 h. The digested sample was again combusted at 450 °C for 2 h. Then concentrated HCl was added and kept at room temperature for 2 h. The reaction mixture contained diluted sample (2 mL), 3% hydroxylamine hydrochloride solution (1 mL) and total iron color reagent (1.5 mL) and left at room temperature for 10 min. Optical density was measured at 533 nm using an UV/VIS spectrophotometer (DU 730, Beckman, USA). Total iron content was estimated according to Gomez-Basauri and Regenstein (1992).

Heme iron concentration in the experimental diets was measured using the method established by Hornsey (1956) with modification of Clark et al. (1997). Dietary sample was homogenized using a blender (Polytron MR-2100, Switzerland) and extracted in acid- acetone mixture for 1 h. The extract was centrifuged at 2200 x g for 10 min. The supernatant was filter using a syringe filter (0.45 μ m, Whatman Inc., Clifton, NJ) and the optical density was measured at 640 nm. The heme iron content was calculated with the factor of 0.0882 µg iron/µg hematin (Merc 1989).

4.2.9. Methanol extract yield

Five gram of diets was extracted in 100 ml methanol for 24 h in a shaking incubator at room temperature. The mixture was filtered through a Whatman filter paper (Whatman #4) and dried using a rotary vacuum drier to remove the methanol.

4.2.10. Antioxidant capacity assay

Antioxidant capacity of experimental diets, fish liver and muscle was determined using 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging assay as described by Brand-Williams et al. (1995).

4.2.11. Total dietary polyphenol compounds

Total polyphenol compounds in the experimental diets were measured by a colorimetric method described by Skerget et al. (2005).

4.2.12. Reducing activity

Reducing activity of the experimental diets was measured as a method described by Oyaizu (1986). Filtered extract (0.3 mL) was mixed with 0.3 mL of 1.0% potassium ferricyanide and 0.3 mL sodium phosphate buffer (0.2 M, pH 6.6). The mixture was incubated at 50 °C for 20 min. Then, 10% trichloroacetic acid (0.3 mL) was added and centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant (0.6 mL) was mixed with 0.1% ferric chloride solution (0.12 mL) and deionized water (0.6 mL). The mixture was incubated at room temperature for 10 min and the OD was read at 700 nm by a spectrophotometer (Genesys 10 UV, Rochester, NY, USA).

4.2.13. Ferrous chelating activity

Reaction mixture containing dietary extract (1.0 mL), 3.7 mL methanol, 2 mM FeCl₂ (0.1 mL) and 5 mM ferrozine (0.2 mL) was incubated at room temperature for 10 min (Decker and Welch, 1990). Chelating activity was expressed as percent.

4.2.14. Measurement of liver thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS)

Liver TBARS in fish fed the experimental diets was measured according to method of Burk et al. (1980) and modified by Tocher et al. (2002). Liver (30 mg) was homogenized in 1.5 mL of 20% (w/v) trichloroacetic acid containing 0.05 ml of 1% butylated hydrotoluene in ethanol. To the homogenate, 2.95 mL of freshly prepared 10 mM thiobarbituric acid was added and heated at 100 °C for 10 min. Protein was removed by centrifugation of 12000 x g. OD was measured at 532 nm. The concentration of TBARS, expressed as μ M TBARS/g liver, was calculated using the extinction coefficient of 0.156 μ M⁻¹cm⁻¹.

4.2.15. Measurement of liver superoxide dismutase activity

Liver superoxide dismutase activity was measured using a Cayman kits (Cayman, MI, USA). The reaction mixture composing of radical detector solution (200 μ L), dilute sample extract (10 μ L) and xanthine oxidase (20 μ L) was incubated in 96-microwell plate for 20 min. OD was read using a microwell reader (Multiskan Ex, Thermo Electron Corporation, Shanghai, China).

4.2.16. Statistical analysis

Data were subjected to one-way ANOVA in SPSS version 11.0. Significant differences between group means were compared using Duncan's multiple test. Data were presented as means \pm standard deviations (SD). The percentage data of weight gain and specific growth rate were arcsine transformed before the ANOVA analysis. Differences were considered significantly at P < 0.05.

4.3. RESULTS

Proximate composition of SM, CM, F-SM and F-CM are given in Table 4.1. Crude protein, lipid and ash contents in F-SM and F-CM were numerically increased compared to the SM and CM.

Growth performance and feed utilization of juvenile parrot fish fed the CS20 and CS30 were comparable to that of fish fed the control diet. Fish groups fed the diets CS40, F-CS20, F-CS30 and F-CS40 showed lower final body weight, weight gain, feed conversion and protein conversion ratios than those of fish groups fed the control diet. However, the daily feed intake of fish groups fed the F-CS diets was significantly higher than that in fish groups fed the control and the CS diets. Survival did not differ among fish groups fed all the experimental diets and was greater than 95% at the end of feeding trial (Table 4.4).

Muscle body compositions of parrot fish juveniles fed the experimental diets were not affected by fermentation process, except for whole body ash content. Fish fed the diet CS40 showed significantly lower whole body ash content, compared to that of the control diet (Table 4.5).

Morphological parameters including condition factor, hepato somatic and viscera somatic indexes are presented in Table 4.6. There were no significant differences in condition factor and viscera somatic index of fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks. Hepato somatic index (HSI) was decreased with the increase of dietary cottonseed and soybean meal content. HSI of the fish groups fed the CS30, CS40, F-CS30 and F-CS40 diets was significantly lower than that of the control diet.

Hematocrit, hemoglobin and plasma lysozyme activity were not affected by the

dietary inclusion of the CS and F-CS. However, the blood nitro blue tetrazolium activity in fish groups fed the F-CS diets was significantly higher than that of fish fed the control diet (Table 4.7).

Plasma glucose concentration of fish fed the diets contained CS was significantly higher that that of the control diet, regardless of the different treatments. Meanwhile, concentration of plasma cholesterol and triglyceride were lower in the fish groups fed the CS and F-CS diets. Plasma protein concentration was not different among fish groups fed the CS and the control diets (Table 4.8).

Dietary total phosphorus concentration was significantly increased with the increment of dietary CS inclusion levels. The highest values were observed in the diets F-CS30 and F-CS40. The concentration of dietary inorganic phosphorus of the diets contained CS was lower than that in the control diet. The F-CS diets had higher concentration of inorganic phosphorus compared to the CS diets. However, phosphorus retention of fish groups fed the F-CS diets was significantly lower compared to the other dietary groups, except for F-CS20 diet (Table 4.9).

Dietary total iron significantly increased in the CS diets. Heme iron concentration the experimental diets significantly higher than that of the control diet. There were no differences in whole body iron content among the treatment, expect for diet F-CS40. Iron retention in fish groups fed the diets F-CS20 and F-CS30 were statistically lower than that of the other diets. Among the diets CS0, CS20, CS30, CS40 and F-CS40, no differences in iron retention were found (Table 4.10).

Methanol extract yield, polyphenol compounds concentration, and Fe-chelating, reducing and DPPH radical scavenging activities were dramatically improved during fermentation process (Table 4.11). The F-CS diets had higher antioxidant activities than those in the CS diets and the control diet.

No significant differences were obtained in liver superoxide dismutase activity and lipid peroxidation in among the fish fed all the experimental diets (Fig. 4.3, 4.4). Liver DPPH radical scavenging activity was not affected by the treatments (Fig. 4.5).



Diets	CS0	CS20	CS30	CS40	F-CS20	F-CS30	F-CS40
FBW (g/fish)	$53.4^{a} \pm 0.1$	$52.5^{a} \pm 0.5$	$52.9^{a} \pm 0.7$	$48.5^{b} \pm 0.4$	$48.2^{b} \pm 1.4$	$47.3^{b} \pm 0.7$	$43.7^{b} \pm 1.6$
WG $(\%)^1$	$136.3^{a} \pm 1.1$	$132.1^{a} \pm 2.4$	$133.5^{a} \pm 3.6$	$114.3^{b} \pm 1.5$	$114.4^{b} \pm 4.3$	$109.3^{b} \pm 3.1$	$93.1^{\circ} \pm 7.7$
SGR $(\%/day)^2$	$0.89^{a} \pm 0.0$	$0.87^{a} \pm 0.0$	$0.88^{a} \pm 0.0$	$0.79^{b} \pm 0.0$	$0.79^{b} \pm 0.0$	$0.76^{b} \pm 0.0$	$0.68^{a} \pm 0.0$
$FI (g/g BW)^3$	$0.55^{\circ} \pm 0.0$	$0.56^{\circ} \pm 0.0$	$0.57^{c} \pm 0.0$	$0.60^{\mathrm{bc}} \pm 0.0$	$0.61^{b} \pm 0.0$	$0.61^{b} \pm 0.0$	$0.66^{a} \pm 0.0$
FCR (g BW/g DM diet) ⁴	$1.05^{a} \pm 0.0$	$1.01^{a} \pm 0.0$	$0.98^{a} \pm 0.1$	$0.89^{b} \pm 0.0$	$0.85^{b} \pm 0.1$	$0.85^{b} \pm 0.0$	$0.72^{c} \pm 0.1$
PER (g BW/g protein) ⁵	$2.3^{a} \pm 0.0$	$2.1^{a} \pm 0.0$	$2.1^{ab}\pm0.1$	$1.9^{\rm bc} \pm 0.0$	$1.8^{\circ} \pm 0.1$	$1.8^{\circ} \pm 0.0$	$1.5^{d} \pm 0.2$
Survival (%)	100.0	100.0	96.7	100.0	96.7	100.0	100.0

Table 4.4. Growth performance and feed utilization of juvenile parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks*

F-CS20, F-CS30, and F-CS40: CS fermented with A. oryzae.

¹Weight gain (WG) = 100 x (FBW - IBW)/IBW. ² Specific growth rate (SGR) = 100 x [(ln FBW - ln IBW)/days]. ³ Protein efficiency ratio (PER) = wet weight gain/total protein given. ⁴ Feed conversion ratio (FCR) = dry feed fed/wet weight gain. ⁵ Feed intake (FI, g/g BW) = dry feed consumed (g)/BW (g). FBW, IBW: Final and initial mean body weight (g/fish), respectively.

Diets	CS0	CS20	CS30	CS40	F-CS20	F-CS30	F-CS40
Moisture (%)	75.6 ± 0.4	75.7 ± 0.5	76.0 ± 0.2	75.9 ± 0.8	76.0 ± 0.3	75.9 ± 0.8	76.6 ± 0.4
Protein (% wet matter)	20.0 ± 0.3	19.9 ± 0.1	20.1 ± 0.4	19.6 ± 0.2	19.7 ± 0.4	20.1 ± 0.3	19.7 ± 0.3
Lipid (% wet matter)	$2.82^{ab}\pm0.9$	$3.34^{a} \pm 0.1$	$3.41^{a} \pm 0.5$	$2.77^{ab} \pm 0.2$	$2.86^{ab}\pm0.6$	$2.99^{ab} \pm 0.5$	$2.21^{b} \pm 0.2$
Ash (% wet matter)	$1.34^{a} \pm 0.0$	$1.28^{ab} \pm 0.0$	$1.30^{ab} \pm 0.0$	$1.21^{b} \pm 0.0$	$1.27^{ab} \pm 0.0$	$1.30^{ab} \pm 0.1$	$1.29^{a} \pm 0.0$

Table 4.5. Muscle proximate compositions of juvenile parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks*

* Values are presented as mean \pm SD. Values in the same row having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).

F-CS20, F-CS30, and F-CS40: CS fermented with A. oryzae.

Diets	CS0	CS20	CS30	CS40	F-CS20	F-CS30	F-CS40
CF (%) ¹	2.08 ± 0.02	2.22 ± 0.21	2.16 ± 0.08	2.31 ± 0.06	2.18 ± 0.18	2.09 ± 0.11	2.47 ± 0.28
$\mathrm{HSI}\left(\%\right)^2$	$3.25^{a} \pm 0.6$	$2.84^{ab}\pm0.2$	$2.46^{bc} \pm 0.3$	$2.26^{\circ} \pm 0.2$	$2.77^{abc} \pm 0.2$	$2.51^{\rm bc}\pm 0.2$	$2.47^{\rm bc} \pm 0.25$
VSI $(\%)^3$	9.87 ± 1.41	9.63 ± 0.49	9.10 ± 0.69	9.49 ± 0.88	9.96 ± 0.51	9.38 ± 0.23	9.21 ± 0.74

Table 4.6. Morphological parameters of juvenile parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks^{*}

* Values are presented as mean \pm SD. Values in the same row having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).

F-CS20, F-CS30, and F-CS40: CS fermented with A. oryzae.

¹ Condition factor = fish weight (g) x 100/fish length $(cm)^3$.

² Hepato somatic index = 100 x (liver weight/BW).

³ Viscera somatic index = 100 x (viscera weight/BW).

BW: body weight (g)

			AIA				
Diets	CS0	CS20	CS30	CS40	F-CS20	F-CS30	F-CS40
Hematocrit (%)	36.0± 2.2	38.0 ± 4.4	38.8±2.6	35.8 ± 4.0	35.7 ± 0.6	38.8 ± 2.8	38.8 ± 2.1
Hemoglobin (mg/dL)	7.70 ± 0.4	8.94 ± 0.8	8.58 ± 0.7	8.50 ± 0.5	8.29 ± 0.9	9.22 ± 1.2	7.94 ± 0.7
Blood NBT (OD 540nm)	$0.73^{b} \pm 0.0$	$0.76^{ab} \pm 0.0$	$0.76^{ab} \pm 0.0$	$0.80^{ab} \pm 0.0$	$0.78^{ab} \pm 0.1$	$0.78^{ab} \pm 0.1$	$0.81^{a} \pm 0.0$
Plasma lysozyme (µg/mL)	12.73 ± 3.7	13.76 ± 3.2	14.54 ± 3.4	11.06 ± 1.4	11.95 ± 2.0	13.18 ± 1.5	11.97 ± 0.4

Table 4.7. Hematocrit, hemoglobin, blood NBT and plasma lysozyme activity of parrot fish fed the diets for 6 weeks*

F-CS20, F-CS30 and F-CS40: CS fermented with A. oryzae.

Diets	CS0	CS20	CS30	CS40	F-CS20	F-CS30	F-CS40
Serum protein (g/dL)	$4.18^{\rm abc} \pm 0.3$	$4.41^{ab}\pm0.3$	$4.67^{a} \pm 0.5$	$4.36^{ab}\pm0.4$	$3.92^{\rm bc} \pm 0.2$	$3.97^{bc} \pm 0.1$	$3.67^{c} \pm 0.2$
Plasma glucose (mg/dL)	$85^{b} \pm 11.1$	$110^{ab} \pm 35.3$	$130^{ab} \pm 38.9$	$142^{a} \pm 28.1$	$139^{a} \pm 24.2$	$113^{ab} \pm 20.2$	$156^{a} \pm 20.9$
Plasma cholesterol (mg/dL)	$242^{a} \pm 37.5$	$197^{b} \pm 10.1$	$171^{bc} \pm 12.9$	$154^{cd} \pm 11.5$	$146^{cd} \pm 16.6$	$141^{cd} \pm 10.2$	$133.9^{d} \pm 4.3$
Plasma triglycerides (mg/dL)	$269^{a} \pm 36.0$	$223^{b} \pm 3.9$	$152^{c} \pm 21.2$	$131^{\circ} \pm 16.1$	$151^{\circ} \pm 13.9$	$158^{c} \pm 5.9$	$130^{\circ} \pm 28.6$

Table 4.8. Plasma glucose, cholesterol, triglyceride and serum protein in parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks*

F-CS20, F-CS30 and F-CS40: CS fermented with A. oryzae.

Diets	CS0	CS20	CS30	CS40	F-CS20	F-CS30	F-CS40
Pt (mg/g DM diet)	$10.5^{d} \pm 0.3$	$10.9^{\circ} \pm 0.1$	$11.3^{b} \pm 0.1$	$11.5^{b} \pm 0.1$	$10.8^{\circ} \pm 0.1$	$12.9^{a} \pm 0.1$	$12.5^{a} \pm 0.1$
Pi (mg/g DM diet)	$10.1^{a} \pm 0.3$	$8.3^{\circ} \pm 0.2$	$8.0^{\circ} \pm 0.1$	$8.1^{\circ} \pm 0.3$	$9.2^{b} \pm 0.1$	$9.1^{b} \pm 0.4$	$8.9^{b} \pm 0.4$
FWBP (mg/DM tissue)	25.8 ± 1.3	26.0 ± 4.2	25.8 ± 0.8	28.9 ± 2.0	28.0 ± 1.8	26.3 ± 1.2	29.5 ± 1.3
Phosphorus retention (%)	$60.5^{a} \pm 0.3$	$60.6^{a} \pm 0.9$	$57.1^{a} \pm 3.6$	$61.2^{a} \pm 1.1$	$56.6^{a} \pm 4.6$	$42.1^{b} \pm 1.4$	$44.2^{b} \pm 6.1$

Table 4.9. Dietary total, inorganic phosphorus and phosphorus retention in parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks*

F-CS20, F-CS30 and F-CS40: CS fermented with A. oryzae.

Pt: Dietary total phosphorus

Pi: Dietary inorganic phosphorus

FWBP: Final whole body phosphorus

-							
Diets	CS0	CS20	CS30	CS40	F-CS20	F-CS30	F-CS40
Total iron (µg/g DM diet)	$83.0^{d} \pm 2.6$	$102.7^{\circ} \pm 2.0$	$111.5^{b} \pm 2.4$	$116.1^{a} \pm 2.2$	$102.3^{\circ} \pm 2.7$	$112.4^{a b} \pm 2.8$	$114.8^{ab} \pm 2.2$
Heme iron ($\mu g/g$ DM diet)	$2.5^{b} \pm 0.2$	$2.7^{ab} \pm 0.6$	$3.4^{ab} \pm 0.2$	$3.4^{ab} \pm 0.6$	$3.3^{ab} \pm 0.6$	$3.6^{a} \pm 0.8$	$3.5^{a} \pm 0.4$
FWBI (µg /DM tissue)	$33.5^{b} \pm 3.9$	$35.0^{b} \pm 4.9$	$35.5^{b} \pm 2.4$	$40.6^{ab} \pm 7.3$	$36.6^{b} \pm 3.1$	$34.3^{b} \pm 1.3$	$44.5^{a} \pm 2.7$
Iron retention (%)	$6.1^{a} \pm 0.1$	$5.9^{a} \pm 0.1$	$6.0^{a} \pm 0.5$	$6.6^{a} \pm 0.2$	$4.1^{b} \pm 0.6$	$3.8^{b} \pm 0.2$	$5.9^{a} \pm 0.6$

Table 4.10. Dietary total, heme iron and iron retention in parrot fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks^{*}

* Values are presented as mean ± SD of triplicates. Values in the same row having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).

F-CS20, F-CS30 and F-CS40: CS fermented with A. oryzae.

FWBI: Final whole body iron

Table 4.11. Methanol extract yield, polyphenol compounds content and Fe-chelating, reducing and DPPH radical scavenging activities in the experimental diets fed parrot fish for 6 weeks^{*}

Diets	CS0	CS20	CS30	CS40	F-CS20	F-CS30	F-CS40
ME (mg/g DM diet)	$4.25^{\rm f} \pm 0.12$	$6.27^{de} \pm 1.5$	$5.86^{e} \pm 0.6$	$8.12^{d} \pm 1.6$	$12.39^{\circ} \pm 0.1$	$12.99^{b} \pm 0.0$	$13.67^{a} \pm 0.1$
Polyphenol (mg/g DM diet)	$2.77^{e} \pm 0.1$	$3.93^{\rm d}\pm0.0$	$4.01^{d} \pm 0.1$	$4.25^{\circ} \pm 0.1$	$7.59^{ab} \pm 0.4$	$7.71^{ab} \pm 0.1$	$6.79^{b} \pm 0.5$
Fe-chelating (%)	$0.0^{\mathrm{f}} \pm 0.0$	$6.37^{e} \pm 1.4$	$17.59^{\rm bc} \pm 0.7$	$22.27^{a} \pm 2.3$	$19.99^{ab} \pm 1.8$	$13.40^{d} \pm 0.7$	$16.52^{cd} \pm 1.1$
Reducing activity (OD 700nm)	$0.850^{e} \pm 0.0$	$0.960^{\rm d}\pm0.0$	$1.118^{\circ} \pm 0.0$	$1.231^{b} \pm 0.0$	$1.376^{a} \pm 0.0$	$1.371^{a} \pm 0.1$	$1.373^{a} \pm 0.0$
DPPHRS (% inhibition)	$10.3^{e} \pm 0.7$	$17.6^{d} \pm 0.2$	$20.2^{\circ} \pm 1.4$	$31.4^{b} \pm 0.4$	$47.1^{a} \pm 5.7$	$47.3^{a} \pm 2.5$	$48.8^{a} \pm 0.1$

^{*}Values are presented as mean ± SD of triplicates. Values in the same row having different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).

F-CS20, F-CS30 and F-CS40: CS fermented with A. oryzae.

ME: Methanol extract yield.



Fig. 4.3. Liver superoxide dismutase activity in parrot fish fed the diets for 6 weeks



Fig. 4.4. Lipid peroxidation in liver of fish fed the experimental diets for 6 weeks



Fig. 4.5. DPPH radical scavenging activity in liver of fish fed the experimental diets

for 6 weeks

4.4. DISCUSSION

Fermentation process has been used to improve nutritional quality and flavor of plant protein sources including legumes and cereals. In the present feeding trial, crude protein, lipid and ash contents in both F-SM and F-CM were numerically increased compared to SM and CM, respectively (Table 4.1). The finding was well in agreement with many studies. Zhang et al. (2007) reported that the fermentation significant affected the chemical composition of soybean. Yousif and El Tinay (2001) demonstrated that protein concentration in the fermented sorghum was slightly increased after 24 h incubation. They interpreted that the kirsa fermentation could attribute to the increment of sorghum protein concentration.

In the present feeding trial, growth performance and feed utilization of juvenile parrot fish fed the CS20 and CS30 were comparable to those of fish fed the control diet. The fish fed the diets F-CS20, F-CS30, F-CS40 and CS40 showed lower final body weight, weight gain, feed conversion and protein efficiency ratios, compared to those in fish groups fed the control diet. However, daily feed intake of the fish groups fed the F-CS diets was significantly higher than that in fish groups fed the control and CS diets. No differences were observed in survival among the fish groups fed all the experimental diets. Survival was greater than 95% in all fish groups at the end of feeding trial (Table 4.4). It suggests that fermentation of CS did not produced any toxic to the fish, however, there might be some anti-nutritional factors (ANFs) which caused the decrease of growth performance and feed utilization in parrot fish fed the CS40 and the F-CS diets. Firstly, higher ANFs, such as phytic acid and gossypol, could result in lower growth performance of the fish groups fed the diet CS40 and F-CS40. Poor growth performance and feed utilization were also found in juvenile olive flounder fed the diets incorporated up to 40% of CS with or without supplementation of exogenous phytase (Pham et al., 2005; 2007 and Pham et al., 2008 accepted in Asian-Australia Journal of Animal Science). The present results indicate that the up to 30% fish meal protein could be replaced with CM (16.4% dry matter) and SM (16.0% dry matter) in the diet for juvenile parrot fish. The lower growth performance and feed utilization of the fish fed the F-CS, including F-CS20, F-CS30, and F-CS40 could be related to the other factors which probably were produced during fermentation process. Parson et al. (1992) reported that excessive heat treatment can cause the decomposition of amino acids, activate oxidation of cysteins and methionine and facilitate the Maillard reaction between lysine and aldehyde groups of carbohydrates and consequently resulting in growth retardation and lower feed efficiency in animals. The conclusion was re-confirmed by Lee et al. (2007) and our previous findings (Chapter III). Lee et al., (2007) demonstrated that extremely heat-treated soy-flakes dramatically decreased digestibility of both nitrogen and energy and retarded growth performance of pigs. Radha et al. (2008) suggested that the formation of soy protein aggregates in extremely heat-treated soybean might induce abnormality and reduce the nutrients absorbability in digestive tract. Therefore, it is necessary to investigate the histological changes of digestive tracts in fish fed the diets containing CS and F-CS.

No significant differences were observed in muscle proximate compositions among the fish groups fed all the experimental diets, in the present feeding trial, except for the diet CS40. Whole body ash content of the CS40 groups was significantly lower than that of the control groups (Table 4.5). Pham et al. (2005, 2007) reported that substitution of fish meal protein with CS up to 40% did not alter the whole body compositions of juvenile olive flounder. Cheng and Hardy (2002) also did not observe any difference in whole body composition of rainbow trout fed the diet contained 10% cottonseed meal.

Hepato somatic index of the fish fed the diets CS30, CS40, F-CS30 and F-CS40 was significantly lower than that of fish fed the control diet and no significant differences were observed among the fish groups fed the control and CS20 and F-CS20 diets. Condition factor and viscera somatic index were not affected by dietary CS, regardless of different treatments (Table 4.6). It indicates that HSI might be altered by high concentration of dietary CS with the supplementation of monocalcium phosphate. However, we did not find any significant differences in HSI of olive flounder fed the diets contained graded concentration of cottonseed and soybean meal (Pham et al., 2007). Toko el al. (2008) demonstrated that HSI of African catfish was not affected by the dietary graded level of CM or SM. Meanwhile, Hansen et al. (2007) demonstrated that HSI was significantly decreased in fish fed the diet contained 100% plant protein in Atlantic cod. They suggested that the liver sizes of fish strongly relate to dietary concentration of macro-nutrients balances and energy density is of the most important factors to regulate the hepato lipid deposition. Albrektsen et al. (2006) found a significant reduction of liver sizes of Atlantic cod fed the diet containing larger content of plant protein sources. The present results suggest that liver sizes of the juvenile parrot fish might be affected by dietary CS inclusion levels.

Superoxide anion produced by blood leukocytes was measured using nitro blue tetrazolium assay (NBT). NBT activity slightly increased with the increase of dietary CS. Fish groups fed the diet F-CS40 produced highest NBT activity compared to the control diet (Table 4.8). It indicates that the higher anti-oxidant activities in the diets containing the F-CS might enhance the non-specific immune response in juvenile parrot fish. In the present feeding trial, anti-oxidant activities in the diets containing the F-CS was significantly higher than that of the control and the CS diets (Table 4.9). It clearly demonstrated that heat treatment in fermentation process could produce higher antioxidant activities in the F-CS diets. Anton et al. (2008) reported that total polyphenol content and DPPH radical scavenging activity was significantly increased with heat drying. Large amount of polyphenol compounds were consumed in fish groups fed the F-CS diets might directly enhance the NBT activity. Manach et al. (2004) found that the effects of Polyphenol depend on their amount consumed and on their bioavailability. It is therefore concluded that the higher NBT activity in fish groups fed the diets containing F-CS might be directly related to the larger amount of dietary polyphenol compounds consumed.

Plasma glucose concentration was significantly increased in fish groups fed the CS diets, regardless of the different treatments (Table 4.10). Higher sugar concentration including glucose in the CS diets might result in the increment of plasma glucose concentration. Further studies on the effects of fermented plant protein sources on plasma glucose of fish are recommended.

Plasma cholesterol and triglyceride were significantly lower in the fish groups fed the CS and F-CS diets. The fish fed the F-CS diets produced lower plasma cholesterol and triglyceride compared to the CS diets. Cholesterol lowering effects of dietary soybean meal and other plant protein sources has been reported in many vertebrate animals including fish (Golgberg et al., 1982; Kaushik et al., 1995; Ali et al., 2004; Chisholm et al., 2005; Dias et al., 2005; Romarheim et al., 2008). It was suggested that there were various dietary factors including proteins, non-proteins in soybean and cottonseed meal might lower the plasma cholesterol and triglyceride. Goldberg et al. (1982) demonstrated that the decrement in plasma cholesterol concentration in hypercholesterolemia patients was attributed by soy protein components. Meanwhile, Anderson and Wolf (1995) reported that cholesterolemia was affected by various soybean non-protein components, such as trypsin inhibitors, saponins, phytoestrogen, fibers, phytosterols, phytic acids and minerals. Ali et al. (2004) also found that soy isoflavones could lower plasma cholesterol in rats. It is apparent that there are many factors including nutrients, non-nutrients and endocrines involve in the regulation of cholesterol synthesis and metabolism in vertebrates. In fish, Kaushik et al. (1995) revealed that plasma cholesterol concentration was reduced in rainbow trout fed the diets contained soybean protein in comparison to the fish fed the fish meal protein based diet. Similar results were observed in European sea bass fed the soybean diets (Dias et al., 2004). Moreover, cottonseed meal also could contribute in the reduction of plasma cholesterol concentration. Studies recently have demonstrated that cottonseed by-products, including cottonseed meal might affect the cholesterol synthesis and metabolism and lead to the reduction of plasma cholesterol level in animals (Nwoha and Aire, 1995; Edwarsd and Radcliffe, 1995; Radcliffe et al., 2001). The results in our previous feeding trial (Pham et al., 2008, accepted on Asian-Australia Journal of Animal Science) strongly support to

the present findings and indicate a negatively relationship between the dietary concentration of polyphenol compounds, particularly with some flavonoids and plasma cholesterol ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.68$). The effect of dietary flavonoids on the decrement of plasma cholesterol concentration was well demonstrated by Sudheesh et al. (1997). The authors interpreted those higher dietary flavonoids levels significantly increased the concentration of hepatic and fecal bile acids and fecal neutral sterols and resulted in higher rate of degradation of cholesterol.

Fermented soybean has been considered as a potential source of antioxidant compounds which could alter the antioxidant enzymes in including superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px) and inhibit lipid peroxidation (thiobarbituric acid reactive substances, TBARS) in some animals' tissues both in vitro and in vivo (Ashida et al., 2002; Ashida and Okimasu 2005; Ashida et al., 2005; Pham and Lee, 2007; Kwak et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2008). In the present feeding trial, the F-CS diets did not influence the liver antioxidant enzymes and liver DPPH activity in juvenile parrot fish after six weeks, even the antioxidant activity and polyphenol compounds in the F-CS diets were significantly higher than those of the control diet (Fig. 4.3, 4.4, 4.5). Contradictorily, Pham and Lee (2007) reported that higher liver SOD activity was obtained in juvenile parrot fish fed the diets containing Cheongkukjang. Kwak et al. (2007) also demonstrated that Chungkukjang (CKJ) diet elevated liver SOD activity compared to the soy and high fat control diet. Both Chungkukjang and soy diets showed the significant reduction in hepatic lipid peroxidation and slightly increase in CAT activity compared to the control diet. They postulated that the findings probably resulted in much higher antioxidant activities of KCJ due to the increase of aglycone and malonylglycosode isoflavones produced during fermentation process. Therefore, further studies on the effects of fermented CS on immune response of parrot fish are necessary.

4.5. CONCLSUSION

The present findings suggest that (1) cottonseed and soybean meal (CS) could replace up to 30% of fish meal in the diet for juvenile parrot fish; (2) fermentation process significantly improves the antioxidant activity and increases content of polyphenol compounds in CS; (3) the decline in growth performance of fish fed the F-CS diets is probably associated to the anti-nutritional factors produced in overheated CS. A proper fermentation process including heating period, starter microorganisms should be further determined.

REFERENCES

- Ai, Q., Mai, K., Zhang, C., Xu, W., Duan, Q., Tan, B., Liufu, Z., 2004. Effects of dietary vitamin C on growth and immune response of Japanese sea bass, *Lateolabrax japonicus*. Aquaculture 242, 489-500.
- Ali, A.A., Velasquez, M.T., Hansen, C.T., Mohamed, A.I., Bhathena, S.J., 2004. Effects of soybean isoflavones, probiotics and their interactions on lipid metabolism and endocrine system in an animal model of obesity and diabetes. J. Nutr. Biochem. 15, 583-590.
- An, H. S., Kim, J. W., Park, J. Y., 2006. Microsatellite DNA loci in the rock bream Oplegnathus fasciatus. Molecul. Ecol. Notes 6, 44-46.
- Anderson, D. P., Siwicki, A. K., 1995. Basic haematology and serology for fish health programs. In: Shariff M, Arthur JR, Subasinghe RP, editors. Diseases in Asian aquaculture II. Manila: Philippines fish health section. Asian Fisheries Society. p.185.
- Anderson, R.L., Wolf, W.J., 1995. Compositional changes in trypsin inhibitors, phytic acid, saponins and isoflavones related to soybean processing. J. Nutr. 125, 581S-588S.
- AOAC (Association of Official Analytical Chemists), 1995. Official methods of analysis, 16th edition, Arlington VA. Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Arlington, Virginia, USA.
- Araba, M., Dale, N.M., 1990. Evaluation of protein solubility as an indicator of over-processing soybean meal. Poultry Sci. 69, 76-83.
- Arndt, R.E., Hardy, R.W., Sugiura, S.H., Dong, F.M., 1999. Effects of heat treatment and substitution level on palatability and nutritional value of soy - 153 -

defatted flour in feeds for Coho salmon, *Oncorhynchus kisutch*. Aquaculture 180, 129-145.

- Ashida, T., Okimasu, E., 2005. Immunostimulatory effects of fermented vegetable product on the non-specific immunity of Japanese flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus*. Fisheries Sci. 71, 257-262.
- Ashida, T., Okimasu, E., Amemura, A., 2002. Effects of a fermented vegetable product on hemolysis and lipid peroxidation of Japanese flounder erythrocytes. Fisheries Sci. 68, 1324-1329.
- Ashida, T., Takei, Y., Takagaki, M., Matsuura, Y., Okimasu, E., 2006. The dietary effects of a fermented vegetable product on glutathione peroxidase activity and lipid peroxidation of Japanese flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus*. Fisheries Sci. 72, 179-184.
- Baeverford G., Krogdahl, A., 1996. Development and regression of soybean meal induced enteristic in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar L.*, distal intestine: a comparison with intestines of fasted fish. J. Fish Dis. 19, 375-387.
- Benz, C.C., Keniry, M.A., Ford, J.M., Townsend, A.J., Cox, F.W., Palayoor, S., Matlin,S.A., Hait, W.N., 1990. Biochemical correlates of the antitumor and antimitochondrial properties of gossypol enantiomers. Mol. Pharmacol. 37, 840–847.
- Benzie, I. F. F., Strain, J. J., 1996. The reducing ability of plasma as a measure of "antioxidant power"-the FRAP assay. Anal. Biochem. 239, 70-76.
- Benzie, I. F. F., Chung, W. Y., Strain. J. J., 1999. "Antioxidant" (reducing) efficiency of ascorbate in plasma as not affected by concentration. J Nutr. Biochem. 10, 146-150.

- 16. Biswas, A. K., Kaku, H., Ji, S. C., Seoka, M., Takii, K., 2007. Use of soybean meal and phytase for partial replacement of fish meal in the diet of red sea bream, *Pagrus major*. Aquaculture 267, 284-291.
- Blinkovsky, A.M., Byun, T., Brown, K.M., Golighty, E.J., 1999. Purification, characterization, and heterologous expression in *Fusatium venenatum* of a nevel serine carboxypeptidase from *Aspergillus oryzae*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65 (8), 3298-3303.
- Boonyaratpalin, M., Suraneiranat, P., Tunpibal, T., 1998. Replacement of fish meal with various types of soybean products in diets for the Asian seabass, *Lates calcarifer*. Aquaculture 161, 67-78.
- Bradford, M.M., 1976. A rapid and sensitive for the quantitation of microgram quantitites of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal. Biochem. 72, 248-254.
- Brand-Williams, W., Cuvelier, M.E., Berset, C., 1995. Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity. Food Sci. Technol. 28, 25-30.
- 21. Burk, R. F., Trumble, M. J., Lawrence, R. A., 1980. Rat hepatic cytosolic GSHdependent enzyme protection against lipid peroxidation in the NADPH microsomal lipid peroxidation system. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 618, 35-41.
- Campbell-Platt, G., 1994. Fermented foods- a world perspective. Food Res. Int. 28, 253.
- Catacutan, M. R., Pagador, G. E., 2004. Partial replacement of fish meal in formulated diets for the mangrove red snapper, *Lutjanus argentimaculatus* (Forsskal 1775). Aquacult. Res. 35, 299-306.

- Chew, B.P., 1996. Importance of antioxidant vitamins in immunity and health in animals. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 59, 103-114.
- 25. Chisholm, A., Auley, K. Mc. Mann, J., Williams, S., Skeaff, M., 2005. Cholesterol lowering effects of nuts compared with canola oil enriched cereal of similar fat composition. Nutr. Metabol. Cardiovas. Dis. 15, 284-292.
- Cho, Y.S., Choi, B.N., Kim, K.H., Kim, S.K., Kim, D.S., Bang, I.C., Nam, Y.K.,
 2006. Differential expression of Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase mRNA during exposures to heavy metals in rockbream (*Oplegnathus fasciatus*). Aquaculture 253, 667-679.
- 27. Choi, H.-K., Lim, Y.-S., Kim, Y.-K., Park, S.-Y., Lee, C.-H., Hwang, K.-W., Kwon, D.-Y., 2008. Free radical-scavenging and tyrosinase inhibition activities of Cheonggukjang samples fermented various times. Food Chem.106, 564-568.
- 28. Choi, S.K., Kwon, S.R., Nam, Y.K., Kim, S.K. Kim, K.H., 2006. Organ distribution of red sea bream iridovirus (RSIV) DNA in asymptomatic yearling and fingerling rock bream (*Oplegnathus fasciatus*) and effects of water temperature on transition of RSIV into acute phase. Aquaculture 256, 23-26.
- Chou, R.L., Her, B.Y., Su, M.S., Hwang, G., Wu, Y.H., Chen, H.Y., 2004. Substituting fish meal with soybean meal in diets of juvenile cobia *Rachycentron canadum*. Aquaculture 229, 325-333.
- Clark, E.M., Mahoney, A.W., Carpenter, C.E., 1997. Heme and total iron in ready eat chicken. J. Agri. Food Chem. 45, 124-126.
- Cohen, G., Dembiec, D., Marcus, J. 1970. Measurement of catalase activity in tissue extracts. Anal. Biochem. 34, 30-38.

- 32. Coyle, S.D., Mengel, G.J., Tidwell, J.H., Webster, D.C., 2004. Evaluation of growth, feed utilization and economics of hybrid tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus* x *O. aureus*, fed diets containing different protein resources in combination with distillers dried grains with soluble. Aquacult. Res. 35, 365-370.
- Dabrowski, K., Hinterleitner, S., 1989. Application of a simultaneous assay of ascorbic acid, dehydroascorbic acid and ascorbic sulphate in biological materials. Anal. 114, 83-87.
- Decker, E., Welch, A. B., 1990. Role of ferritin as a lipid oxidation catalyst in muscle food. J. Agric. Food Chem. 38, 674-677.
- Degani, G., Viola, S., Yehuda, Y., 1997. Apparent digestibility coefficient of protein sources for carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L). Aquac. Res. 28, 23-28.
- 36. Delgado, C.L., Wada, N., Rosegnrant, M.W., Meijer, S., Ahmed, M., 2003. THE FUTURE OF FISH, Issues and Trends to 2020. International Food Policy Research Institute and World Fish Center.
- 37. Deng, J., Mai, K., Ai, Q., Zhang, W., Wang, X., Xu, W., Liufu, Z., 2006. Effects of replacing fish meal with soy protein concentrate on feed intake and growth of juvenile Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*. Aquaculture 258, 503-513.
- 38. Dias, J., Alvarel, M.J., Corraze, G., Diez, A., Bautista, J.M., Kaushik, S.J., 2005. Dietary protein source affects lipid metabolism in the European seabass (*Dicentra labrax*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A 142, 19-31.
- Doblado, R., Zielinski, H., Piskula, M., Kozlowska, H., Munoz, R., Frias, J., Vidal-Valverde, C., 2005. Effecst of processing on the antioxidant vitamins and antioxidant capacity of *Vigna sinesis* Var. Carilla. J. Agric. Food Chem. 53, 1215-1222.

- Dorsa, W.J., Robinette, R.H., Robinson, H.E., Poe, E.W., 1982. Effects of dietary cottonseed meal and gossypol on growth of young channel catfish. T. Am. Fish. Soc. 111, 651-655.
- Elangovan, A., Shim, K.F., 2000. The influence of replacing fish meal partially in the diet with soybean meal on growth and body composition of juvenile tin foil barb (*Barbodes altus*). Aquaculture 190, 133-144.
- Ellis, A. E., 2001. Innate host defense mechanisms of fish against viruses and bacteria. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 25, 827-839.
- El-Sayed, D. M. S., 1990. Long-term evaluation of cottonseed meal as a protein source for Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus*. Aquaculture 84, 315-320.
- Esaki, H., Kawakishi, S., Morimitsu, Y., Osawa, T., 1999. New Potent Antioxidative *o*-Dihydroxyisoflavones in Fermented Japanese Soybean Products. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 63 (9), 1627-1629.
- 45. Evans, J.J., Pasnik, D.J., Peres, H., Klesius, P.H., 2005. No apparent differences in intestinal histology of channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*) fed heat-treated and non-heated-treated raw soybean meal. Aquacult. Nutr. 11, 123-129.
- Fang, Y-Z., Yang, S., Wu, G., 2002. Free radicals, antixodants, and nutrition. Nutr. 18, 872-879.
- 47. Feng, J., Liu, X., Xu, Z.R., Liu, Y.Y., Lu, Y.P., 2007a. Effects of Aspergillus oryzae 3.042 fermented soybean meal on growth performance and plasma biochemical parameters in broilers. Anim. Feed Sci.Technol. 134, 235-242.
- 48. Feng, J., Liu, X., Xu, Z.R., Lu, X.P., Liu, Y.Y., 2007b. The effect of *Aspergillus aoryzae* fermented soybean meal on growth performance, digestibility of

dietary components and activities of intestinal enzymes in weaned piglets. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 134, 295-303.

- Fernandez-Orzco, R., Frias, J., Monoz, R., Zienlinski, H., Piskula, M.K., Kozlowska, H., Vidal-Valderde, C., 2007. Fermentation as a bio-process to obtain functional soybean flours. J. Agric. Food Chem. 55, 8972-8979.
- 50. Folch, J., Lee, M., Sloane -Stanley, G. H., 1957. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipids from animal tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 226, 49-509.
- Francis, G., Makkar, H.P.S., Backer, K., 2001. Antinutritional factors present in plant derived alternate fish feed ingredients and the effects in fish. Aquaculture 199, 197-227.
- Frias, J., Song, Y.S., Martinez-Villaluenga, C., De Mejia, E.G., Vidal-Valverde, C., 2008. Immunoreactivity and amino acids content of fermented soybean products. J. Agric. Food Chem. 56, 99-105.
- Fujita, J., Budda, N., Tujimoto, M., Yamane, Y.-I., Fukada, H., Mikami, S., Kizaki, Y., 2000. Isolation and characterization of phytase isozymes produced by *Aspergillus oryzae*. Biotechnol Let. 22, 1797-1802.
- 54. Fujita, J., Shigeta, S., Yamane, Y.-I., Fukuda, H., Kizaki, Y., Wakabayashi, S., Ono, K., 2003a. Production of two types of phytases from *Aspergillus oryzae* during industrial Koji making. J. Biosci. Bioengineer. 95 (5), 460-465.
- 55. Fujita, J., Yamane, Y.-I., Fukuda, H., Kizaki, Y., Wakabayashi, S., Shigeta, S., Suzuki, O., Ono, K., 2003b. Production and properties of phytase and acid phosphatase from a Sake Koji mold, *Aspergillus oryzae*. J. Biosci. Bioengineer. 95 (4), 348-353.

- Goldberg, A.P., Lim, A., Kolar, J.B., Grundhauser, J.J., Steinke, F.H., Schonfeld,
 G., 1982. Soybean protein independently lowers plasma cholesterol levels in primary hypercholesterolemia. Atherosclerosis 43, 355-368.
- 57. Gomes, E.F., Rema, P., Kaushik, S.J., 1995. Replacement of fish meal by plant proteins in the diet of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): Digestibility and growth performance. Aquaculture 130, 177–186.
- Gomez-Basauri, J.V., Regenstein, J.M., 1992. Processing and frozen effects on the iron content of cod and mackerel. J. Food Sci. 57, 1332-1336.
- Guesta, A., Esteban, M. A., Meseguer, J., 2002. Natural cytotoxic activity in seabream (*Sparus aurata* L.) and its modulation by vitamin C. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 13, 97-109.
- Gyorgy, P., Murata, K., Ikehata, H., 1964. Antioxidants isolated from fermented soybeans (Tampeh). Nature 203, 870-872.
- Hansen, A.C., Rosenlund, G., Karlsen, O., Koppe, W., Hemre, G.I., 2007. Total replacement of fish meal with plant proteins in diets for Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua* L.) I- Effects in growth and protein retention. Aquaculture 272, 599-611.
- Hardy, R.W., 1995. Current issues in salmonid nutrition. In: C.E. Lim and D.J. Sessa, Editors, Nutrition and Utilization Technology in Aquaculture, AOCS Press, Champaign, IL, USA (1995), 26–35.
- Hendricks, J. D., 2002. Adventitious toxins. In: J.E. Halver and R.W. Hardy, Editors, Fish Nutrition (3rd Ed.). Academic Press, San Diego, CA, USA (2002), 601–649.
- Hendricks, J.D., Sinnhuber, R.O., Loveland, P.M., Nixon, J.E., 1980. Hepatocarcinogenecity of glandless cottonseed oil to rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdnerii*). Science 208, 309-311.
- Herman, R. L., 1970. Effect of gossypol on rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdnerii* Richardson. J. Fish Biol. 2, 293-304.
- 66. Hernendez, M.D., Martinez, F.J., Jover, M., Garcia, B., 2007. Effects of partial replacement of fish meal by soybean meal in sharpsnout seabream (*Diplodus puntazzo*) diet. Aquaculture 263, 159-167.
- Hirabayashi, M., Matsui, T., Yano, H., Nakajima, T., 1998. Fermentation of soybean meal with *Aspergillus usamii* reduces phosphorus excretion in chicks. Poultry Sci. 77, 552-556.
- Hong, K.J., Lee, C.H., Kim, S.W., 2004. Aspergillus oryzae 3.042GB-107 fermentation improves nutritional quality of food soybeans and feed soybean meals. J. Med. Food 7 (4), 430–434.
- 69. Hornsey, H.C., 1956. The color of cooked cured pork, I. estimated of the nitric oxide-heme pigments. J. Sci. Food Agri. 7, 534-540.
- 70. Hossain, M.A., Focken, U., Becker, K., 2001. Effect of soaking and soaking followed by autoclaving of Sesbania seeds on growth and feed utilization in common carp, *Cyprinus carpio* L. Aquaculture 203, 133-148.
- Jenkins D. J.A., Kendall, C.W.C., Nguyen, T.H., Marchie, A., Faulkner, D.A., Ireland, C., Josse, A.R., Vidgen, E., Trautwein, E.A., Lapsley, K.G., Holmes, C., Josse, R.G., Leiter, L.A., Connelly, P.W., Singer, W., 2008. Effect of plant sterols in combination with other cholesterol-lowering foods. Metabol. Clin. Experiment. 57, 130-139.

- 72. Jung, K.-O., Park, S.-Y., Park, K.-Y., 2006. Longer aging time increases the anticancer and antimetastatic properties of deonjang. Nutr. 22, 539-545.
- 73. Jung, S. J., Oh, M. J., 2000. Iridovirus-like infection associated with high mortalities of striped beakperch, *Oplegnathus fasciatus* (Temminck et Schlegel) in southern coastal areas of Korean peninsula. J. Fish Dis. 23, 223-226.
- 74. Kasper, C.S., Watkins, B.A., Brown, P.B., 2007. Evaluation of two soybean meals fed to yellow perch (*Perce flavescens*). Aquacult. Nutr. 13, 431-438.
- 75. Kaushik, S.J., Cravedi, J.P., Lalles, J.P., Sumpter, J., Fauconneau, B., Laroche, M., 1995. Partial or total replacement of fish meal by soybean protein on growth, protein utilization, potential estrogenic or antigenic effects, cholesterolemia and flesh quality in rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Aquaculture 133, 257-274.
- 76. Kaushik, S.J., Coves, D., Dutto, G., Blanc, D., 2004. Almost replacement of fish meal by plant protein sources in the diet of a marine teleost, the European sea bass, *Dicentrarchus labrax*. Aquaculture 230, 391-404.
- Kikuchi, K., 1999. Use of defatted soybean meal as a substitute for fish meal in diets of Japanese flounder (*Paralihcthys olivaceus*). Aquaculture 179, 3-11.
- Kikuchi, K., Furuta, T., Honda. H., 1994. Utilization of soybean meal as a protein source in the diet of juvenile Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*. Suisanzoshoku 42, 601–604.
- 79. Kim, J.S., Yoo, S.M., Choe, J.S., Park, H.J., Hong, S.P. Chang, C.M., 1998. Physicochemical properties of traditional Chonggugjang produced in different regions. Agric. Chem. Biotech. 41, 377-383.

- Kim, S.H., Yang, J.L., Song, Y.S., 1999. Physiological functions of Chungkuk-Jang. Food Ind. Nutr. 4, 40-46.
- 81. Kim, Y., Cho, J.Y., Kuk, J.H., Moon, J.H., Cho, J.I., Kim, Y.C., 2004. Identification and antimicrobial activity of phenylacetic acid produced by *Bacillus licheniformis* isolated from fermented soybean, Chungkuk-Jang. Curr. Microbiol. 48, 312-317.
- Kollner, B., Wasserab, B., Kotterba, G., Fischer, U., 2002. Evaluation of immune functions of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) – how can environmental influences be detected. Toxicol. Lett. 131, 83-95.
- Kumari, J., Sahoo, P.K., 2005. Effects of cyclophosphamide on the immune system and disease resistance of Asian catfish *Clasrias batrachus*. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 19, 307-316.
- Kumari, J., Sahoo, P.K., 2006. Dietary β-1,3 glucan potentiates innate immunity and disease resistance of Asian catfish, *Clarias batracus* (L.). J. Fish Dis. 26, 95-101.
- Kumari, J., Sahoo, S.K., Swain, T., Sahoo, P.K., Sahu, A.K., Mohanty, B.R., 2006. Seasonal variation in the innate immune parameters of the Asian catfish *Clarias batrachus*. Aquaculture 252, 121-127.
- Kundu, A.K., Das, S., 1970. Production of amylase in liquid culture by a strain of Aspergillus oryzae. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 19 (4), 598-603.
- 87. Kundu, A.K., Das, S., Manna, S., Pal, N., 1968. Extracellular proteinases of *Aspergillus oryzae*. Appl. Microbiol. 16 (11), 1799-1801.
- Kundu, A.K., Manna, S., 1975. Purification and characterization of extracellular proteinases of *Aspergillus oryzae*. Appl. Microbiol. 30 (4), 507-513.

- Lee, C. H., Jul, M., 1982. The effect of Korean soysauce fermentation on the quality of protein soybean. In Traditional Food Fermentation as Industrial Resources in ASCA countries. (eds.) Saono, S., Winarno, F. G., Karjadi, D. LIPI, Jakarta, Indonesia, 209-220.
- 90. Lee, D.J., Putman, G.B., 1973. The response of rainbow trout to varying protein/energy ratios in a test diet. J. Nutr. 103, 916-922.
- 91. Lee, H.I., Hung, Y.-H., Chou, C.-C., 2008. Solid state fermentation with fungi to enhance the antioxidative activity, total phenolic and anthocyanin contents of black bean. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 121, 150-156.
- 92. Lee, K.-J., Dabrowski, K., 2002. Tissue gossypol and gossypolone isomers in rainbow trout fed low and high levels of dietary cottonseed meal. J. Agric. Food Chem. 50, 3056-3061.
- Lee, K.S., Lee, Y.B., Lee, D.S., Chung, S.K., 2006. Quality evaluation of Korean soy sauce fermented in Korean earthenware (Onggi) with different glazes. Int. J. Food Sci. Technol. 41, 1158-1163.
- 94. Lee, M.Y., Park, S.Y., Jung, K.O., Park, K.Y., Kim, S.D., 2005. Quality and functional characteristics of Chungkuk-Jang prepared with various *Bacillus* sp. isolated from traditional Chungkuk-Jang. J. Food Sci. 70, 191-196.
- 95. Lee, S.J., Kim, S.M., Kim, S.K., Nam, Y.K., Kim, D.S., Kim, K.H., 2004. Modulation of zymosan- and phorbol ester-stimulated respiratory burst of rock bream (*Oplegnathus fasciatus*) phagocytes by staurosporine, genistein and sodium orthovanadate. Aquaculture 237, 1-7.
- Lee, S.H., Kim, J.G., Shin, Y.W., Park, Y.H., You, S.K., Kim, S.H., Whang, K.Y.,
 2007. Comparison of laboratory analytical values and in vivo soybean meal

quality on pigs by employing soyflakes heat treated under conditions. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 134, 337-346.

- 97. Lim, S.R., Choi, S.M., Wang, X.J., Kim, K.W., Shin, I.S., Min, T.S., Bai, S.C., 2004. Effects of dehulled soybean meal as a fish meal replacer in diets for fingerling and growing Korean rockfish *Sebastes schlegeli*, Aquaculture 231, 457–468.
- Lin, C.-H., Wei, Y.-T., Chou, C.-C., 2006. Enhanced antioxidative activity of soybean koji prepared with various filamentous fungi. Food Microbiol. 23, 628-633.
- 99. Lin, M.F., Shiau, S.Y., 2005a. Requirements of vitamin C (L-ascorbyl-2-sulphate and L-ascorbyl-2-polyphosphate) and its effects on non-specific immune responses of grouper, *Epinephelus malabaricus*. Aquacult. Nutr. 11, 183-189.
- 100. Lin, Y.H. Shiau, S.Y., 2005b. Dietary vitamin E requirement of grouper, *Epinephelus malabaricus*, at two lipid levels, and their effects on immune responses. Aquaculture 248, 235-244.
- 101. Machado, F.P.P., Queiroz, J.H., Oliveira, M.G.A., Piovesan, N.D., Peluzio, M.C.G., Costa, N.M.B., Moreinra, M.A., 2008. Effects of heating on protein quality of soybean flour devoid of Kunitz inhibitor and lectin. Food Chem. 107, 649-655.
- 102. Magnadottir, B., 2006. Innate immunity of fish. Fish Shellfish Immun. 20, 137-151.
- 103. Makino, H., Masuda, R., Tanaka, M., 2006. Ontogenetic changes of learning capacity under reward conditioning in striped knife jaw *Oplegnathus fasciatus* juveniles. Fisheries Sci. 72, 1177-1182.

- 104. Manzoni, M.S.J., Rossi, E.A., Carlos, I.Z., Vendramini, R.C., Duarte, A.C.G.O., Damaso, A.R., 2005. Fermented soy product supplemented with isoflavones affected fat depots in juvenile rats. Nutr. 21, 1018-1024.
- 105. Masumoto , T., Tamura, B., Shimeno, S., 2001. Effects of phytase on bioavailability in soybean meal based-diets for Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*. Fisheries Sci. 67, 1075-1080.
- 106. Matsui, T., Hirabayashi, M., Iwana, Y., Nakajima, T., Yano, F., Yano, H., 1996. Fermentation of soya-bean meal with *Aspergillus usamin* improves phosphorus availability in chicks. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 60, 131-136.
- 107. Mbahinzireki, G.B., Dabrowski, K., Lee, K.-J., El-Saidy, D., Wisner, E.R., 2001. Growth, feed utilization and body composition of tilapia (*Oreochromis sp.*) fed with cottonseed meal-based diets in a re-circulating system. Aquacult. Nutr. 7, 189-200.
- 108. McMoogan, B., Gatlin, D. M III., 1997. Effect of replacing fish meal with soybean meal in diets for red drum *Sciaenops acellatus* and potential for palatability enhancement. J. World Aquacult. Soc. 28, 374–385.
- 109. Merc Index, 1989. An encyclopedia of chemicals, drugs and biologicals. 11th Ed, Rahway: Merck and Company.
- Mine, Y., Wong, A.H.K. Jiang, B., 2005. Fibrinolytic enzymes in Asian traditional fermented foods. Food Res. Int. 38, 243-250.
- 111. Ministry of Maritime Affairs and Fisheries (2004) Statistical Yearbook of Agriculture and Fisheries, Seoul, Korean.

- 112. Moreno, M.I.N., Isla, M.I., Sampietro, A.R., Vattuone, M.A., 2000. Comparison of the free radical-scavenging activity of propolis from several regions of Argentina. J. Ethnophamarcol. 71, 109-114.
- 113. Mukhopadhyay, N., Ray, A.K., 2005. Effects of fermentation on apparent total and nutritient digestibility of linseed, *Linum usitatiisimum*, meal in rohu, *Labeo rohita* fingerlings. Acta Ichthyolog. Piscator. 35 (2), 73-78.
- 114. Mulero, V., Esteban, M. A., Meseguer, J., 1998. Effect of in vitro addition of exogenous vitamins C and E on gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata* L.) phagocytes. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 66, 185-199.
- 115. Nagai, T., Sakai, M., Inoue, R., Inoue, H., Suzuki, N., 2001. Antioxidant activities of some commercial honeys, royal jelly and propolis. Food Chem. 75, 237-240.
- 116. Nahapetian, A., Bassirt, A., 1975. Changes in concentration and interrelationship of phytate, P, Mg, Cu, Zn in wheat during maturation. J. Agric. Food Chem. 23, 1179-1182.
- 117. Nam, Y.K., Cho, Y.S., Choi, B.N., Kim, K.H., Kim, S.K., Kim, D.S., 2005. Alteration of antioxidant enzymes at the mRNA level during short-term starvation of rockbream *Oplegnathus fasciatus*. Fisheries Sci. 71, 1385-1387.
- Newaj-Fyzul, A., Adesiyun, A. A., Mutani, A., Ramsubhag, A., Brunt, J., Austin, B., 2007. *Bacillus subtilis* AB1 control Aeromonas infection in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*, Walboum). J. Appl. Microbiol. 103, 1699-1706.
- 119. Nordrum, S., Asgard, T., Shearer, D.K., Arnessen, P., 1997. Availability of phosphorus in fish bone meal and inorganic salts to Atlantic salmon (*Salmon salar*) as determination retention. Aquaculture 157, 51-61.

- 120. Nordrum, S., Bakke-McKellep, A.M., Krogdahl, A., Buddington, R.K., 2000. Effects of soybean meal and salinity on intestinal transport of nutrients in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) and rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B 125, 317-335.
- 121. NRC (National Research Council), 1993. Nutritional Requirements of Fish. National Academic Press, Washington, DC.
- 122. Ogunkoya, A.E., Page, G.I., Adewolu, M.A., Bureau, D.P., 2006. Dietary incorporation of soybean meal and exogenous enzyme cocktail can affect characteristics of faecal material egested by rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture 254, 466-475.
- 123. Oh, M.J., Kitamura, S.I., Kim, W.S., Park, M.K., Jung, S.J., Miyadai, T., Ohtani, M., 2006. Susceptibility of marine fish species to a megalocytivirus, turbot iridovirus, isolated from turbot, *Psetta maximus* (L.). J Fish Dis. 29, 415-421.
- 124. Olli, J.J., Kroghahl, A., 1995. Alcohol soluble components of soybeans seem to reduce fat digestibility in fish-meal-based diets for Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., Aquac. Res. 26, 831–835.
- 125. Olsen, R.E., Hansen, A.C., Rosenlund, G., Hemre, G.I., Mayhew, T.M., Knudsen, D.L., Eroldogan, O.T., Myklenust, R., Karlsen, O., 2007. Total replacement of fish meal with plant proteins in diets for Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua* L.) II-Health aspects. Aquaculture 272, 612-624.
- 126. Ortuno, J., Guesta, A., Estaban, M. A., Meseguer, J., 2001. Effect of adminsitration of high vitamin C and E dosages on the gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata* L.) innate immune system. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.79, 167-180.

- 127. Oyaizu, M., 1986. Antioxidative activities of browning reaction prepared from glucoamin. Jpn. J. Nutr. 44, 307-315.
- 128. Park, K.Y., Jung, K.O., 2005. Fermentation soybean products as functional foods: functional properties of doenjang (fermented soybean paste). In: Shi, J., Ho, C.T., Shahidi, F., editors. Asian Functional Foods. Boca Raton: CRC Press, 555-596.
- 129. Parsons, C. M., Hashimoto, K., Wedekond, K.J., Han, Y., Baker, D.H., 1992. Effect of over processing of availability of amino acids and energy in soybean meal. Poultry Sci. 76, 361-368.
- 130. Parsons, C.M., Hashimoto, K., Wedekind, K.J., Baker, D.H., 1991. Soybean protein solubility in potassium hydroxide: an in vitro test of in vivo protein quality. J Anim. Sci. 69, 2918-2924.
- 131. Pham, M.A., Lee, K.-J., 2007. Effects of dietary cheongkukjang on liver superoxide dismutase activity of parrotfish *Oplegnathus fasciatus*. J. Kor. Aquacult. Soc. 20, 132-139.
- Pham, M.A., Lee, K.-J., Lim, S.-J., Lee, B.-J., Kim, S.-S., Park, Y.-J., Lee, S.-M., 2005. Fish meal replacement by cottonseed and soybean meal in diets for juvenile olive flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*, J. Kor. Aquacult. Soc. 18, 215-221.
- 133. Pham, M.A., Lee, K.-J., Lim, S.-L., Park, K.-H., 2007. Evaluation of cottonseed and soybean meal as partial replacement for fishmeal in diets for juvenile Japanese olive flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus*. Fisheries Sci. 73, 760-769.
- 134. Puang, J., V. Kiron, T. Somamoto, N. Okamoto, T. Takeuchi and T. Wantanabe,2004. Nonspecific immune response of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*)

Walbaum) in relation to different status of vitamin E and highly unsaturated fatty acids. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 16, 25-39.

- 135. Quantararo, N., Allan, G.L., Bell, J.D., 1998. Replacement of fish meal in diets for Australian snapper, *Pagrus auratus*. Aquacultute 153, 263-272.
- 136. Radha, C., Kumar, P.R., Prakash, V., 2008. Enzymatic modification as a tool to improve the functional properties of heat-processed soy flour. J. Sci. Food. Agric. 88, 336-343.
- 137. Refstie, S., Korsson O.J., Storebakken, T., Baeverfjord, G., Lein, I., Roem, A., 2000. Diifering nutritional responses to dietary soybean meal in rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* and Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. Aquaculture 190, 49-63.
- 138. Refstie, S., Sahlstrom, S., Brathen, E., Baeverjord, G., Krogedal, P., 2005. Lactic acid fermentation eliminates indigestible carbohydrates and antinutritional factors in soybean meal for Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. Aquaculture 246, 331-345.
- 139. Refstie, S., Storebakken, T., Roem, A.J., 1998. Feed consumption and conversion in Atlantic salmon (*Salmon salar*) fed diets with fish meal, extracted soybean meal or soybean meal with reduced content of oligosaccharides, trypsin inhibitors, lectins and soya antigens. Aquaculture 161, 301-312.
- 140. Refstie, S., Svihus, B., Shearer, K.D., Storebakken, T., 1999. Nutrient digestibility in Atlantic salmon and broiler chickens related to viscosity and non-starch polysaccharide content in different soyabean products. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 79, 331-345.

- 141. Refstie, S.R., Helland, S.J., Storebakken, T., 1997. Adaptation to soybean meal in diets for rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Aquaculture 153, 263-272.
- 142. Rhee, K.S., Siprin, Y.A., Calhoun, M.C., 2001. Antioxidant effects of cottonseed meals as evaluated in cooked meat. Meat Sci. 58, 117-123.
- 143. Rinchard, J., Lee, K.-J., Czesny, S., Ciereszko, A., Dabrowski, K., 2003. Effect of cottonseed meal containing diets to broodstock rainbow trout and their impact on the growth of their progenies. Aquaculture 227, 77-87.
- 144. Rinchard, J., Mbahinzireki, G., Dabrowski, K., Lee, K.-J., Garcia-Abiado, M., Ottobre, J., 2002. Effects of dietary cottonseed meal protein level on growth, gonad development and plasma sex steroid hormones of tropical fish tilapia *Oreochromis sp.* Aquacult. Int. 10, 11-28.
- 145. Robaina, L., Izquierdo, M.S., Moyano, F.J., Socorro, J., Vergara, J.M., Montero, D., Fernandez-Palacios, H., 1995. Soybean and lupin seed meals as protein sources in diets for gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*): nutritional and histological implications. Aquaculture 130, 219-233.
- 146. Robinson, E.H., Brent, J.R., 1989. Use of cottonseed meal in catfish feeds. J. World Aquacult. Soc. 20, 250-255.
- 147. Robinson, E.H., Li, M.H., 1994. Use of plant proteins in catfish feeds: Replacement of soybean meal with cottonseed meal and replacement of fish meal with soybean meal and cottonseed meal. J. World Aquacult. Soc. 25, 271-276.
- 148. Robinson, E.H., Tiersch, T.R., 1995. Effects of long term feeding of cottonseed meal on growth, testis development and sperm motility of male channel catfish *Ictalurus punctatus* broodfish. J. World Aquacult. Soc. 26, 426-431.

- 149. Robinson, E.H., Rawles, S.D., Oldenburg, P.W., Stickney, R.R., 1984. Effects of feeding glandless or glanded cottonseed products and gossypol to *Tilapia aurea*. Aquaculture 38, 145-154.
- 150. Romarheim, O.H., Shrede, A., Penn, M., Mydland, L.T., Krogdahl, A., Storebakken, T., 2008. Lipid digestibility, bile drainage and development of morphological intestinal changes in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) fed diets containing defatted soybean meal. Aquaculture 274, 329-338.
- 151. Saitoh, S., Koshio, S., Harada, H., Wantanabe, K., Yoshida, T., Teshima, S.-I., Ishikawa, M., 2003. Utilization of extruded soybean meal for Japanese flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus* juveniles. Fisheries Sci. 69, 107-1077.
- 152. Sajjadi, M., Carter, C. G., 2004. Effects of phytic acid and phytase on feed intake, growth, digestibility and trypsin activity in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*, L.). Aquacult. Nutr. 10, 135-142.
- 153. Shelley, M.D., Hartley, L., Fish, R.G., Groundwater, P., Morgan, J.J.G., Mort, D., Mason, M., Evans, A., 1999: Stereo-specific cytotoxic effects of gossypol enantiomers and gossypolone in tumour cell lines. Cancer Lett. 135, 171.
- 154. Shimeno, S., Kumon, M., Ando, H., Ukawa, M., 1993. The growth performance and body composition of young yellowtail fed with diets containing defatted soybean meal for a long period. *Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi* 59, 821–825.
- 155. Shon, M.Y., Lee, J., Choi, J.H., Choi, S.Y., Nam, S.H., Seo, H.I., Lee, S.W., Sung, N.J., Park, S.K., 2007. Antioxidant and free radical scavenging activity of methanol extract of chungkukjang. J. Food Comp. Anal. 20, 113-118.

- 156. Skerget, M., Kotnik, P., Hadolin, M., Hras, A.R., Simonic, M., Knez, Z., 2005. Phenols, proanthocyanidins, flavones and flavones in some plant materials and the antioxidant activities. Food Chem. 89, 191-198.
- 157. Storebakken, T., Refstie, S., Ruyter, B., 2000. Soy products as fat and protein sources in fish feeds for intensive aquaculture. In: Drackley, J.K. (Ed.) Soy in animal nutrition. Fed. Anim. Sci. Soc., Savoy, IL, 129-170.
- 158. Swain, P., Dash, S., Sahoo, P.K., Routray, P., Sahoo, S.K., Gupta, S.D., Meher, P.K., Sarangi, N., 2007. Non specific immune parameters of brood Indian major carp *Labeo rohita* and their seasonal variations. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 22, 38-43.
- 159. Tachibana, K., Yagi, M., Hara, K., Mishima, T., Tsuchimoto, M., 1997. Effects of feeding of β-carotene supplemented rotifers on survival and lymphocyte proliferation reaction of fish larvae Japanese parrot fish (*Oplegnathus fasciatus*) and Spotted parrotfish (*Oplegnathus punctatus*)): preliminary trials. Hydrobiologia 358, 313-316.
- 160. Tantikitti, C., Sangpong, W., Chiavareesajja, S., 2005. Effects of defatted soybean protein levels on growth performance and nitrogen and phosphorus excretion in Asian seabass (*Lates calcarifer*). Aquaculture 248, 41-50.
- 161. Taoka, Y., Maeda, H., Jo, J.Y., Jeon, M.L., Bai, S.C., Lee, W.J., Yuge, K., Koshio, S., 2006a. Growth and stress tolerance and non-specific immune response of Japanese flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus* to probiotics in a closed recirculating system. Fisheries Sci. 72, 310-321.

- 162. Taoka, Y., Maeda, H., Jo, J.Y., Kim, S.M., Park, S.I., Yoshikawa, T., Sakata, T.,
 2006b. Use of live and dead probiotic cells in tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus*.
 Fisheries Sci. 72, 755-766.
- 163. Tibaldi, E., Hakim, Y., Uni, Z., Tulli, F., de Francesco, M., Luzzana, U., Harpaz, S., 2006. Effects of the partial substitution of dietary fish meal by differently processed soybean meals on growth performance, nutrient digestibility and activity of intestinal brush border enzymes in the European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus larbrax*). Aquaculture 261, 182-193.
- 164. Tocher, D.R., Mourente, G., Van Der Eecken, A., Evjemo, J.O., Diaz, E., Bell, J.G., Geurden, I., Lavens, P., Olsen, Y., 2002. Effects of dietary vitamin E on antioxidant defence mechanisms of juvenile turbot (*Scophthamus maximus* L.), halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus* L.) and sea bream (*Sparus auratus* L.). Aquacult. Nutr. 8, 195-207.
- 165. Tomas, A., de la Gandara, F., Garcia-Comez, A., Perez, L., Jover, M., 2005. Utilization of soybean meal as an alternative protein source in the Mediterranean yellow tail, *Seriola dumerili*. Aquacult. Nut. 11, 333-340.
- 166. Turhan, S., Ustun, N.S., Altunkaynak, T.B., 2004. Effect of cooking methods on total and heme iron contents of anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicholus*). Food Chem. 88, 169-172.
- 167. Ukeda, H., Kawana, D., Maeda, S., Sawamura, M., 1999. Spectrophotometer assay for superoxide dismutase based on the reduction of highly water soluble tetrazolium salts by xanthine-xanthine oxidase. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 63, 485-488.

- 168.Wang, X., Kim, K.W., Bai, S.C., Huh, M.D., Cho, B.Y., 2003. Effects of the different levels of dietary vitamin C on growth and tissue ascorbic acid changes in parrot fish (*Oplegnathus fasciatus*). Aquaculture 215, 203-211.
- 169. Xie, Z., Niu, C., Zhang, Z., Bao, L., 2006. Dietary ascorbic acid may be necessary for enhancing the immune response in Siberian sturgeon, *Acipenser baerii*, a species capable of ascorbic acid biosynthesis. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 145, 152.
- 170. Yabuki, M., Ono, N., Hoshino, K., Fukui, S., 1977. Rapid induction of α-amylase by non-growing mycelia of *Aspergillus oryzae*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 34 (1), 1-6.
- 171. Yamamoto, M. Saleh, F., Tahir, M., Ohtsuka, A., Hayashi, K., 2007. The effect of Koji feed (fermented distillery by-product) on the growth performance and nutrient metabolizability in broiler. J. Poult. Sci. 44, 291-296.
- 172. Yamane, Y.-I. Fujita, J., Izuwa, S., Fukuchi, K., Shimizu, R.-I., Hiyoshi, A., Fukuda, H., Mikami, S., Kizaki, Y., Wakabayashi, S., 2002. Properties of cellulose-degrading enzymes and their contribution to material utilization and alcohol yield in sake mash fermentation. J. Biosci. Bioengineer. 93, 479-484.
- 173. Yanbo, W., Zirong, X., 2006. Effect of probiotics for common carp (*Cyprynus carpio*) based on growth performance and digestive enzymes activities. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 127, 283-292.
- 174. Yang, J.H., Mau, J.L., Ko, P.T., Huang, L.C., 2000. Antioxidant properties of fermented soybean broth. Food Chem. 71, 249-254.

- 175. Youn, H.K., Choi, H.S., Hur, S.H., Hong, J.H., 2001. Antimicrobial activities of viscous substance from Cheongguk-Jang fermented with different *Bacillus* spp., J. Food Hyg. Saf. 16, 288-193.
- 176. Yousif, N.E., El Tinay, A.H., 2001. Effect of fermentation on sorghum protein fractions and in vitro protein digestibility. Plant Foods for Human Nutrition 56, 175-182.
- 177. Zhang, J.-H., Tatsumi, E., Fan, J.-F., Li, L.T., 2007. Chemical components of Aspergillus-type Douchi, a Chinese traditional fermented soybean product, change during the fermentation process. Int. J. Food Technol. 42, 263-268.
- 178. Zhou, Q.C., Mai, K.S., Tan, B.P., Liu, Y.J., 2005. Partial replacement of fishmeal by soybean meal in diets for juvenile cobia (*Rachycentron canadum*). Aquacult. Nutr. 11, 175-182.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First of all, I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Kyeong-Jun Lee for his guidance and instructions throughout my studies. My studies and productivity in publications and research have been enriched with his guidance and advices.

I acknowledge with great thanks to all professors and staff; Prof. Ki-Wan Lee, Prof. Kwang-Sik Choi, Prof. Young-Don Lee, Prof. Ki-Young Kim and Prof. Joon Bum Jeong in Department of Marine Life Science, Prof. Je-Hee Lee, Prof. Moon Soo Heo and Prof. You-Jin Jeon in Dept. of Marine Biotechnology, of the Ocean Science Collage for their assistances and vital advises for my studies and living in Korea.

I greatly appreciate my friends Mr. Bong-Joo Lee, Mr. Se-Jin Lim, Mr. Sung-Sam Kim, Mr. Gyung-Yong Ko, Ms. Jinee Eo, Mr. Dae-Han Oh and Mr. Ji-Nuk Park in Fish Feeds and Nutrition Laboratory, Mr. Dong-Oh Moon in Immunology Laboratory and Ms. So-Ny Cha, Ms. Seon-Heui Cha, Ms. Gin-Nae Ahn in Marine Biotechnology Laboratory for supporting me in studies and doing experiments. I would like to give my great thanks to Dr. Ngo Thi Thu Thao, Mr. Pham Tri Hoa, Mr. Hoa Van Ba, Mr. Nong Minh Ngoc, Ms. Thanh The and Mr. Cao Ngoc Than who have encouraged and helped me in studies and doing research.

I would like to give my especial thank to Dr. Pham Anh Tuan, Dr. Le Thanh Luu in Research Institute for Aquaculture No.1, Vietnam, for guiding me to study in South Korea where I could develop a strong and successful research carreer. They are great examples for me in study and dealing with people. I express my thanks to all foreign friends in Cheju National University for their co-operative friendship and valuable critics. Specially, I am indebted to Dr. German Bueno Galaz, who is always willing to share with me in any difficulties.

I would like to extend my great thanks to BK21 and NURI of College of Marine Life Science for supporting me during my MS and PhD studies.

Lastly, but most importantly, I would like to dedicate my success to my grandmother and grandfather who had always encouraged and supported me for my dream since I was a child at nurse. I acknowledge the constant support of my family members, my mother, farther and brothers who have always been there to encourage and guide me with persistent love. To my wife Dang Thi Tuyet Mai and my son Pham Thanh Long, I just want to say; I love you. Moreover, I am greatful to all my former teachers, friends and relatives who helped me in different ways to success of my studies in Korea.

APPENDIX (June 2008)

CURRICULUM VITAE

PERSONNEL INFORMATION

Full name:	Pham Minh Anh
Surname:	Pham
Forename:	Minh Anh
Date of Birth:	25 th September, 1977
Place of Birth:	Dong Anh District, Hanoi City, Vietnam
Nationality:	Vietnamese

Current Address:	Permanent address:
Cheju National University,	Research Institute for Aquaculture No.1
Marine Life Science Division (5216),	Dinh Bang, Tu Son
Jeju-do, 690-756, South Korea.	Bac Ninh
Tell: +82-64-756-3423.	Vietnam
Cell: +82-01-8382-1219	Tel: 844-8780614
<i>E-mail</i> Address: <u>minhanh25977@yahoo.com</u> .	Fax: 844-8785748

11

EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND

2006.03 - 2008.08	Ph.D. Cheju National Univ., Faculty of Marine Life Science.
2004.03 - 2006.08	M.Sc. Cheju National Univ., Faculty of Marine Life Science.
1997.09 - 1999.09	B.Sc. Nhatrang Fisheries University, Nhatrang, Vietnam.
1995.09 - 1997.09	Certificate. Hanoi Agriculture Univ. Hanoi, Vietnam
1992.09 - 1995.09	General Diploma, Lienha High School, General Diploma
1983.09 - 1992.09	Ordinary: Viethung Secondary School, Hanoi, Vietnam

AWARDS

2006-current	Post Brain of Korea 21 Scholarship for Doctor Course		
2006	Second Prize for Poster Presentation at International Conference on		
	Oceanography and Sustainable Marine Aquaculture Confluence and		
	Synergy held in Malaysia, from 2 nd to 4 th May, 2006.		
2005-2006	New Regional University of Innovation Scholarship for Master		
	Course in Cheju National University, Korea		
2005	First Prize for Presentation at Student Conference organized by		
	New Regional University of Innovation Scholarship Program at		
	Cheju National University on 31 st May, 2005.		
2004-2005	Brain of Korea 21 Scholarship for Master Course		
1997-1999	International scholarship from Asian Institute of Technology,		
	Thailand at Research Institute for Aquaculture #1, Vietnam.		
1995-1997	Government scholarship at Hanoi Agriculture University #1.		

WORKING EXPERIENCES

2003.01- 2004.03	Aquaculture Expert, Support for Freshwater Aquaculture,	
	SUFA, DANIDA-Vietnam Ministry of Fisheries.	
2002.01- 2003.03	Researcher, Research Institute for Aquaculture No.1, Dinh	
	Bang, Tu Son, Bac Ninh, Vietnam.	
2000.01 - 2002.01	Research Assistant, Research Institute for Aquaculture	
	No.1, Ding Bang, Tu Son, Bac Ninh, Vietnam.	

TRAININGS

- 2000-03 Participant in Training Course on Sperm Cryoprservation of Aquatic Species, held at Research Institute for Aquaculture #1, Vietnam, from 21st 26th March.
- **2000-04** Participant in Workshop on Aquaculture, held at Research Institute for Aquaculture #1, Vietnam, from15th 16th April.

- **2000-12** Training course on Cage aquaculture, held in Bangladesh and Thailand, from 9 18 December.
- 2001-09 Participant in Training course on Sex Reverse of Freshwater Prawn (Macrobrachium rosenbergii de Man), held at Research Institute for Aquaculture #1, from 28th September to 1st October.
- **2002-03** Participant in Gardening for Food Around the World, held at EPCOT, Florida, United State, from 18th March 10th June.
- 2003-03 Participant in training course on Sex Reverse of Freshwater Prawn (*Macrobrachium rosenbergii* de Man) in Ben Gurion University, Ben Shava, Israel, from 2nd March 14th March.

PUBLICATIONS

- Pham, M.A., Lee, K.-J., Dang, T.M., Lim, S.J., Ko, G.Y., Eo, J.N., Oh, D.H., 2008. Effects of Microbial Phytase in Diets Containing Cottonseed and Soybean Meal for Juvenile Olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*): It was accepted in Asian-Aust. J. Anim. Sci.
- 2. Pham, M.A., Lee, K.-J., Lim, S.-J., Park, K.-H., 2007. Evaluation of cottonseed and soybean meal as partial replacement for fishmeal in diets for juvenile Japanese flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus*. Fisheries Science 73, 760-769.
- Pham, M.A., Lee, K.-J., 2007. Effects of dietary Cheongkukjang on liver superoxide dismutase activity of parrotfish *Oplegnathus fasciatus*. J. Korean Aquaculture Society 20, 132-139.
- 4. Pham, M.A., Lee, K.-J., Lee, B.-J., Lim, S.-J., Kim, S.-S., Lee, Y.-D., Heo, M.-S., Lee, K.-W., 2006. Effects of dietary *Hizikia fusiformis* on growth and immune responses in juvenile olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). Asian-Aust. J. Anim. Sci. 19, 1769-1775.
- 5. Dang, T. T. M., Pham, M. A., Pham, A. T., Lee, K.-J., 2006. Effects of dimethyl sulfoxide concentration on quality of cryopreserved sperm of grass carp (*Ctenopharygodon idellus*). J. Korean Aquacult. Soc., 19. 52-56.
- 6. Lee, B.-J., Lee, K.-J., Pham, M.A., Lee, S.-M., 2006. Myo-inositol requirement

in diets for juvenile olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). J. Korean Aquacult. Soc., 19, 225-230.

- Pham, N. S., Pham A. T., Pham M. A., Nguyen, D. T., 2005. "All –male freshwater prawn (*Macrobabrachium rosenbergii* de Man) production by bilateral ablation of androgenic gland from normal male". Annual research reports, 153-159.
- 8. Pham, M. A., Lee, K.-J., Lim, S.-J., Lee, B.-J., Kim, S.-S., Park, Y.-J. and Lee, S.-M., 2005. Fish meal replacement by cottonseed and soybean meal in diets for juvenile Olive flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus*. J. Korean Aquacult. Soc., 18, 215-221.
- 9. Edwards, P., Hiep, D. D., Pham, M. A., Mair, G. C., 2000. Traditional culture of indigenous common carp in rice fields in northern Vietnam: does it have a future role in poverty reduction? World Aquaculture, 31 (4), 34-40.

ORAL PRESENTATION

- Pham, M.A., Lee, K.J., 2006. Prospects of fermented and phytase treated cottonseed and soybean meal in marine aquafeeds. XIIth AAAP Animal Science Congress 2006, 18th 22th September, 2006 BEXCO, BUSAN, KOREA.
- 2. Pham, M.A., Dang, T.T.M., Lee, K.-J., 2007. Dietary Choengkukjang increased liver superoxide dismutase in parrot fish *Oplegnathus fasciatus*. World Aquaculture Society Conference, August 5-8, Hanoi, Vietnam.
- 3. Pham, M.A., Eo, J.-Y., Kim, S.-S., Lee, K.-J., 2007. Replacement of fish meal by spirulina, *Spirulina pacifica*, in diets for parrot fish *Oplegnathus fasciatus*. World Aquaculture Society Conference, August 5-8, Hanoi, Vietnam.

POSTER PRESENTATION

 Pham, M.A., Lee, K.J., Lim, S.J., Lee, B.J., Kim, S.S. Park, Y.J., Lee, Y.D., Lee, S.M., 2004. Dietary supplementation of cottonseed and soybean meal containing high levels of natural antioxidants as plant protein sources for olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). Korean Aquaculture Society Meeting 2004.

- Pham, M.A., Lee, K.J., Kim, K.Y., 2005. Preliminary study on supplementation of Meju in diet containing cottonseed and soybean meal for juvenile olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). Korean Aquaculture Society Meeting 2005.
- 3. Pham, M.A., Lee, K.J., Lim, S.J., Kim, S.S., Lee, B.J., Jeoung, Y.W., Hur, M.S., 2005. Immune response of juvenile olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) fed diet containing graded level of *Hizikia fusiformes*. Korean Aquaculture Society Meeting 2005.
- 4. Pham, M.A., Dang, T.M., Pham, A.T., Lee, K.-J., 2005. Effect of dimethyl sulfoxide on cryopreserved sperm of Grass carp (*Ctenopharygodon idellus*). Korean Aquaculture Society Meeting 2005.
- 5 Dang, T.M., Pham, M.A., Lee, K.-J. 2006. Improved apparent digestibility coefficient of phosphorus by supplementation of phytase in diets containing cottonseed and soybean meal for juvenile olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). International Conference on Oceanography and Sustainable Marine Aquaculture Confluence and Synergy held in Malaysia, from 2nd to 4th May, 2006.
- 6. Pham, M.A., Lee, K.-J., Lim, S.-J., Kim, S.-S., Lee, B.-J., Jeoung, Y.-U., Heo, M.-S., 2006. Replacement of antibiotic by dietary supplementation of *Hizikia fusiformis* and *Ecklonia cava* for juvenile olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). International Conference on Marine Biotechnology. November 17, 2006. Pukyong National University, Busan, Korea.
- 7. Pham, M.A., Dang, T.T.M., Lee, K.-J., 2007. Fermentation and phytase supplementation treatment improved digestibility of phosphorus and protein in diets containing cottonseed and soybean meal for olive flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus*. World Aquaculture Society Conference, February 26-March 2, Texas, US.
- 8. Pham, M.A., Lee, B.-L., Lee, K.-J., Kim, G.-U., Heo, M.-S., Moon, D.-H., 2007.

Effects of citrus by-products fermented with *Bacillus subtilis* in diets for juvenile olive flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus*. World Aquaculture Society Conference, February 26-March 2, Texas, US.

MANUSCRIPTS ON REVISION AND PREPARATION

- **1.** Fermentation and phytase treatment improved digestibility of protein and phosphorus in diets containing cottonseed and soybean meal for olive flounder *Paralichthys olivaceus*.
- Preliminary study on effects of Meju on growth performance and immune responses of juvenile olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). Revising and submitting on Aquaculture
- **3.** Effects of probiotics and fermentation on immune responses of juvenile parrot fish *Oplegnathus fasciatus*. **Revising**
- 4. Effect of fermentation of CSM with AO on growth performances of Parrotfish.

PROJECT EXPERIENCES

Project name:	"Semen Cryoprservation of Common Cultured Species"		
Location:	Research Institure for Aquaculture No1. Vietnam		
Year:	2000		
Position:	Research Assistant		
Project name:	"Quality Improvement of YY male Tilapia Oreochromis		
	niloticus and O.aureus"		
Location:	Research Institure for Aquaculture No1. Vietnam		
Year:	2001		
Position:	Research Assistant		
Project name:	"Sex control of Freshwater Prawn (Macrobrachium		
Location:	rosenbergii de Man)"		
Year:	Research Institure for Aquaculture No1. Vietnam		
Position:	2002		
	Researcher		

Project name:	"Support for Freshwater Aquaculture, SUFA"
Location:	Vietnam Ministry of Fisheries
Year:	2003
Position:	Aquaculture Expert

LANGUAGES

	Read	Write	Speak
Vietnamese (mother tongue)	Excellent	Excellent	Excellent
English (second language)	Good	Good	Good
Korean (third language)	Fair	Fair	Good
	£		

